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Statements we make in this Annual Report on Form 10-K where we express a belief, expectation or intention or otherwise are not
limited to recounting historical facts are forward‑looking statements. These forward‑looking statements are subject to various risks, uncertainties
and assumptions, including those noted under the headings “Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements” and “Part I—Item 1A.
Risk Factors” in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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Cautionary Note Regarding Forward‑Looking Statements
This Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2019 (this “Form 10-K”) and its exhibits contain or incorporate by
reference various forward-looking statements that express a belief, expectation or intention or are otherwise not statements of historical fact.
Forward-looking statements generally use forward-looking words, such as “may,” “will,” “could,” “should,” “would,” “project,” “believe,”
“anticipate,” “expect,” “estimate,” “continue,” “potential,” “plan,” “forecast” and other words that convey the uncertainty of future events or
outcomes. These forward-looking statements are not guarantees of our future performance and involve risks, uncertainties, estimates and
assumptions that are difficult to predict. Therefore, our actual outcomes and results may differ materially from those expressed in these forwardlooking statements. Investors should not place undue reliance on any of these forward-looking statements. Except as required by law, we
undertake no obligation to further update any such statements, or the risk factors described in “Part I—Item 1A. Risk Factors,” to reflect new
information, the occurrence of future events or circumstances or otherwise.
The forward-looking statements in this filing do not constitute guarantees or promises of future performance. The following important
factors could cause actual outcomes and results to differ materially from those expressed in our forward-looking statements:
·
·
·
·
·
·
·
·
·
·
·
·
·
·
·
·
·
·
·
·
·
·
·
·
·

our level of indebtedness;
our ability to make interest and principal payments on our debt and satisfy the financial and other covenants contained in the New
Centre Lane Facility (as defined below) and the MidCap Facility (as defined below);
our ability to engage in certain transactions and activities due to limitations and covenants contained in the New Centre Lane
Facility and the MidCap Facility;
our ability to enter into new lending facilities, if needed, and to obtain adequate surety bonding and letters of credit;
our ability to generate sufficient cash resources to continue funding operations, including investments in working capital required
to support growth-related commitments that we make to our customers, and the possibility that we continue to incur further losses
from operations in the future;
the possibility that our independent registered public accounting firm fails to stand for reappointment;
exposure to market risks from changes in interest rates, including changes to or replacement of theLondon Interbank Offered Rate
(“LIBOR”);
the possibility we may be required to write-down additional amounts of goodwill and other indefinite-lived assets;
failure to maintain effective internal control over financial reporting and disclosure controls and procedures in the future;
changes in our senior management and financial reporting and accounting teams, the ability of such persons to successfully
perform their roles, and our ability to attract and retain qualified personnel, skilled workers and key officers;
a failure to successfully implement or realize our business strategies, plans and objectives of management, and liquidity, operating
and growth initiatives and opportunities;
the loss of one or more of our significant customers;
our competitive position;
market outlook and trends in our industry, including the possibility of reduced investment in, or increased regulation of, nuclear
power plants;
costs exceeding estimates we use to set fixed-price contracts;
harm to our reputation or profitability due to, among other things, internal operational issues, poor subcontractor performances or
subcontractor insolvency;
potential insolvency or financial distress of third parties, including our customers and suppliers;
our contract backlog and related amounts to be recognized as revenue;
our ability to maintain our safety record;
changes in our credit profile and market conditions affecting our relationships with suppliers, vendors and subcontractors;
compliance with environmental, health, safety and other related laws and regulations;
expiration of the Price-Anderson Act’s indemnification authority;
our expected financial condition, future cash flows, results of operations and future capital and other expenditures;
the impact of general economic conditions;
the potential impact of the recent global health emergency stemming from the outbreak of a novel coronavirus emanating from
Wuhan, China known as COVID-19, which may delay project completion and increase the possibility of work stoppage;
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·
·
·
·
·
·
·
·
·
·
·
·
·
·

information technology vulnerabilities and cyberattacks on our networks;
our failure to comply with applicable laws and regulations, including, but not limited to, those relating to privacy and anti-bribery;
our participation in multiemployer pension plans;
the impact of any disruptions resulting from the expiration of collective bargaining agreements;
availability of raw materials and inventories;
the impact of natural disasters and other severe catastrophic events;
future income tax payments and utilization of net operating loss (“NOL”) and foreign tax credit carryforwards, including any
impact relating to the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017 (the “Tax Act”) or other tax changes;
future compliance with orders of and agreements with regulatory agencies;
volatility of the market price for our common stock and our stockholders’ ability to resell their shares of common stock;
our ability to pay cash dividends in the future;
the impact of activist shareholder actions;
the impact of future offerings or sales of our common stock on the market price of such stock;
expected outcomes of legal or regulatory proceedings and their expected effects on our results of operations, including future
liabilities, fees and expenses resulting from the Koontz-Wagner Custom Controls Holdings LLC (“Koontz-Wagner”) bankruptcy
filing; and
any other statements regarding future growth, future cash needs, future operations, business plans and future financial results.

These forward-looking statements represent our intentions, plans, expectations, assumptions and beliefs about future events and are
subject to risks, uncertainties and other factors, including unpredictable or unanticipated factors that we have not discussed in this Form 10-K.
Many of those factors are outside of our control and could cause actual results to differ materially from the results expressed or implied by the
forward-looking statements.
In light of these risks, uncertainties and assumptions, the events described in the forward-looking statements might not occur or might
occur to a different extent or at a different time than we have described. Investors should consider the areas of risk and uncertainty described
above, as well as those discussed below under “Part I—Item 1A. Risk Factors.” Except as may be required by applicable law, we undertake no
obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise, and we caution
investors not to rely upon them unduly.
Part I
Item 1. Busines s.
Overview
Williams Industrial Services Group Inc. was incorporated in 2001 under the name “Global Power Equipment Group Inc.” under the laws
of the State of Delaware and became the successor to GEEG Holdings, LLC, which was formed as a Delaware limited liability company in 1998.
Effective June 29, 2018, Global Power Equipment Group Inc. changed its name to Williams Industrial Services Group Inc. (together with its
wholly owned subsidiaries, “Williams,” the “Company,” “we,” “us” or “our,” unless the context indicates otherwise) to better align its name with
the Williams business (as defined below), and our stock now trades on the OTCQX® Best Market (the “OTCQX”) under the ticker symbol
“WLMS.” Williams has been safely helping plant owners and operators enhance asset value for more than 50 years. We provide a broad range of
construction, maintenance and support services to customers in energy, power and industrial end markets. Our mission is to be the preferred
provider of construction, maintenance, and specialty services through commitment to superior safety performance, focus on innovation, and
dedication to delivering unsurpassed value to our customers.
Our Restructuring
We completed the restructuring of our Company in 2018. Beginning in 2016, we shifted our strategy to become a preferred provider of
construction, maintenance and specialty services, to exit all product manufacturing businesses and to use the proceeds from the sales to reduce
and restructure our term debt. To effect this change, in the third quarter of 2017, we made the decision to exit and divest substantially all of the
operating assets and liabilities of our Mechanical Solutions segment, which we completed in the fourth quarter of 2017, as described below.
Additionally, we made the decision to exit and sell our Electrical Solutions segment (which was comprised solely of Koontz-Wagner, a wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company) in the fourth quarter of 2017. We determined that these two segments met the definition of discontinued
operations, and, as a
2
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result, they (including TOG Manufacturing Company, Inc. and TOG Holdings, Inc., which were sold in July 2016) have been presented as
discontinued operations for all periods presented. Additionally, in January 2017, we sold the stock of our wholly owned subsidiaries, Hetsco
Holdings, Inc. and Hetsco, Inc. (collectively, “Hetsco”). However, the Mechanical Solutions and Electrical Solutions segments were the only
components of the business that qualified as discontinued operations for all periods presented. Unless otherwise specified, the financial
information and discussion in this Form 10-K are based on our continuing operations (previously referred to as our Services segment); they
exclude any results of our discontinued operations. Please refer to “Note 5—Changes in Business” to the consolidated financial statements
included in this Form 10-K for additional information.
In spite of our efforts, which included retaining financial advisors to sell all or part of Koontz-Wagner’s operations, inside or outside of
a federal bankruptcy or state court proceeding (including Chapter 11 of Title 11 of the U.S. Bankruptcy Code (the “Bankruptcy Code”)), the
proposed disposition did not progress as planned due, primarily, to the absence of viable bids in the sale process, the inability of Koontz-Wagner
to fund its ongoing operations or obtain financing to do so, and Koontz-Wagner’s deteriorating financial performance. As a result, on July 11,
2018, Koontz-Wagner filed a voluntary petition for relief under Chapter 7 of Title 11 of the Bankruptcy Code with the U.S. Bankruptcy Court for
the Southern District of Texas. The filing was for Koontz-Wagner only, not for the Company as a whole, and was completely separate and
distinct from the Williams business and operations.
On October 11, 2017, we sold substantially all of the operating assets and liabilities of our Mechanical Solutions segment and used a
portion of the $40.9 million net proceeds to pay down $34.0 million of our outstanding debt and related fees, including full repayment of the
first-out loan, provided for by the first amendment to the Initial Centre Lane Facility (as defined below) for an additional aggregate principal
amount of $10.0 million (the “First-Out Loan”) and the upfront fee on the 4.5-year senior secured term loan facility, entered into June 16, 2017,
with an affiliate of Centre Lane Partners, LLC (“Centre Lane”) as Administrative Agent and Collateral Agent, and the other lenders from time to
time party thereto (as amended, the “Initial Centre Lane Facility”). Additionally, on October 31, 2017, we completed the sale of our
manufacturing facility in Mexico and auctioned the remaining production equipment and other assets for net proceeds of $3.6 million, of which
$1.9 million was used to reduce the principal amount of the Initial Centre Lane Facility. The remaining proceeds from such sales were used to
fund working capital requirements.
As a result of the sale of our Mechanical Solutions segment and the bankruptcy of Koontz-Wagner, we review financial information
presented on a company-wide basis. Therefore, as of December 31, 2019, we concluded that we continue to have a single reporting segment
which is comprised of Williams Industrial Services Group, LLC (collectively with Williams Plant Services, LLC, Williams Specialty Services,
LLC and Williams Industrial Services, LLC, the “Williams business”), as we did as of December 31, 2018.
In 2018, we implemented major cost reduction initiatives to reduce our overhead costs, including restructuring and consolidating our
corporate functions, and began working on a comprehensive strategic plan to grow and improve our business, which was finalized in early 2019.
Our strategy has been focused on developing a comprehensive strategic plan to grow and improve our operations, strengthen our core
competencies, aggressively manage working capital and reduce costs in order to improve liquidity and reduce debt. In order to improve our
efforts to satisfy our future working capital requirements, we refinanced our existing credit facilities on January 13, 2020 and we successfully
completed our Rights Offering, the offer period for which expired March 2, 2020, pursuant to which we issued 5,384,615 shares of our common
stock and received net proceeds of $6.6 million. For additional information, please refer to “Note 19—Subsequent Events” to the consolidated
financial statements included in this Form 10-K.
Our operations are based on our effectiveness in using estimating and planning technologies, deploying rigorous project management
techniques, initiating various process improvement projects and employing experienced industry-recognized sales professionals. We expect to
leverage the strength of the Williams brand, capitalize on our industry knowledge and customer relationships and safely provide timely, reliable
services for our customers to grow revenue. We believe we are well positioned to grow our business, and to realize the operating leverage our
restructuring has created.
Our Business
We provide a comprehensive range of construction, maintenance and support services to customers in energy, power and industrial end
markets. We provide these services both on a constant presence basis and for discrete projects. The services we provide are designed to improve
or sustain operating efficiencies and extend the useful lives of process equipment.
3

Table of Contents

Our services include the following:
·

Plant Maintenance, Modification and Construction. We perform a full range of critical services, including maintenance,
modification, repair and other capital project services designed to the extend the life cycles of nuclear, paper, fossil fuel, industrial
gas, hydro power, natural gas, municipal water and wastewater and other facilities for customers in energy, power and industrial
end markets.

·

Water/Wastewater System New Installation, Expansions and Modifications. We install, maintain and modify water and
wastewater systems, including piping, pumping, storage tank and other related facilities.

·

Painting and Coatings. We perform cleaning, surface preparation, coatings application, quality control and inspection testing on
major coating projects for nuclear and fossil fuel power plants, industrial facilities and petrochemical plants.

·

Insulation. We provide a variety of industrial insulation services, primarily in power generation installations.

·

Asbestos and Lead Abatement. We provide abatement services for the removal of asbestos and heavy metal based coatings such
as lead paint. We do not take ownership of hazardous materials and do not assume responsibility for the liability associated with
the materials other than for our actions meeting applicable statutory and regulatory requirements.

·

Roofing Systems. We replace, repair and upgrade industrial facility roofing systems, primarily at pulp and paper manufacturing
facilities and nuclear power plant locations.

·

Oil/Gas Construction and Maintenance. We perform capital construction and maintenance services for midstream and
downstream oil, gas and chemical facilities, predominately in the Texas gulf coast. Services include civil structural installation,
piping installation and maintenance, and electrical system installation, as well as other work at storage terminals, refineries and
chemical plants.

·

Analog to Digital Conversions. We provide services to convert analog control systems to digital control systems to enhance
reliability, accuracy, and increase output of operating plants. Utilities will continue to make significant capital investments in these
upgrades throughout the industry. We have extensive experience in performing these upgrades, based on our successful history of
completing several projects across our fleet of customers. Moreover, we see substantial opportunity to leverage our experience
with performing these projects in the future as the industry continues to invest in these upgrades.

·

Canada Nuclear. We currently only perform professional services for power companies in Canada but are beginning to bid for
maintenance, modification and construction services in order to expand our geographic market reach throughout North America.
Two power companies in Canada are performing major plant refurbishments and upgrades to extend the lives of several operating
units. Our experience working on nuclear plants in the U.S. is directly translatable to work being performed on the plants in
Canada. Further, additional vendors from outside of Canada are needed to provide the experience and capacity required to
perform this work. Therefore, we developed a strategic growth initiative to pursue nuclear plant maintenance, modifications, and
construction in Canada.

·

Nuclear Decommissioning. We provide decommissioning services to U.S. nuclear stations that have been retired. Several U.S.
nuclear stations have already been shut down, and several more shutdowns are planned. After shutdown, the plants must be
decommissioned. This process takes many years. We are working with the owner and prime contractor for decommissioning work
on two sites and are targeting the decommissioning market as it grows.

·

Nuclear Power Plant Services and New Nuclear Power Plant Construction. We are one of a limited number of companies
qualified to perform comprehensive services anywhere in U.S. nuclear power facilities under the rules issued by the U.S Nuclear
Regulatory Commission (the “NRC”). Additionally, we are one of only a small number of contractors with a qualified and audited
Nuclear Quality Assurance (“NQA-1”) Program, which is required to perform construction of “Safety” related systems in new
nuclear power plants. Through our Appendix B Program and other programs, we provide training, certifications and ongoing
safety monitoring to all of our employees working at nuclear sites and have been one of the leading providers of coatings at U.S.
nuclear facilities for almost
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40 years. Under the rules issued by the NRC, owners of nuclear facilities must qualify contractors by requiring the contractors to
demonstrate that they will comply with NRC regulations on quality assurance, reporting of safety issues, security and control of
personnel access and conduct. For the majority of our maintenance and project work, we directly hire the labor and provide the
management and supervision to perform the work directly for the owner. In some cases, we act as a general contractor and
subcontract portions of the work or, alternatively, subcontract our services to full scope engineering, procurement and construction
(“EPC”) firms or general contractor firms. We maintain good relationships with the utilities, the EPC firms, the general contractor
firms and relevant engineering firms.
We provide these services throughout the U.S. with plans of expanding to Canada, primarily on a direct hire basis, with experienced craft
laborers who are directed and managed by an experienced team of supervisors and project managers across our network. We also act as a general
contractor where we manage multiple subcontractors and, in other cases, we are retained as a subcontractor on a project. Our flexible staffing
model enables us to meet seasonal and outage demand without being restricted by internal capacity limitations, thereby minimizing our fixed
costs.
We bid against other contractors based on customer specifications. Fixed-price contracts present certain inherent risks, including the
possibility of ambiguities in the specifications received, problems with new technologies and economic and other changes that may occur over
the contract period. Alternatively, because of efficiencies that may be realized during the contract term, fixed-price contracts may offer greater
profit potential than cost-plus contracts.
In 2019, we contracted for 86% of our revenue on cost-plus contracts that provide for reimbursement of costs incurred plus an amount
of profit. The remaining 14% of our revenue was generated from fixed-price contracts.
Safety
For over 13 years, we have maintained a safety record in the top quartile of the industry, benefiting both us and our customers. We also
maintain a broad range of professional certifications and memberships in national organizations relevant to the performance of many of the
specialized services we provide.
Market Overview
Power Generation Market and the Industrial Services Industry. The U.S. and Canadian industrial services industry is a multi-billion
dollar industry, broadly defined as routine modification, maintenance and technical services provided to industrial facilities ranging from
manufacturing facilities to power generation plants. The industry continues to benefit from a shift towards outsourcing as plant operators seek to
alleviate financial constraints, reduce labor costs, increase labor utilization and productivity, and eliminate operational redundancies.
We expect that power industry demand for these services will be driven by the following factors in the future:
·

Aging Power Generation Infrastructure Increases Demand for Plant Maintenance and Decommissioning Services. According to
the U.S. Energy Information Administration (the “EIA”), more than half of the electrical generating capacity in the U.S. was
placed in service before 1990. Coupled with the relatively limited number of large-scale power generation facilities being
constructed in the U.S., the efforts to maintain older plants of all types and to take advantage of newer and more efficient
technologies at existing sites result in opportunities for companies providing services to plant operators. The low price of natural
gas is driving demand for new, upgraded and replacement electric generation capacity toward combined cycle gas powered plants,
which are more economical to run. With natural gas pricing expected to remain low, this is also driving the conversions of simple
cycle plants to combined cycle technology.
Additionally, the U.S. commercial nuclear industry has 96 operating reactors with an average age of 38 years. Although 8 reactors
have shut down since 2013, and an additional 10 are projected to shut down by 2025, the remainder of the operating plants are
planned to operate 60 to 80 years with a stable amount of required generating capacity. As the plants age, utilities invest in
maintenance, modification, and upgrades to enable continued operations. Furthermore, as of September 2019, the NRC had extended
the licenses of approximately 89 reactors. These older nuclear reactors require extensive ongoing engineering and maintenance
services to support operations and improve performance. Nuclear power plants in the U.S. are subject to a rigorous program of NRC
oversight, inspection, preventive and corrective maintenance, equipment replacement and equipment testing. Nuclear power plants
are required to go offline to refuel at intervals of no more than 24 months and to perform
5
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condition monitoring and preventive maintenance during every refueling outage. While decommissioning work on retired nuclear
reactors provides opportunities for growth, the focus is on extending the life of plants through capital improvements.
·

North America Infrastructure Growth. Record levels of crude oil, natural gas and natural gas liquid production have accelerated
new build and expansion of pipeline and related infrastructure to reduce transportation bottlenecks and bring more petroleum
products to key markets. The value proposition of low cost shale resources is altering the landscape for pipelines, terminals,
refineries, chemical facilities and power generation assets. Infrastructure growth and modifications provide opportunities for us to
assist in the construction and maintenance of these facilities.

·

Standby and Distributed Power Generation. Unlike central station generation, standby and distributed power generation
equipment can sit on either side of the utility meter and may be owned by a utility, a customer or a third party. Peak energy
demand requirements and higher costs, as well as transmission and distribution infrastructure limits, are driving investment into
this space. The growth in industries with high power demand and sensitivity to power supply instability, such as datacenters,
medical centers, universities and remotely located industrial loads, are straining the traditional power infrastructure. The electric
power needs for these markets have historically been served by small-scale utility-owned diesel or gas engine generators
strategically located to support distributed system operations. The power supply is trending toward larger (greater than 1,000
kilowatts) diesel engine generator systems and expanding into alternative energy assets.

·

Oil and Gas Production. The fundamental transformation of the U.S. from a net importer to a net exporter of petroleum products
and the increase in capacity required for domestic production, has created an opportunity to serve this industry. Production of oil
and gas grew to record levels in 2019, with natural gas production exceeding 92.8 billion cubic feet per day and crude oil
exceeding 12 million barrels per day. The growing demand for specialized workers and labor offers us the opportunity to leverage
our experience to support midstream terminals, refinery and process facilities to provide maintenance services and capital
improvement projects.

·

Water and Wastewater Treatment Infrastructure Maintenance and Capital Improvements Demand. Population growth and the
percentage of the population served by public systems has accelerated our expansion in water and waste water infrastructure
maintenance and capital improvements. The growing demand for water and waste water treatment facilities provide us the
opportunity to deliver services for capital upgrades and maintenance on booster pump stations, well buildouts, treatment
expansions, lift stations, and pipe installation, along with other services that we can provide to enhance our brand.
We also provide similar services to industrial waste water treatment customers in the pulp and paper and other sectors that require
waste water treatment.

Customers, Marketing and Seasonality
Our customers include major private and government-owned utilities throughout the U.S. and in Ontario, Canada, as well as leaders in
the U.S. pulp and paper and industrial sectors. We market our services using dedicated sales and marketing personnel as well as our experienced
on-site operations personnel. We use our safety and service track record with long-term renewable contracts to expand our services and
supplement existing contracts with small- to medium-sized capital projects. Our sales initiatives directly seek to apply operational strengths to
specific facilities within our targeted industries and customers throughout the U.S. and in Ontario, Canada. We are impacted by seasonality,
resulting in fluctuations in revenue and gross profit during our fiscal year. Generally, this is driven by our customers’ schedule of planned outages
which are typically scheduled for every other year (on odd numbered years).
We depend on a relatively small number of customers for a significant portion of our revenue, and the loss of any of those customers
would have a material adverse effect on our business. For a listing of our major customers, please refer to “Note 16—Major Customers and
Concentration of Credit Risk” to the consolidated financial statements included in this Form 10-K.
The recent widespread outbreak of respiratory illness caused by COVID-19, a novel coronavirus, as well as efforts to control the spread
of the virus, could materially impact the foregoing factors and our business as a whole. However, we are not yet able to determine the nature or
severity of such impacts at this time. For additional information see “Item 1A. Risk Factors- We operate our business in regions subject to natural
disasters, including hurricanes, and other severe catastrophic events, such
6
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as acts of war and terrorism, and any disruption to our business resulting from such events will adversely affect our revenue and results of
operations.”
Materials and Suppliers
The markets for most of the materials we use are served by a large number of suppliers, and we believe that we can obtain required
materials from more than one supplier.
Competition
Our competitors vary depending on geography and the scope of services to be rendered. Several national service providers, which are
significantly larger and have significantly greater financial resources than we do, will often compete for larger maintenance and capital project
opportunities that become available. These service providers include, among others, Allied Power, APTIM Corp., BHI Energy and Day &
Zimmermann. Additionally, smaller contractors that operate on a regional basis often compete for smaller opportunities associated with open
shop labor sources. We compete based on reputation, safety, price, service, quality and our breadth of service capabilities. We believe our strong
reputation, longevity in the industry, project management capabilities, including service diversity, long-term customer relationships, safety record
and performance, and our success at identifying and retaining qualified personnel differentiate us from our competitors. We also believe that the
fact that we maintain a presence at several of our customers’ sites is a competitive advantage because it provides us with an intimate
understanding of these facilities, which allows us to better identify our customers’ service needs. Specific to our customers that operate nuclear
power plants, barriers to entry include the requirement to hold and maintain the rigorous NRC qualifications and safety standards.
Insurance
We maintain insurance coverage for various aspects of our operations; however, we remain exposed to potential losses because we are
subject to deductibles, coverage limits and retention requirements.
Typically, our contracts require us to indemnify our customers for third party injury, damage or loss arising from the performance of
our services and provide for warranties for materials and workmanship. We may also be required to name the customer as an additional insured
up to the limits of insurance available, or we may be required to purchase special insurance policies for specific customers. We maintain
performance and payment bonding lines to support our business. In rare cases we may provide a letter of credit in lieu of a bond to satisfy
performance and financial guarantees on a project.
We require all subcontractors working with us at a customer’s location to indemnify us and our customers and name us as an additional
insured for activities arising out of such subcontractors’ work. We also require certain subcontractors to provide additional insurance policies,
including surety bonds in favor of us, to secure such subcontractors’ work or as required by contract. It is possible that our insurance and the
additional insurance coverage provided by our subcontractors will not fully protect us against a valid claim or loss under the contracts with our
customers.
Intellectual Property
As of December 31, 2019, we used the Williams trade name and its logo. We have registered federal trademarks related to certain
company logos. We presently have no U.S. patents in force. We rely on trade secret laws and employee and third-party nondisclosure agreements
to protect our intellectual property rights. This Form 10-K may refer to brand names, trademarks, service marks and trade names of other
companies and organizations, and those brand names, trademarks, service marks and trade names are the property of their respective owners.
Compliance with Government Regulations
We are subject to certain federal, state and local environmental, occupational health and nuclear regulatory laws applicable in the U.S.
and Canada. We also purchase materials and equipment from third parties and engage subcontractors who are also subject to these laws and
regulations. Below is a summary of certain laws and regulations applicable to our business.
·

Environmental. We are subject to extensive and changing environmental laws and regulations in the U.S. and Canada. These laws
and regulations relate primarily to air and water pollutants and the management and disposal
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of hazardous materials. We are exposed to potential liability for personal injury or property damage caused by any release, spill,
exposure or other accident involving such pollutants, substances or hazardous materials.
·

Health and Safety Regulations. We are subject to the requirements of the U.S. Occupational Safety and Health Act and
comparable state and international laws. Regulations promulgated by these agencies require employers and independent
contractors who perform construction services, including electrical and repair and maintenance, to implement work practices,
medical surveillance systems and personnel protection programs to protect employees from workplace hazards and exposure to
hazardous chemicals and materials. In recognition of the potential for accidents within various scopes of work, these agencies have
enacted very strict and comprehensive safety regulations.

·

NRC. Owners of nuclear power plants in the U.S. are licensed to build, operate and maintain those plants by the NRC. Their
license requires that they qualify their suppliers and contractors to ensure that the suppliers and contractors comply with NRC
regulations. We must demonstrate to our customers that we comply with NRC regulations related to quality assurance, reporting of
safety issues, security and control of personnel access and conduct.

·

International Regulations. As a result of our expansion into Canada, we are subject to a variety of legal requirements pertaining to
such activities. Our activities may be subject to oversight by the Canadian Nuclear Safety Commission, and we may be subject to
additional rules and regulations, including Canada’s Nuclear Liability and Compensation Act, which generally conforms to
international conventions and is conceptually similar to the Price-Anderson Act in the U.S. In addition, we may be subject to rules
and regulations applying to cross border business, such as international trade and tariff policies, license requirements and
requirements relating to toxic substances. Violations of any applicable licensing, tariff and tax reporting requirements or failure to
provide certifications relating to toxic substances could result in the imposition of significant administrative, civil and criminal
penalties. Furthermore, the failure to comply with U.S. federal, state and local tax requirements, as well as Canadian federal and
provincial tax requirements, could lead to the imposition of additional taxes, interest and penalties. Our expansion into Canada, and
into any international market, is dependent upon our ability to comply with the regulatory regimes adopted by such jurisdictions.

·

Department of the Treasury. The Office of Foreign Assets Control of the U.S. Department of the Treasury administers and
enforces economic and trade sanctions based on U.S. foreign policy and national security goals against targeted foreign countries
and regimes, terrorists, international narcotics traffickers, those engaged in activities related to the proliferation of weapons of
mass destruction, and other threats to the national security, foreign policy or economy of the United States. A failure to comply
with these laws and regulations could result in civil or criminal sanctions, including the imposition of fines and suspension or
debarment from participation in U.S. government contracts.

While we believe that we operate safely and prudently and in material compliance with all environmental, occupational health, nuclear
regulatory and other applicable laws, there can be no assurance that accidents will not occur or that we will not incur substantial liability in
connection with the operation of our business. We do not anticipate any material capital expenditures or material adverse effect on earnings or
cash flows as a result of complying with these laws.
Backlog
The services we provide are typically carried out under construction contracts, long-term maintenance contracts and master service
agreements. Total backlog represents the dollar amount of revenue expected to be recorded in the future for work performed under awarded
contracts. Prior to 2017, we reported backlog as orders from fixed-price contracts plus the amount of revenue we expected to receive in the next
twelve-month period from cost-plus contracts, regardless of the remaining life of the cost-plus contract. However, we believe that reporting the
total revenue expected under awarded contracts is more representative of our expected future revenue.
Revenue estimates included in our backlog can be subject to change as a result of project accelerations, cancellations or delays due to
various factors, including, but not limited to, the customer’s budgetary constraints and adverse weather. These factors can also cause revenue
amounts to be recognized in different periods and at levels other than those originally projected. Additional work that is not identified under the
original contract is added to our estimated backlog when we reach an agreement with the customer as to the scope and pricing of that additional
work. Backlog is reduced as work is performed and revenue is recognized, or upon cancellation.
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Backlog is not a measure defined by accounting principles generally accepted in the U.S. (“GAAP”), and our methodology for
determining backlog may vary from the methodology used by other companies in determining their backlog amounts. Backlog may not be
indicative of future operating results and projects in our backlog may be cancelled, modified or otherwise altered by our customers.
The following table summarizes our backlog:
December 31,
(in thousands)

2019

Cost plus
Lump sum
Total

$

2018

463,481
31,423
494,904

$

$

487,033
14,571
501,604

$

Backlog as of December 31, 2019 decreased $6.7 million, or 1.3%, from December 31, 2018, due primarily to the completion of a longterm contract for maintenance services during a customer’s nuclear outages, which are scheduled for every other year (on odd numbered years).
The decrease in backlog from 2018 was also attributed to the completion of several other projects during 2019. As of December 31, 2019,
approximately $155.0 million, or 31.3%, of the total backlog is related to the construction of Plant Vogtle Units 3 and 4.
The following table summarizes our estimated backlog conversion period:
Estimated Conversion Period
(in thousands)

2020

Cost plus
Lump sum
Total

$
$

Thereafter

166,445
24,837
191,282

$
$

Total

297,036
6,586
303,622

$
$

463,481
31,423
494,904

For additional discussion of our backlog, see “Item 1A. Risk Factors—Risk Factors Related to Our Operations.”
Employees
As of December 31, 2019, we had 420 full-time employees (excluding temporary staff and craft labor) and no part-time employees. The
number of our employees, including temporary staff and craft labor, fluctuates greatly, depending on the timing and requirements for craft labor.
Many of the craft labor employees are employed through various union agreements. As of December 31, 2019, there were 609 craft labor
employees, of which 480 were under collective bargaining agreements. We believe that our relationships with our employees, both full-time and
temporary, are satisfactory. We are not aware of any circumstances related to our employees that are likely to result in a work stoppage at any of
the project sites where we are performing services.
Information about our Executive Officers
The following information is being furnished with respect to the Company’s executive officers as of December 31, 2019:
Name

Position

Tracy D. Pagliara
Randall R. Lay
Charles E. Wheelock
Michael K. Powers
Matthew J. Petrizzo

President and Chief Executive Officer and Director
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
Senior Vice President, Chief Administrative Officer, General Counsel and Secretary
President, Power
President, Energy and Industrial

Tracy D. Pagliara, 57, has served as a member of our Board of Directors since July 2017. Mr. Pagliara has served as our President and
CEO starting in April 2018, having previously served as Co-President and Co-CEO, along with Craig E. Holmes, since July 2017. Prior to July
2017, he served as our Chief Administrative Officer, General Counsel and Secretary from January 2014, and also as Senior Vice President from
November 2015. He previously served as our General Counsel, Secretary and Vice President of Business Development from April 2010 through
December 2013. Prior to joining the Company in April 2010, Mr. Pagliara served as the Chief Legal Officer of Gardner Denver, Inc., a leading
global manufacturer of highly engineered compressors, blowers, pumps and other fluid transfer equipment, from August 2000 through August
2008. He also had responsibility for other roles during his tenure with Gardner Denver, including Vice President of Administration, Chief
9
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Compliance Officer and Corporate Secretary. Prior to joining Gardner Denver, Mr. Pagliara held positions of increasing responsibility in the
legal departments of Verizon Communications/GTE Corporation from August 1996 to August 2000 and Kellwood Company from May 1993 to
August 1996, ultimately serving in the role of Assistant General Counsel for each company. Mr. Pagliara currently serves on the board of
directors and audit, compensation and nominating and corporate governance committees of Westwater Resources, Inc. (formerly Uranium
Resources, Inc.) (Nasdaq: WWR), a diversified energy materials developer, where he has served since July 2017. He is a member of the Missouri
and Illinois State Bars and a Certified Public Accountant. In addition, in accordance with customary practice, Mr. Pagliara and other officers of
the Company have served as officers of the Company’s various subsidiaries, although not acting in an executive role for the relevant subsidiary.
As previously disclosed, such subsidiaries included Koontz-Wagner Custom Controls Holdings LLC, which filed a voluntary petition for relief
under Chapter 7 of the U.S. Bankruptcy Code in July 2018 and ceased operations at such time.
Randall R. Lay, 65, was appointed to serve as our Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and principal financial and
accounting officer in September 2019. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Lay served as Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer,
Secretary and Treasurer of GEO Specialty Chemicals, Inc., a supplier of specialty chemicals and materials to the coatings, adhesives, medical,
water treatment and construction markets, from December 2017 to August 2019, when it was acquired by CPS Performance Materials. From
2007 to June 2017, Mr. Lay served as Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Lazy Days' R.V. Center, Inc. (now a subsidiary of Lazydays
Holdings, Inc.), which operates RV dealerships. From 2006 through 2007, Mr. Lay served as Senior Vice President of Buccino & Associates,
Inc., a financial advisory and turnaround firm. Prior to that, Mr. Lay served at Universal Access Global Holdings Inc., a communications network
integrator, from 2002 to 2006, including as Chief Financial Officer from June 2002 to July 2003; director and Chief Executive Officer from July
2003; and additionally as President from November 2003 until June 2006. From October 2001 to April 2002, Mr. Lay served as Senior Vice
President and Chief Financial Officer of Metromedia Fiber Networks, Inc., a telecommunications company. From September 1993 to September
2001, Mr. Lay was employed by International Specialty Products Inc., a global supplier of specialty chemicals, most recently as Executive Vice
President and Chief Financial Officer.
Charles E. Wheelock, 51, has served as our Senior Vice President, Chief Administrative Officer, General Counsel and Secretary since
August 2019. He previously served as our Vice President, Administration, General Counsel and Secretary beginning July 2017. He joined the
Company in September 2011 as Associate General Counsel and thereafter assumed roles of increasing responsibility, including Vice President,
Deputy General Counsel and Chief Compliance Officer. He led the human resources, recruiting and labor relations groups in our Tucker, Georgia
office prior to his July 2017 appointment. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Wheelock spent 10 years at General Electric Company, serving in a
variety of roles in its Energy Services and Power Generation businesses. Mr. Wheelock is a member of the State Bar of Georgia.
Michael K. (“Kelly”) Powers, 48 was appointed President, Power, in August 2019. Prior to his appointment, Mr. Powers served as the
Company's Senior Vice President, Operations—Power, since July 2017. He previously served at the Company in roles including Director of
Projects, Vice President of Project Services, and Senior Vice President of Nuclear Services, from September 2011 through January 2016. Before
rejoining the Company, Mr. Powers served as Vice President, Nuclear STG and Services at Toshiba America Energy Services from January 2016
through July 2016 and as Vice President—Capital Projects at Entergy Corporation from July 2016 through July 2017. Before joining the
Company in 2011, Mr. Powers served as Manager, Strategic Projects and Asset Management at Entergy Nuclear, a business unit of Entergy
Corporation, from August 2008 through October 2011. Prior to that, he served as a program manager for the Naval Nuclear Propulsion Program
(a joint U.S. Department of Energy and U.S. Department of Defense program) from May 1997 to August 2008.
Matthew J. Petrizzo, 58 was appointed President, Energy and Industrial, in August 2019. Mr. Petrizzo joined the Company in
November 2018 as Senior Vice President, Energy and Industrial, with over 35 years of progressive leadership roles in engineering, construction,
maintenance and repair services for the energy, power and industrial markets. Prior to joining the Company, he founded CNM Energy Solutions,
a consulting company, where he served from September 2015 through November 2018. From November 2014 to September 2015, Mr. Petrizzo
served as Executive Vice President, Northeast Operations, at Regency Energy Partners (now Energy Transfer Partners). Before that, from
November 2007 to June 2014, Mr. Petrizzo worked at Matrix SME, a principal operating subsidiary of Matrix Service Company, where he served
as President from June 2008 through June 2014 and Vice President from November 2007 to June 2008. Prior to joining Matrix SME, Mr.
Petrizzo served as a Project Director for Washington Group International (now a subsidiary of AECOM), from 2006 to 2007, where he also
worked in various capacities from 2001 to 2006, and for Washington Group legacy companies, Raytheon Engineers and Constructors and Ebasco
Services Inc., from 1984 to 2001.
Available Information
We file reports with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”), including our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly
reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and amendments to those reports filed or furnished to the
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SEC pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”). The SEC maintains an Internet site,
www.sec.gov, which contains the Company’s reports, proxy and information statements and other information we have filed electronically with
the SEC.
We make available on our website, www.wisgrp.com, free of charge, our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q,
current reports on Form 8-K and any amendments to these reports as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file the reports with, or
furnish them to the SEC. The information disclosed on our website is not incorporated by this reference and is not a part of this Form 10-K. The
following corporate governance related documents are also available free on our website:
·
·
·
·
·
·
·

Code of Business Conduct and Ethics;
Corporate Governance Guidelines;
Related Party Transactions Policy;
Charter of the Audit Committee;
Charter of the Compensation Committee;
Charter of the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee; and
Procedures for Reporting Complaints Regarding Accounting or Auditing Matters of Williams Industrial Group Inc.

Item 1A. Risk Factors
Our business, financial condition and results of operations may be impacted by one or more of the following factors, any of which could
cause actual results to vary materially from historical and current results or anticipated future results.
Risk Factors Related to Our Liquidity and Capital Resources
We may not generate sufficient cash resources to continue funding our operations.
In order to have sufficient cash to fund our continuing operations, we will need to successfully stabilize and sustain our reductions in
corporate headquarters expenses to properly align with and support our business. In addition, we require substantial working capital in order to
meet the demands of our growing business. If our liquidity generating initiatives do not produce the expected results, or if we are otherwise
unable to obtain sufficient cash resources to operate our business, we may need to raise additional debt capital or sell assets outside the normal
course of business. Otherwise, we may be forced to significantly curtail or cease our operations or seek bankruptcy protection. For additional
information, please refer to “Part II—Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—
Liquidity and Capital Resources” and “Note 11—Debt” to the consolidated financial statements included in this Form 10-K.
We have incurred losses from operations in recent fiscal years, and may incur further losses in the future.
We achieved operating income from continuing operations of $5.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2019. However, in 2018 we
incurred an operating loss from continuing operations of $10.0 million and we incurred operating losses from continuing operations in previous
years; therefore, we may incur losses in the operation of our business in future periods. The corporate headquarters organization required to
manage the complexities of three reporting segments, one of which had significant international operations, contributed to our losses in 2018 and
2017. Additionally, in 2018 and 2017, we incurred significant expenses related to professional services incurred in executing our strategy to exit
our Mechanical Solutions and Electrical Solutions businesses and the now completed restatement of certain prior financial results. Although we
had a reduction in corporate operating expenses in 2019 as a result of aggressive cost reductions implemented during 2018 and the more
streamlined Company structure, we may still fail to meet our goal of maintaining profitability in the future.
If we do not timely pay amounts due and comply with the covenants under the New Centre Lane Facility and the MidCap Facility, our
business, financial condition and ability to continue as a going concern would be materially and adversely impacted.
Our consolidated financial statements have been prepared assuming that we will continue as a going concern, which contemplates the
realization of assets and satisfaction of liabilities in the normal course of business. The terms of the four-year, $35.0 million senior secured credit
agreement entered into by the Company on September 18, 2018 with an affiliate of Centre Lane Partners, LLC as Administrative Agent and
Collateral Agent, and the other lenders from time to time party thereto, to
11

Table of Contents

refinance and replace the Initial Centre Lane Facility (as amended the “New Centre Lane Facility”), among other things, require high interest
payments, and both the New Centre Lane Facility and the four-year, $25.0 million Credit and Security Agreement entered into on October 11,
2018 with MidCap Financial Trust as Agent and as a lender, and other lenders from time to time party thereto (as amended the “MidCap
Facility”), place encumbrances on our assets, and subject us to restrictive covenants that significantly limit our operating flexibility. Additionally,
under the terms of the New Centre Lane Facility, the Company was required to make quarterly loan amortization payments of $0.1 million per
quarter through June 30, 2019 and must make quarterly loan amortization payments of $0.2 million per quarter thereafter.
The terms of the New Centre Lane Facility and the MidCap Facility have been structured in such a way that, if we default under one, we
will also default under the other. In the event of a continuing default, our senior secured lenders would have the right to accelerate the thenoutstanding amounts under each such facility and to exercise their respective rights and remedies to collect such amounts, which would include
foreclosing on collateral constituting substantially all of our assets and those of our subsidiaries. Any continuing default on the New Centre Lane
Facility or the MidCap Facility could result in the outstanding principal balance under each such facility becoming immediately due and payable.
We do not currently have sufficient cash on hand to repay the outstanding balances, so if our lenders under the New Centre Lane Facility and the
MidCap Facility exercised their rights and remedies as permitted by each such facility and applicable law, we would likely be forced to seek
bankruptcy protection and our investors could lose the full value of their investment in our common stock. Accordingly, a default could have a
material adverse effect on our business.
For additional information, please refer to “Part II—Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results
of Operations—Liquidity and Capital Resources” and “Note 11—Debt” to the consolidated financial statements included in this Form 10-K.
If our independent registered public accounting firm fails to stand for reappointment, any resulting need to engage a new auditor could
significantly delay the filing of our future annual and quarterly reports with the SEC and adversely impact our business.
Our independent registered public accounting firm goes through client reacceptance procedures annually to determine if it is willing to
stand for reappointment. These procedures include, among other items, a risk assessment. Due to our risk profile, there is a chance we will not
meet the minimum criteria for reacceptance. If we are unable to satisfy the requirements of such client reacceptance criteria, we may be required
to change auditors, which might delay the filing of our 2020 annual and quarterly reports on Form 10-K or 10-Q, as applicable, and subsequent
reports with the SEC. Any such delay could result in a breach of the covenants of the New Centre Lane Facility and the MidCap Facility, reduce
our trade credit based on our inability to deliver recent financial statements to our key vendors and cause us to become delinquent in our SEC
filings.
The limitations and covenants contained in the New Centre Lane Facility constrain our ability to borrow additional money, sell assets and
make acquisitions, which may impair our ability to fully implement elements of our business strategy and otherwise adversely affect our
liquidity and financial condition.
The New Centre Lane Facility contains a number of limitations and covenants that limit our ability and that of our subsidiaries to,
among other things:
·

borrow money or make capital expenditures;

·

incur liens;

·

pay dividends or make other restricted payments;

·

merge or sell assets;

·

enter into transactions with affiliates;

·

fund our growth initiatives in Canada; and

·

make acquisitions or investments.

The New Centre Lane Facility provides for variable rates of interest. We will be liable for the greatest amount of interest permitted
under such rates. Any increase in LIBOR or the cessation of LIBOR as a viable reference rate may result in an increase in our interest rates on
our outstanding principal debt under the New Centre Lane Facility and therefore negatively affect our cash flow and financial condition. Our
obligations under the New Centre Lane Facility are guaranteed by all of our wholly owned subsidiaries, subject to customary exceptions, and
such guarantees are secured by substantially all of the assets
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of such subsidiaries. Our obligations are secured by first priority security interests in substantially all of our assets and those of our wholly owned
subsidiaries. This includes 100% of the voting equity interests of our domestic subsidiaries and certain specified foreign subsidiaries.
The New Centre Lane Facility also includes additional restrictive covenants, including covenants that require us to maintain a total net
leverage ratio, minimum consolidated adjusted EBITDA and minimum liquidity. These restrictions could adversely affect our business because
they include, among other things, limitations on our ability to take advantage of financings, mergers, acquisitions and other corporate
opportunities that may be beneficial for our business. These restrictions also could have a material adverse effect on our ability to make capital
expenditures and business acquisitions, restructure or refinance our indebtedness, accept certain business opportunities from customers or seek
additional capital.
If we do not comply with the restrictive covenants, including failing to satisfy the required financial covenants, or obtain waivers as
needed, our lenders could accelerate our debt and foreclose on our assets, and our stockholders may lose the full value of an investment in our
common stock. Our ability to comply with the restrictive covenants in the New Centre Lane Facility depends upon our ability to generate adequate
earnings and operating cash flows or sell assets, which will be subject to our ability to successfully implement our business strategy, as well as
other general economic and competitive conditions and financial, business and other factors, many of which are beyond our control. Our business
may not generate sufficient cash flow from operations to fund our cash requirements and debt service obligations, and we may continue to face
significant liquidity constraints. For additional information, please refer to “Part II—Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations—Liquidity and Capital Resources” and “Note 11—Debt” to the consolidated financial statements included
in this Form 10-K.
The limitations and covenants contained in the MidCap Facility constrain our ability to borrow additional money, sell assets and make
acquisitions, which may impair our ability to fully implement elements of our business strategy and otherwise adversely affect our liquidity
and financial condition.
The MidCap Facility contains a number of limitations and covenants that limit our ability and that of our subsidiaries to, among other
things:
·

create, incur, assume or guarantee any debt, except for the amount outstanding under the New Centre Lane Facility;

·

incur liens;

·

merge or sell assets;

·

purchase assets or engage in joint ventures or partnerships, except as permitted by the MidCap Facility, or make investments;

·

enter into transactions with affiliates;

·

change normal billing and reimbursement policies;

·

make sales or extend credit terms outside the normal course of business; and

·

pay dividends or make other restricted payments.

The MidCap Facility provides for a per annum rate of interest equal to the sum of LIBOR (with a floor of 1%) plus 6%. Any increase in
LIBOR or the cessation of LIBOR as a viable reference rate may result in an increase in our interest rates on our outstanding principal debt under
the MidCap Facility and therefore negatively affect our cash flow and financial condition. Our obligations under the MidCap Facility are secured
by security interests in substantially all of our assets and those of our wholly owned subsidiaries. Our obligations under the MidCap Facility are
also guaranteed by our Canadian subsidiaries.
The MidCap Facility also includes additional restrictive covenants, including covenants that require us to maintain a total net leverage
ratio, minimum consolidated adjusted EBITDA and minimum liquidity. If we do not comply with the restrictive covenants, including failing to
satisfy the required financial covenants, or obtain waivers as needed, our lenders could accelerate our debt and foreclose on our assets, and our
stockholders may lose the full value of an investment in our common stock. Our ability to comply with the restrictive covenants in the MidCap
Facility depends upon our ability to successfully implement our business strategy, as well as other general economic and competition conditions
and financial, business and other factors, many of which are beyond our control. Our business may not generate a sufficient borrowing base, as
defined in the MidCap Facility, necessary to fund our cash requirements and debt service obligations, and we may continue
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to face significant liquidity constraints. For additional information, please refer to “Part II—Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Liquidity and Capital Resources” and “Note 11—Debt” to the consolidated financial statements
included in this Form 10-K.
Any inability to finance our business or repay the New Centre Lane Facility and the MidCap Facility, including due to deterioration of the
credit markets, could adversely affect our business.
We intend to finance our existing operations and initiatives with existing cash and cash equivalents, cash flows from operations, the New
Centre Lane Facility and the MidCap Facility. The New Centre Lane Facility contains high interest rate payments and both the New Centre Lane
Facility and the MidCap Facility contain a number of restrictive covenants and other terms that limit our operating flexibility, including our
ability to make other investments or pursue new lines of business. Any deterioration in the credit markets could adversely affect the ability of
many of our customers to pay us on time and the ability of many of our suppliers to meet our needs on a competitive basis. Any inability to pay
amounts due under the New Centre Lane Facility and the MidCap Facility or access necessary additional funds on acceptable terms or at all may
negatively impact our business or operations. In addition, we may require additional sources of funds in order to meet the working capital
requirements of our growing business. If we are unable to access sufficient capital from our existing lenders or otherwise, our business and
operations would be adversely impacted. For additional information, please refer to “Part II—Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Liquidity and Capital Resources” and “Note 11—Debt” to the consolidated financial statements
included in this Form 10-K.
We are exposed to market risks from changes in interest rates.
We are subject to market risk exposure related to changes in interest rates. The New Centre Lane Facility and the MidCap Facility
provide for variable rates of interest based on LIBOR. We will be liable for the greatest amount of interest permitted under such rates. On July 27,
2017, the United Kingdom’s Financial Conduct Authority, which regulates LIBOR, announced that it intends to phase out LIBOR by the end of
2021. It is unclear whether or not, at that time, LIBOR will cease to exist and a satisfactory replacement rate developed or if new methods of
calculating LIBOR will be established such that it continues to exist after 2021. The U.S. Federal Reserve, in conjunction with the Alternative
Reference Rates Committee, a steering committee comprised of, among other entities, large U.S. financial institutions, is considering replacing
U.S. dollar LIBOR with a new index that measures the cost of borrowing cash overnight, backed by U.S. Treasury securities (“SOFR”). SOFR is
observed and backward looking, which stands in contrast with LIBOR under the current methodology, which is an estimated forward-looking
rate and relies, to some degree, on the expert judgment of submitting panel members. Whether or not SOFR attains market traction as a LIBOR
replacement rate remains in question. As such, the future of LIBOR at this time is uncertain. If LIBOR ceases to exist, we may need to renegotiate
the applicable interest rates under the New Centre Lane Facility and the MidCap Facility, as they use LIBOR as a factor in determining the
applicable interest rate.
If we become unable to obtain adequate surety bonding, it could reduce our ability to bid on new work, which could, in turn, have a material
adverse effect on our future revenue and business prospects.
Consistent with industry practice, we are at times required to provide performance and payment surety bonds to customers. These bonds
provide credit support for the customer if we fail to perform our obligations under the contract. If security is required for a particular project and
we are unable to obtain a bond on terms commercially acceptable to us, we may not be able to pursue that project. In addition, bonding may be
more difficult to obtain in the future or may only be available at significant additional cost.
If we become unable to obtain adequate letters of credit, our ability to bid on new work could be reduced, which could have a material
adverse effect on our future revenue and business prospects.
In line with industry practice, we are at times required to provide letters of credit. These letters of credit provide credit support for the
client if we fail to perform our obligations under the contract. Each of the New Centre Lane Facility and the MidCap Facility contains restrictions
on the maximum amount that may be drawn against letters of credit. As of March 20, 2020, we had $1.2 million of non-cash collateralized letters
of credit outstanding. If security is required for a particular project and we are unable to obtain a letter of credit on terms commercially acceptable
to us, we may not be able to pursue that project. Any inability to obtain letters of credit on commercially reasonable terms could have a material
adverse effect on our revenue and business prospects.
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We have recorded write-downs of our goodwill and other indefinite-lived assets in the past. If we were required to write-down additional
amounts, our results of operations and stockholders’ equity could be materially adversely affected.
We are required to review goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets for potential impairment at least annually in accordance with
GAAP. As a result of our annual goodwill impairment analysis as of October 1, 2019 and 2018, we determined that the fair value exceeded its
book value, and, accordingly, no impairment charge was necessary for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018. We had $47.9 million of
goodwill and trade names remaining on our consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2019. If we experience declines in revenue and gross
profit or do not meet our current and forecasted operating budget, we may be subject to goodwill and/or other intangible asset impairments in the
future. Because of the significance of our goodwill and intangible assets, and based on the magnitude of historical impairment charges, any future
impairment of these assets could have a material adverse effect on our financial results. For additional information, please refer to “Note 7—
Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets” to the consolidated financial statements included in this Form 10-K.
Liabilities, fees, and expenses related to the Koontz-Wagner bankruptcy filing could have a material adverse effect on our results of
operations, cash flows and financial position.
We may incur future liabilities as a result of the July 11, 2018 bankruptcy filing of our Koontz-Wagner subsidiary, and defending any
claims relating to the Koontz-Wagner bankruptcy could require us to incur substantial legal fees and other expenses. Any such liabilities could
have a material adverse effect on our results of operations, cash flows and financial position. For additional information, please refer to “Note 5
—Changes in Business” to the consolidated financial statements included in this Form 10-K.
Changes to tax regulations, laws, accounting principles, future business operations or examinations by tax authorities may adversely impact
our provision for income taxes and ability to use deferred tax assets.
Our ability to use our deferred tax assets is subject to volatility and could be adversely affected by earnings differing materially from
our projections, changes in the valuation of our deferred tax assets and liabilities, expiration of or lapses in tax credits, changes in ownership as
defined by Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), and outcomes as a result of tax examinations or changes
in tax laws, regulations and accounting principles. As a result, our income tax provisions are also subject to volatility from these changes, as well
as changes in accounting for uncertain tax positions, or interpretations thereof.
The Tax Act (i) reduced the U.S. corporate income tax rate from 35% to 21% beginning in 2018, (ii) generally limited our annual
deductions for interest expense to no more than 30% of our “adjusted taxable income” (plus 100% of our business interest income) for the year
and (iii) permitted us to offset only 80% (rather than 100%) of our taxable income with any NOLs we generate after 2017. The disallowed
interest and NOLs generated after 2017 can be carried to future periods indefinitely. It is possible in the future that the NOL and/or interest
deductibility limitations could have the effect of causing us to incur income tax liability sooner than we otherwise would have incurred such
liability or, in certain cases, could cause us to incur income tax liability that we might otherwise not have incurred, in the absence of these tax law
changes.
Significant judgment is required in determining the recognition and measurement attributes prescribed in GAAP related to accounting
for income taxes. In addition, GAAP applies to all income tax positions, including the potential recovery of previously paid taxes, which, if
settled unfavorably, could adversely impact our provision for income taxes or additional paid-in capital. We could also be subject to examinations
of our income tax returns by the Internal Revenue Service and other tax authorities. We assess the likelihood of adverse outcomes resulting from
these examinations in determining the adequacy of our provision for income taxes. There may be exposure that the outcomes from these
examinations will have an adverse effect on our operating results and financial condition.
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Our ability to use NOL carryforwards or other tax attributes may be subject to limitations under Sections 382 and 383 of the Code.
As of December 31, 2019, we had U.S. federal tax NOL, foreign tax credits and general business tax credit carryforwards of $218.6
million, $3.3 million and $0.4 million, respectively. Generally, NOL, foreign tax credit and general business credit carryforwards may be used to
offset future taxable income and thereby reduce or eliminate U.S. federal income tax liabilities. Section 382 of the Code limits a corporation’s
ability to utilize NOL carryforwards to reduce tax liabilities if the corporation undergoes an “ownership change.” For these purposes, an
ownership change is deemed to occur if there has been a change of more than 50% in the ownership of shareholders owning 5% or greater of the
value of a corporation’s stock over a three year period. Code Section 383 applies the same limitations to foreign tax credit, general business credit
and capital loss carryforwards after an ownership change.
Based upon our review, we had not experienced an ownership change as defined under Code Section 382 as of December 31, 2019. As
of the date of this filing, based on our preliminary review, our recently completed Rights Offering did not contribute to an ownership change
under Code Section 382. If additional equity is issued in the future, an ownership change pursuant to Code Section 382 may occur. In addition,
an ownership change under Code Section 382 could be caused by circumstances beyond the Company’s control, such as market purchases or
sales by certain 5% or greater shareholders of our stock. There is also a risk that, due to regulatory changes, such as suspensions on the use of
NOLs or other unforeseen reasons, our existing NOLs could expire or otherwise be unavailable to offset future income tax liabilities. In addition,
under the Tax Act, the amount of NOLs incurred after the end of the 2017 fiscal year that we are permitted to deduct in any taxable year is limited
to 80% of our taxable income in such year, where taxable income is determined without regard to the NOL deduction itself. The Tax Act also
generally eliminates the ability to carry back any NOLs to prior taxable years, while allowing post-2017 unused NOLs to be carried forward
indefinitely. There is a risk that, due to changes under the Tax Act, regulatory changes, or other unforeseen reasons, our existing NOLs could
expire or otherwise be unavailable to offset future income tax liabilities. Thus, there can be no assurance that the Company will not experience an
ownership change which would significantly limit the utilization of the Company’s NOL, foreign tax credit or general business credit
carryforwards in calculating future federal tax liabilities.
Risk Factors Related to the Restatement of Prior Period Financial Statements, delayed SEC Reporting and Our Internal Control over
Financial Reporting
Audit, investigation, legal and expert services regarding the restatement and audit of our historical financial results, as well as recent legal
proceedings, have required substantial attention from the Board of Directors, have diverted financial resources away from the Company and
management’s attention away from our usual business operations and may continue to adversely affect customer relationships and overall
business, results of operations and financial condition.
From mid-2015 until the filing of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2015 (the “2015 Report”) in
March 2017, which included the restatement of certain prior period financial results, our Board, Audit Committee and members of management
devoted substantial internal and external resources to legal matters resulting from the restatement and remediation efforts and the preparation and
filing of the 2015 Report. Due to the delays caused by the restatement, additional attention and resources were required during 2017 for the
preparation and filing of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for our 2016 fiscal year, as well as our 2017 quarterly reports. As a result of these
efforts, we incurred significant incremental fees and expenses for additional audit services, financial and other consulting services and legal
services. These expenses, as well as the substantial time devoted by our Board and management toward identifying, addressing and remediating
internal weaknesses and legal costs related to our internal investigation and the SEC investigation, litigation and other actions related to the
restatement, had a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition. Although our internal investigation, the
SEC investigation and the putative class action have concluded, the remediation of weaknesses in our internal controls continues to require
management’s attention. In addition, any future inquiries from legal proceedings or other actions by the SEC as a result of the restatement of our
historical financial statements will, regardless of the outcome, likely consume a significant amount of our resources in addition to those resources
already consumed in connection with the restatement itself and related litigation matters. In addition, the restatement of our historical financial
statements, the fact that our stock is not listed on a national securities exchange (such as the New York Stock Exchange), and our significantly
constrained liquidity have hindered our ability to attract new customers and strained relationships with certain existing customers, making it
challenging to increase the volume and scope of our work.
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Our failure to maintain effective internal control over financial reporting and disclosure controls and procedures could continue to have a
material adverse effect on our business.
We are required to maintain internal control over financial reporting and disclosure controls and procedures in order to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of our consolidated financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with GAAP. In connection with our internal investigation and the restatement, we determined that we had material
weaknesses in our internal control environment and internal control activities. During 2019, we designed a remediation plan to strengthen our
financial reporting and accounting functions and have taken remediation steps to address these material weaknesses. We also continue to take
meaningful steps to enhance our disclosure controls and procedures and our internal control over financial reporting by strengthening our
financial reporting and accounting functions. We believe that we have remediated these material weaknesses and management has concluded that
our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of December 31, 2019; however, we cannot assure that we will be able to maintain
adequate controls over our financial processes and reporting in the future. See “Part II—Item 9A. Controls and Procedures.”
Because of the inherent limitations in a cost-effective control system, misstatements due to error or fraud may occur undetected, and it is
possible that additional significant deficiencies or material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting may be identified in the
future. Any failure of our internal controls could result in additional material misstatements in our consolidated financial statements, significant
deficiencies, material weaknesses, costs, failure to timely meet our periodic reporting obligations and further erosion of investor confidence. It
would also adversely affect the results of periodic management evaluations and could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition, results of operations or cash flow. If our internal controls continue to be deemed inadequate in the future, our current external auditors
could resign, and the process of retaining new auditors could limit our access to capital for an extended period of time.
Our business operations depend upon our senior management team and the ability of our other employees to successfully perform their roles.
We have made significant changes to our business in a short interval of time, which can be disruptive to our employees and business,
and may add to the risk of control failures, including a failure in the effective operation of our internal control over financial reporting or our
disclosure controls and procedures. Changes to company strategy can create uncertainty, may negatively impact our ability to execute quickly and
effectively, and may ultimately be unsuccessful.
If key employees do not meet the expectations of their roles, we could experience inefficiencies or a lack of business continuity due to
loss of historical knowledge and a lack of familiarity of those employees with business processes, operating requirements, policies and procedures
(some of which are new) and key information technologies and related infrastructure used in our day-to-day operations and financial reporting. It
is important to our success that these key employees quickly adapt to, and excel in, their new roles. Their failure to do so could result in
operational and administrative inefficiencies and added costs that could adversely impact our results of operations, our stock price and our
customer relationships and may make recruiting for future management positions more difficult. In addition, if we were to lose the services of any
one or more key employees, whether due to death, disability or termination of employment, our ability to successfully implement our business
strategy, financial plans and other objectives could be significantly impaired. Any of the above factors could also impede our ability to maintain
effective internal controls over financial reporting on an ongoing basis. See “Part II—Item 9A. Controls and Procedures.” If we do not effectively
manage our business through our management transitions, our business and results of operations could be adversely affected.
Risk Factors Related to Our Operations
A substantial portion of our revenue is related to services performed at nuclear power plants, and reduced investment in, or increased
regulation related to, nuclear power plants would have a material adverse effect on our business and prospects.
The demand for the services we provide at nuclear power plants is directly tied to the number of nuclear power facilities that utilize our
services. Additionally, U.S. nuclear capacity and electricity generation are expected to decline due to continuing low natural gas prices and the
rapid expansion of low cost renewable energy and new technologies in the U.S., displacing more traditional sources of power, including nuclear
power. Declining demand for U.S. nuclear power generation and related construction and maintenance budgets would have a material adverse
effect on our business, operations and cash flow.
There are two new nuclear reactors at one U.S. site under construction, and several nuclear reactors are undergoing decommissioning.
Pricing pressure has resulted in a decrease in the maintenance budgets for existing nuclear plants. Other new
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construction projects were reevaluated and discontinued in 2017. For example, during 2017, the owners of V.C. Summer Units 2 and 3
abandoned the project.
In addition, decreases in state and federal government subsidies and increased regulation would also negatively impact the demand for
nuclear power and the services we provide. For instance, the NRC has broad authority under federal law to impose safety-related and other
licensing requirements for the operation of nuclear generation facilities, and events at nuclear facilities or other events impacting the industry
generally could lead to additional requirements and regulations on all nuclear generation facilities and could negatively impact the demand for
nuclear power and the services we provide.
If our costs exceed the estimates we use to set the fixed-prices on certain of our contracts, our earnings will be reduced.
Fixed-price contracts present certain inherent risks, including the possibility of ambiguities in the specifications received, erroneous or
incomplete cost estimates, problems with new technologies and economic and other changes that may occur over the contract period.
In addition, we have a limited ability to recover any cost overruns. Contract prices are established based in part on our projected costs,
which are subject to a number of assumptions. The costs that we incur in connection with each contract can vary, sometimes substantially, from
our original projections. Because of the large scale and complexity of our contracts, unanticipated changes may occur, such as customer budget
decisions, design changes, delays in receiving permits and cost increases. Unanticipated cost increases or delays may occur as a result of several
factors, including:
·

increases in the cost of commodities, labor or freight;

·

unanticipated technical problems;

·

problems related to successfully managing contract performance;

·

suppliers’ or subcontractors’ failure to perform, requiring modified execution plans or re-work; and

·

decreases in labor efficiency realized.

We often are contractually subject to liquidated damages in the event that we fail to perform our obligations in a timely manner. Such
damages can be significant and may have a negative impact on our profit margins and financial results.
Cost increases or overruns that we cannot pass on to our customers or our payment of liquidated damages or other penalties under our
contracts will lower our earnings. In addition, increases in commodity prices may adversely affect our gross margins.
If we are unable to control the delivery of services provided because of internal operational issues or poor subcontractor performances, our
reputation could be adversely affected, and we could lose customers. In the event of subcontractor insolvency, if we are unable to recover any
advance progress payments made to subcontractors, our profitability could be adversely affected.
We rely on subcontractors to perform services on various projects for scopes of work that are outside of our current service offerings.
Our subcontractors do not account for a significant percentage of our service costs. The quality and performance of our subcontractors are not
entirely under our control. Our subcontractors may not always meet the requisite level of quality control or our delivery schedules. The failure of
our subcontractors to perform quality services in a timely manner could adversely affect our reputation and result in the cancellation of orders for
our services, significant warranty and repair costs and the loss of customers. In addition, our contracts with customers may contain liquidated
damages, and triggering such provisions could result in significant financial penalties, or, even if not triggered, could affect our ability to
recognize revenue in a given period.
Other potential consequences of the failure of our subcontractors to meet our standards include a potential need to change
subcontractors, resulting in increased costs. At times, we make advance progress payments to subcontractors in anticipation of completion of
services, and we may be unable to recover those advances if a subcontractor fails to complete the scope of work. In addition, we generally
provide warranties for terms of two years or less on our services; defects with respect to services previously provided, whether caused by our
actions or a subcontractor’s, could require us to incur costs fixing such issues. The occurrence of any of the above may adversely affect our
financial condition, profitability and cash flow.
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We operate our business in regions subject to natural disasters, including hurricanes, and other severe catastrophic events, such as acts of
war and terrorism, and any disruption to our business resulting from such events will adversely affect our revenue and results of operations.
We operate our business in regions subject to natural disasters and other severe catastrophic events. Any disaster could adversely affect
our ability to conduct business and provide services to our customers, and the insurance we maintain may not be adequate to cover our losses
resulting from any business interruption resulting from a natural disaster or other catastrophic events. These and any future disruptions to our
operations, including acts of war, terrorism or other force majeure, could have a material adverse impact on our liquidity, financial condition and
results of operations.
Our business could be adversely affected by the effects of widespread outbreak of contagious disease, including the recent outbreak of
respiratory illness caused by COVID-19, novel coronavirus first identified in Wuhan, Hubei Province, China. Any outbreak of contagious
diseases and other adverse public health developments could have a material and adverse effect on our business operations. These could include
disruptions or restrictions on us and our employees’ ability to travel or to distribute services and materials, as well as temporary closures of the
facilities of our suppliers or customers. Any disruption of our suppliers or customers would likely impact our sales and operating results. In
addition, a significant outbreak of contagious diseases in the human population could result in a widespread health crisis that could adversely
affect both the U.S. and global economy and financial markets, resulting in an economic downturn that could impact our operating results. For
instance, COVID-19 has caused volatility in the U.S. and global financial markets and threatened a slowdown in the U.S. and global economy.
While it is not possible at this time to estimate the impact that COVID-19 could have on our operations, the continued spread of COVID-19, the
measures taken by local, state, and federal governments of the United States and other countries affected, actions taken to protect employees, and
the impact of the pandemic on various business activities in affected states and countries could adversely affect our financial condition, results of
operations and cash flows.
We may not be able to compete successfully against current and future competitors.
The industry in which we operate is highly competitive. Some of our competitors and potential competitors are less leveraged than we
are, have greater financial or other resources than we have and may be better able to withstand adverse market conditions within the industry. Our
competitors typically compete aggressively on the basis of pricing, and such competition may continue to impact our ability to attract and retain
customers or maintain the rates we charge. To the extent that we choose to match our competitors’ prices, it may result in lower margins and, as a
result, could harm our results of operations. Should we choose not to match, or remain within a reasonable competitive distance from, our
competitors’ pricing, our sales volume would likely decrease, which could harm our results of operations. In addition, our future growth will
depend on our ability to gauge the direction of the commercial and technological progress in our markets that may be adopted by our competitors.
However, any such developments would likely require additional financing, and we may not be able to obtain the necessary financing on
acceptable terms, if at all. A failure to keep pace with our competitors or the technological innovations in the markets we serve could have a
material adverse impact on our business.
Our future revenue and operating results may vary significantly from reporting period to reporting period.
Our quarterly and annual revenue and earnings have varied in the past and are likely to vary in the future. Our service contracts contain
customer-specific commercial terms that, coupled with other factors beyond our control, may result in uneven recognition of revenue and
earnings over time. Customer-imposed delays can significantly impact the timing of revenue recognition and lengthen our cash conversion cycle.
Due to our relatively large average contract size, our volume during any given period may be concentrated to relatively few contracts,
intensifying the magnitude of these fluctuations. Furthermore, some of our operating costs are fixed. As a result, we may have limited ability to
reduce our operating costs in response to unanticipated decreases in our revenue or the demand for our services in any given reporting period.
Therefore, our operating results in any reporting period may not be indicative of our future performance. Because we must make significant
estimates related to potential costs when we recognize revenue on a percentage-of-completion basis, these costs may change significantly from
reporting period to reporting period based on new project information.
A small number of major customers account for a significant portion of our revenue, and the loss of any of these customers could negatively
impact our business.
We depend on a relatively small number of customers for a significant portion of our revenue. In 2019, four customers accounted for
72%, and in 2018, three customers accounted for 69%, of our consolidated revenue. For a listing of our major customers, please refer to “Note 16
—Major Customers and Concentration of Credit Risk” to the consolidated financial statements included in this Form 10-K. We expect to
continue to depend upon a relatively small number of customers for a significant percentage of our revenue. Because our major customers
represent a large part of our business, the loss of any of
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our major customers could negatively impact our business and results of operations. Our business volume with each of our largest customers is
highly dependent on operations and maintenance budgets for U.S. utilities. Fluctuations in any of these factors could materially adversely impact
our financial results.
We are subject to potential insolvency or financial distress of third parties, including our customers and suppliers.
We are exposed to the risk that third parties to various arrangements who owe us money or goods, or who purchase services from us,
will be unable to perform their obligations or continue to place orders due to insolvency or financial distress. If such third parties fail to perform
their obligations under arrangements with us, we may be forced to replace the underlying commitment at current or above market prices or on
other terms that are less favorable to us, or we may have to write off receivables in the case of a customer failing to pay.
If a customer becomes insolvent or files for bankruptcy, our ability to recover accounts receivable from that customer would be
adversely affected and any payment we received during the preference period prior to a bankruptcy filing may be potentially recoverable by the
bankruptcy estate. Any of the foregoing could adversely impact our results of operations, financial position and liquidity.
The dollar amount of our backlog, as stated at any time, is not necessarily indicative of our future revenue.
Our backlog consists of firm orders or blanket authorizations from our customers. Backlog may vary significantly from reporting period
to reporting period due to the timing of customer commitments. The time between receipt of an order and actual completion of services can vary.
However, backlog may not be indicative of future operating results, and projects in our backlog may be cancelled, modified or otherwise altered
by our customers. To the extent projects are delayed, the timing of our revenue could be affected. If a customer cancels an order, we may be
reimbursed for the costs we have incurred. Typically, however, we have no contractual right to the full amount of the revenue reflected in our
backlog contracts in the event of cancellation. In addition, projects may remain in our backlog for extended periods of time. Furthermore, a
portion of our backlog for multi-year service maintenance contracts is based on what we expect to realize in the future and is therefore not
necessarily supported by a firm purchase order. If that work does not materialize, then our backlog would be negatively impacted, as that work
would be considered a “cancellation.” Revenue recognition occurs over extended periods of time and is subject to unanticipated delays.
Fluctuations in our reported backlog levels also result from the fact that we may receive a small number of relatively large orders in any given
reporting period that may be included in our backlog. Because of these large orders, our backlog in that reporting period may reach levels that
may not be sustained in subsequent reporting periods. Our backlog, therefore, is not necessarily indicative of our future revenue or of long-term
industry trends.
Our success is partially dependent upon maintaining our safety record, and an injury to or death of any of our employees, customers or
vendors could result in material liabilities to our Company.
The activities we conduct at our customers’ facilities present a risk of injury or death to our employees, customers or visitors,
notwithstanding our efforts to comply with safety regulations. We may be unable to avoid material liabilities for an injury or death, and our
workers’ compensation and other insurance policies may not be adequate or may not continue to be available on terms acceptable to us, or at all,
which could result in material liabilities to us. In addition, our ability to obtain new business and retain our current business is partially dependent
on our continuing ability to maintain a safety record that exceeds the industry average. If we fail to maintain superior safety performance, or if
serious accidents occur in spite of our safety procedures, our revenue and results of operations could be materially adversely affected.
Changes in our credit profile and market conditions can affect our relationships with suppliers, vendors and subcontractors, which could
have a material adverse effect on our liquidity and our business, reputation and results of operations.
We rely significantly on third-party suppliers and vendors to obtain necessary materials, and on subcontractors to perform certain
services. Although we are not dependent on any single supplier, vendor or subcontractor, any substantial limitation on the availability of or
deterioration in our relationship with required suppliers or subcontractors would negatively impact our operations.
Changes in our credit profile can affect the way such third parties view our ability to make payments and may induce them to shorten
the payment terms of their invoices or require credit enhancement. For instance, as a result of delays in our payments, certain suppliers and
subcontractors have imposed less favorable payment terms on us, including requirements to provide them with additional security in the form of
prepayments, surety bonds or letters of credit. The imposition of burdensome payment terms or collateral requirements could have a material
adverse impact on our liquidity and our ability to make payments to other parties. This in turn could cause us to be unable to operate our business
at the desired service levels,
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which might adversely affect our profitability and cash flow. In other cases, our relationships with certain third parties have been terminated,
requiring us to rely on new firms for certain services, which may cost more and be of inferior quality.
In addition, changes in market and economic conditions could increase the risk of a lack of available suppliers or subcontractors. If any
supplier or subcontractor upon which we rely is unable or unwilling to meet its obligations under present or future agreements with us, we may be
forced to pay higher prices to obtain necessary services and may suffer an interruption in our ability to provide our services to customers.
To the extent we cannot engage quality subcontractors or acquire equipment or materials on acceptable terms, we would not be able to
meet the full demands of our customers, which would have a material adverse effect on our business, reputation and results of operations.
Legal matters could divert management’s focus, result in substantial expenses and have an adverse impact on our reputation, financial
condition and results of operations.
Lawsuits and investigations involving us, or our current or former officers and directors, could result in significant expenses and divert
attention and resources of our management and other key employees. We could be required to pay damages or other penalties or have injunctions
or other equitable remedies imposed against us or our current or former directors and officers. In addition, we are generally obligated to
indemnify our current and former directors and officers in connection with lawsuits, governmental investigations and related litigation or
settlement amounts. Such amounts could exceed the coverage provided under our insurance policies. Any of these factors could harm our
reputation, business, financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.
Compliance with environmental, health, safety and other related laws and regulations is costly, and our ongoing operations may expose us to
related liabilities.
Our operations are subject to laws and regulations governing the discharge of materials into the environment or otherwise related to the
protection of the environment or human health and safety. We are subject to various U.S. federal statutes and the regulations implementing them,
as well as similar laws and regulations at the state and local levels. If we fail to comply with environmental laws or regulations, we may be
subject to significant liabilities for fines, penalties or damages, or lose or be denied significant operating permits.
In addition, we may be subject to liability allegations involving claims of personal injury or property damage. The operation of complex,
large-scale equipment used in a variety of locations and climates and integration of a variety of purchased components entails an inherent risk of
disputes and liabilities related to the operation of the equipment and the health and safety of the workers who operate and come into contact with
the machinery. Because our services are primarily provided in power plants, claims could arise in different contexts, including fires, explosions
and power surges, which can result in significant property damage or personal injury, and equipment failure, which can result in personal injury
or damage to other equipment in the power plant.
The insurance policies we maintain to cover claims of this nature are subject to deductibles and recovery limitations, as well as
limitations on contingencies covered, and we may, therefore, suffer losses from these claims for which no insurance recovery is available. Such
losses could have a material adverse effect on our business.
We began to expand our operations outside the U.S. during 2019 and are subject to risks associated with doing business outside the U.S.
We are seeking to expand our services outside the U.S., and we currently provide services in Canada. We face risks doing business
internationally that could materially and adversely affect our business, including: the imposition of trade barriers, currency exchange rate
fluctuations and currency controls, longer payment cycles, greater difficulties in accounts receivables collection, difficulties in complying with a
variety of foreign laws, changes in legal or regulatory requirements, the potential for shortages of trained labor, complex and uncertain
employment environments, exposure to local economic and political conditions, the impact of social unrest, such as risks of terrorism or other
hostilities, and potentially adverse tax consequences. To the extent we experience these risks, our business and results of operations could be
adversely affected, and, as a result, we may determine to scale back or terminate our international operations.
Our cross border activities also subject us to certain regulatory matters, including import and export licenses, tariffs, Canadian and U.S.
customs and tax issues and toxic substance certifications. Violations of these requirements could result in the imposition of significant
administrative, civil and criminal penalties. In addition, the new United States-Mexico-Canada
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Agreement (“USMCA”) (in Canada, known as the Canada-United States-Mexico Agreement (“CUSMA”)) supersedes the North American Free
Trade Agreement (“NAFTA”). USMCA/CUSMA has been ratified by the legislature of each of the United States, Canada and Mexico. NAFTA
provided protection against tariffs, duties and other charges or fees and assures access by the signatories. The impact of USMCA/CUSMA on
energy markets is uncertain. Any of the foregoing factors may adversely impact our business and results of operations.
Our future business prospects in Canada are, in part, dependent upon the continued operation of Canadian nuclear plants and
refurbishment of the majority of the plants in Ontario to extend their operating lives. Unfavorable economic conditions, competition from other
forms of power generation, increased competition for refurbishment contracts, changes in government policy or operational or project execution
issues may lead nuclear plant operators in Canada to cease operations or delay, curtail or cancel proposed or existing life-extension projects,
which may decrease the overall demand for our services in Canada and adversely affect our financial condition, results of operations and cash
flows.
We may be unable to effectively manage our growth, including our expansion into international markets.
We are subject to the risk that we may be unable to effectively manage our growth, which requires us to develop and improve our
existing administrative and operational systems and our financial and management controls and further expand, train and manage our work force.
As we continue this effort, we may incur substantial costs and expend substantial resources in connection with any such expansion due to
different technology standards, legal considerations and cultural differences. We may not be able to efficiently or effectively manage our current
or future international operations and growth of such operations, compete effectively in such markets, or recruit top talent and train our personnel.
Any failure to successfully manage our expansion may materially and adversely affect our business and future growth and may cause us to scale
back or terminate such expansion efforts.
Expiration of the Price-Anderson Act’s indemnification authority could have adverse consequences for us.
We provide services to the nuclear industry. The Price-Anderson Act promotes the nuclear industry by offering broad indemnification to
commercial nuclear power plant operators and the U.S. Department of Energy (“DOE”) for liabilities arising out of nuclear incidents at power
plants licensed by the NRC and at DOE nuclear facilities. That indemnification protects not only the NRC licensee or DOE prime contractor, but
also others like us who may be doing work under contract or subcontract for a licensed power plant or under a DOE prime contract. The Energy
Policy Act of 2005 extended the period of coverage to include all nuclear power reactors issued construction permits through December 31, 2025.
If the Price-Anderson Act’s indemnification authority expires, a problem related to our provision of services at a nuclear facility could lead to a
damage claim against us for which we might not be entitled to indemnification. In addition, any well-publicized problem with those services,
whether actual or perceived, could adversely affect our reputation and reduce demand for our services.
Our failure to attract and retain qualified personnel, skilled workers and key officers could have an adverse effect on us.
Our ability to attract and retain qualified professional and/or skilled personnel in accordance with our needs, either through direct hiring,
subcontracting or acquisition of other firms employing such professionals, is an important factor in determining our future success. The market
for these professionals is competitive, and there can be no assurance that we will be successful in our efforts to attract and retain needed
personnel. Our ability to successfully execute our business strategy depends, in part, on our ability to attract and retain highly qualified,
experienced mechanical, design, structural and software engineers, service technicians and marketing and sales personnel. Demand for these
workers can, at times, be high and the supply extremely limited. Our success is also highly dependent upon the continued services of our key
officers, and we do not maintain key employee insurance on any of our executive officers.
We have experienced significant turnover in our senior management team and reductions in our workforce over the past few years, and
have promoted or hired new employees to fill certain key roles. If we are unable to retain qualified personnel, the roles and responsibilities of
those employees will need to be filled, which may require that we devote time and resources to identifying, hiring and integrating new
employees. In addition, the failure to attract and retain key employees, including officers, could impair our ability to sustain or expand our
operations, provide services to our customers and conduct our business effectively.
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Demand for our services is cyclical and vulnerable to economic slowdowns and reductions in private industry and government spending. In
times of general economic contraction, our revenue, profits and financial condition may be adversely affected and will not necessarily rise in
tandem with general economic expansion.
The industries we serve historically have been, and will likely continue to be, cyclical in nature and vulnerable to general slowdowns in
the U.S. and Canadian economies. Consequently, our results of operations have fluctuated and may continue to fluctuate depending on the level
of demand for services from these industries.
Our bookings and revenue may rise or fall sharply as total industry orders tend to follow pronounced cycles of general expansion and
contraction. During a contraction phase, limited investment in new projects, deferrals of planned projects and project cancellations may
significantly reduce our potential recognition of revenue and profits. At the end of an expansion phase, any existence of excess capacity will
negatively affect power prices, which will result in a reduction in new orders. In addition to being cyclical in nature, our revenue does not
correlate precisely with changes in actual or forecasted new capacity due to timing differences in revenue recognition.
During periods of declining demand for power, many of our customers may face budget shortfalls or may delay capital expenditures,
which could result in a decrease in the overall demand for our services. Our customers may find it more difficult to obtain project financing due to
limitations on the availability of credit and other uncertainties in the global credit markets. In addition, our customers may demand better pricing
terms and their ability to timely pay our invoices may be affected in times of economic slowdown. Any such reduction in private industry or
government spending could have a material adverse effect on our revenue, net income or overall financial condition.
Information technology vulnerabilities and cyberattacks on our networks could have a material adverse impact on our business.
We rely upon information technology to manage and conduct business, both internally and with our customers, suppliers and other third
parties. Internet transactions involve the transmission and storage of data, including, in certain instances, customer and supplier business
information. Accordingly, maintaining the security of our computers and other electronic devices, computer networks and data storage resources
is a critical issue for us and our customers and suppliers because security breaches could result in reduced or lost ability to carry on our business
and loss of and/or unauthorized access to confidential information. From time to time, we experience cyberattacks on our information technology
systems, and those of our distributors, manufacturers, suppliers and other partners, whose systems we do not control. We have limited personnel
and other resources to address information technology reliability and security of our computer networks and respond to known security incidents
to minimize potential adverse impacts. Information security risks have generally increased in recent years because of the proliferation of new
technologies and the increased sophistication and activities of perpetrators of cyberattacks. Experienced hackers, cybercriminals and perpetrators
of threats may be able to penetrate our network security and misappropriate or compromise our confidential information or that of third parties,
create system disruptions or cause shutdowns. These perpetrators of cyberattacks also may be able to develop and deploy viruses, worms,
malware and other malicious software programs that attack our information and networks or otherwise exploit any security vulnerabilities of our
information and networks. Techniques used to obtain unauthorized access to or sabotage systems change frequently and often are not recognized
until long after being launched against a target, so we may be unable to anticipate these techniques, implement adequate preventative measures or
remediate any intrusion on a timely or effective basis. Moreover, the development and maintenance of these preventative and detective measures
is costly and requires ongoing monitoring and updating as technologies change and efforts to overcome security measures become more
sophisticated. We, therefore, remain potentially vulnerable to additional known or as yet unknown threats, as in some instances, we, our
distributors, manufacturers, suppliers and other partners may be unaware of an incident or its magnitude and effects. We also face the risk that we
may expose our customers or partners to cyberattacks.
A breach of our information technology systems and security measures as a result of third party action, malware, employee error,
malfeasance or otherwise could materially adversely impact our business and results of operations and expose us to customer, supplier and other
third party liabilities, as well as result in disruptions to critical systems, theft of funds, data or intellectual property, corruption or loss of data and
unauthorized release of proprietary, confidential or sensitive information of ours or our customers. Any damage, security breach, delay or loss of
critical data associated with our systems may delay or prevent certain operations and may have a material adverse effect on our financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows; in addition, such events could expose us to data and funds loss, disrupt our operations, allow
others to unfairly compete with us and subject us to litigation, government enforcement actions, regulatory penalties and costly response
measures. Any resulting negative publicity could also significantly harm our reputation. As cyber threats continue to evolve, we may be required
to expend additional significant resources to continue to enhance our information security measures and/or to investigate and remediate any
information security vulnerabilities.
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Our failure to comply with applicable governmental privacy laws and regulations in the U.S. and Canada could substantially impact our
business, operations, financial position and cash flows.
We are subject to extensive and evolving federal, state and international privacy laws and regulations. Changes in privacy and data
security laws or regulations or new interpretations of existing laws or regulations could have a negative effect on our operating methods and costs.
Failure to comply with such regulations could result in the termination or loss of contracts, the imposition of contractual damages, private and
government civil litigation, civil sanctions, damage to our reputation or, in certain circumstances, criminal penalties, any of which could have a
material adverse effect on our results of operations, financial position, cash flows, business and prospects. Determining compliance with such
regulations is complicated by the fact that many of these laws and regulations have not been fully interpreted by governing regulatory authorities
or the courts, and many of the provisions of such laws and regulations are open to a range of interpretations. There can be no assurance that we
are, or have been, in compliance with all applicable existing laws and regulations or that we will be able to comply with new laws or regulations,
such as the California Consumer Privacy Act, which became effective on January 1, 2020 and imposes additional obligations on businesses to
make new disclosures about data collection, use, and sharing practices and affords consumers new rights with respect to their data. It also
provides a new private right of action for data breaches.
Our participation in multiemployer pension plans could adversely impact our liquidity and results of operations.
During 2019, we contributed to approximately 70 multiemployer pension plans throughout the U.S. and, historically, we have
contributed to over 150 multiemployer pension plans in which we still have withdrawal liabilities. We believe that our responsibility for potential
withdrawal liabilities associated with participating in multiemployer pension plans is limited because the building and construction trades
exemption pursuant to the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 should apply to the substantial majority of our plan contributions.
However, pursuant to the Pension Protection Act of 2006 and other applicable laws, we are exposed to other potential liabilities associated with
plans that are underfunded. As of December 31, 2019, we had been notified that certain pension plans were in critical funding status. Currently,
certain plans are developing, or have developed, a rehabilitation plan that may call for a reduction in participant benefits or an increase in future
employer contributions. Therefore, in the future, we could be responsible for potential surcharges, excise taxes and/or additional contributions
related to these plans, which could impact our liquidity and results of operations. While we continue to actively monitor, assess and take steps to
limit our potential exposure to any surcharges, excise taxes, additional contributions and/or withdrawal liabilities, any market conditions or the
number of participating employers remaining in each plan may result in a reorganization, insolvency or mass withdrawal that could have a
material adverse effect on the funded status of the multiemployer plans and our potential withdrawal liability.
We are subject to anti-bribery laws in the U.S. and Canada, and failure to comply with these laws could result in our becoming subject to
penalties and the disruption of our business activities.
The U.S. and Canada have laws that restrict the offer or payment of anything of value to government officials or other persons with the
intent of gaining business or favorable government action, and we are subject to such laws. In addition to prohibiting certain bribery-related
activity with U.S. and Canadian officials and other persons, these laws provide for recordkeeping and reporting obligations. Any failure by us,
our subcontractors, agents or others who work for us on our behalf to comply with these legal and regulatory obligations could impact us in a
variety of ways that include, but are not limited to, significant criminal, civil and administrative penalties. The failure to comply with these legal
and regulatory obligations could also result in the disruption of our business activities and have a material adverse effect on our business and
results of operations.
The Tax Act, or other changes in U.S. and Canadian tax laws or regulations, or their interpretation, could increase our tax burden and
otherwise adversely affect our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.
Changes in tax laws or exposures to additional tax liabilities could negatively impact our effective tax rate and results of operations. As
a result of enactment of the Tax Act, we were required to re-evaluate our 2017 U.S.-related deferred tax assets and liabilities and to account for a
one-time transition tax on certain un-repatriated earnings of foreign subsidiaries. The Tax Act introduced significant changes to the U.S. corporate
income tax law that have had a meaningful impact on our provision for income taxes. Accounting for the income tax effects of the Tax Act
required significant judgments to be made in interpreting its provisions. Due to the timing of the enactment and the complexity involved in
applying the provisions of the Tax Act, we made reasonable estimates of the effects and recorded provisional amounts in the financial statements
for fiscal year 2017.
In addition, as we expand our operations outside of the U.S., our future effective tax rates could also be adversely affected, including
limitations on the ability to defer U.S. taxation on earnings outside the U.S. until those earnings are repatriated to the U.S.
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Work disruptions resulting from the expiration of our collective bargaining agreements or otherwise could result in increased operating costs
and adversely affect our operating performance.
The majority of our temporary craft employees are represented by labor unions with which we have collective bargaining agreements.
There can be no assurance that we will not experience labor disruptions associated with a lengthy strike or the expiration or renegotiation of
collective bargaining agreements or other work stoppage at our facilities or customer locations, which could adversely affect our operating
performance and may result in additional expenses and possible loss of revenue.
Risk Factors Related to Our Common Stock
The market price for our common stock is volatile, and our stockholders may not be able to resell their shares of common stock at or above
the purchase price paid.
The market price of our common stock fluctuates significantly and may be affected by numerous factors (some of which are beyond our
control), including:
·

The risk factors described in this Item 1A;

·

Actual or anticipated fluctuations in our operating results and financial condition;

·

Changes in laws or regulations and court rulings and trends in our industry;

·

The significant concentration of ownership of our common stock in the hands of a small number of investors;

·

Changes in supply and demand of components and materials;

·

Changes in tax or accounting standards affecting our industry;

·

A shortfall in operating revenue or net income from that expected by securities analysts and investors;

·

Changes in securities analysts’ estimates of our financial performance or the financial performance of our competitors or
companies in our industry;

·

General conditions in our customers’ industries; and

·

The degree of trading liquidity in our common stock and general market conditions.

From December 31, 2012 to March 20, 2020, the closing price of our common stock ranged from $20.86 to $1.00 per share. Continued
declines in the price of our common stock could impede our ability to obtain additional capital and attract and retain qualified employees and
could reduce the liquidity of our common stock. In addition, the reduced stock price also increases the cost to us, in terms of dilution, of using our
equity for employee compensation.
The stock markets have experienced extreme volatility that has often been unrelated to the operating performance of similarly situated
companies, including, most recently, fluctuations relating to the impact of the COVID-19 coronavirus. These broad market fluctuations may
adversely affect the market price of our common stock.
Our common stock is not currently listed on a national securities exchange, and is quoted on the OTCQX, which may continue to decrease
the value of our common stock and prevent certain investors from investing or achieving a meaningful degree of liquidity.
In 2016, our common stock was delisted from the New York Stock Exchange (the “NYSE”). As a result, our common stock was quoted
on the OTC Pink® Marketplace (“OTC Pink”) from 2016 to March 19, 2019, at which time our stock began being quoted on the OTCQX. We
cannot assure investors that our common stock will be listed on a national exchange such as the Nasdaq Stock Market, the NYSE or another
securities exchange in the future.
Based upon the fact that our common stock is no longer registered for trading on a national exchange and that the value of our issued
and outstanding common stock has decreased in value in recent years, there may be investment loss for stockholders, and certain stockholders
may no longer be permitted to invest in our common stock. Bid quotations on the OTCQX can be sporadic and may not provide meaningful
liquidity to investors. An investor may find it difficult to dispose of shares or obtain accurate quotations as to the market value of our common
stock. As a result of these limitations, our common
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stock has fewer market makers, lower trading volumes and larger spreads between bid and asked prices than securities listed on a national stock
exchange or automated quotation system would typically have.
Because there may be a limited market and generally low volume of trading in our common stock, the share price of our common stock
is more likely to be affected by broad market fluctuations, general market conditions, fluctuations in our operating results, changes in the
market’s perception of our business and announcements made by us, our competitors or parties with whom we have business relationships. There
may also be fewer institutional investors willing to hold or acquire our common stock. The lack of liquidity in our common stock may make it
difficult for us to issue additional securities for financing or other purposes or to otherwise arrange for any financing that we may need in the
future.
Because we are not listed on a national exchange, we are not subject to certain rules, such as certain corporate governance requirements.
Without required compliance with such standards, investor interest in our common stock may decrease. The delisting of our common stock from
the NYSE may have also resulted in other negative implications, including potential loss of confidence of customers, strategic partners and
employees and the loss of investor and media interest in us and our common stock.
There is no assurance that an active public trading market in our common stock will be available.
There can be no assurance that an active public trading market for our common stock will be available or sustained. If, for any reason,
an active public trading market does not exist, purchasers of the shares of our common stock may have difficulty in selling their shares should
they desire to do so, and the price of our common stock may decline.
We do not currently expect to pay any cash dividends on our common stock, so investors may not receive any return on investment unless
investors sell their shares of common stock for a price greater than that which investors paid for them.
On May 30, 2012, our Board adopted a dividend policy pursuant to which we would pay quarterly dividends on our common stock;
however, we have not paid any dividends since March 2015. The costs associated with the restatement of our historical financial results, as well
as related matters, has presented a significant financial burden on our Company, and the continued operation of our business has required
substantial funding. In addition, each of the New Centre Lane Facility and the MidCap Facility prohibits us from paying cash dividends.
Therefore, we do not anticipate paying dividends on our common stock in the foreseeable future.
Any future determination with respect to the payment of dividends will be at the discretion of the Board and will depend upon our
financial condition, results of operations, capital requirements, general business conditions, terms of financing arrangements and other factors that
our Board may deem relevant. Future dividends, their timing and amount will be subject to capital availability and periodic determinations by our
Board that cash dividends are in the best interest of our stockholders and are in compliance with all of our respective laws and agreements
applicable to the declaration and payment of cash dividends and may be affected by, among other factors: our views on potential future capital
requirements for organic initiatives and strategic transactions; debt service requirements; our credit rating; changes to applicable tax laws or
corporate laws; limitations in our debt facilities; and changes to our business model. Our dividend payments may change from time to time, and
we cannot provide assurance that we will declare dividends of any particular amounts or at all. If we do not pay dividends, then our common
stock may be less valuable because a return on investment will occur only if our stock price increases, and such appreciation may not occur.
Actions of activist stockholders could be disruptive and potentially costly, and the possibility that activist stockholders may seek changes that
conflict with our strategic direction could cause uncertainty about the strategic direction of our business.
Activist investors may attempt to effect changes in our strategic direction and how our business is governed, or to acquire control over
us to increase short-term stockholder value by advocating corporate actions such as financial restructuring, increased borrowing, special
dividends, stock repurchases or even sales of assets or the entire company. In fact, in June 2016, we entered into an election and nomination
agreement with certain of our significant stockholders that had filed a Schedule 13D with the SEC with respect to the Company. Pursuant to that
agreement, we agreed to appoint two additional directors to our Board, one of whom would serve as a representative of those investors. Among
other things, we also agreed to various standstill provisions and to include the investors’ designees in our slate of nominees for election as
directors at our next two annual meetings of stockholders. The agreement also provides that, because the Company did not hold its 2016 Annual
Meeting of Stockholders, the significant stockholders had the right to terminate the agreement at any time after January 1, 2017.
While we welcome varying opinions from all stockholders, activist campaigns that contest or conflict with our strategic direction could
have an adverse effect on our results of operations and financial condition, as responding to proxy
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contests and other actions by activist shareholders can disrupt our operations, be costly and time consuming and divert the attention of our Board
and senior management from the pursuit of business strategies. In addition, perceived uncertainties as to our future direction as a result of
changes to the composition of our Board may lead to the perception of a change in the direction of our business, instability or lack of continuity
which may be exploited by our competitors, may cause concern to our current or potential customers, may result in the loss of potential business
opportunities and may make it more difficult to attract and retain qualified personnel and business partners. These types of actions could cause
significant fluctuations in our stock price based on temporary or speculative market perceptions or other factors that do not necessarily reflect the
underlying fundamentals and prospects of our business.
We are subject to anti-takeover effects of certain charter and bylaw provisions and Delaware law, as well as of our substantial insider
ownership.
Provisions of our Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation, as amended (the “Certificate of Incorporation”), Fourth
Amended and Restated By-Laws (the “By-Laws”) and Delaware law may discourage, delay or prevent a merger or acquisition that stockholders
may consider favorable, including transactions in which you might otherwise receive a premium for your shares. In addition, these provisions
may frustrate or prevent any attempts by our stockholders to replace or remove our management and Board. These provisions include providing
our Board the ability to set the number of directors and to fill vacancies on the Board occurring between stockholder meetings.
We are also subject to provisions of the Delaware corporation law that, in general, prohibit any business combination with a beneficial
owner of 15% or more of our common stock for three years following the date the beneficial owner acquired at least 15% of our stock, unless
various conditions are met, such as approval of the transaction by our Board. Together, these charter and statutory provisions could make the
removal of management more difficult and may discourage transactions that otherwise could involve payment of a premium over prevailing
market prices for our common stock.
The existence of the foregoing provisions and anti-takeover measures, as well as the significant amount of common stock beneficially
owned by Wynnefield Capital, Inc., the Company’s largest equity investor (“Wynnefield”), could limit the price that investors might be willing to
pay in the future for shares of our common stock. They could also deter potential acquirers of us, thereby reducing the likelihood that you could
receive a premium for your common stock in an acquisition.
We may issue a substantial number of shares of our common stock in the future, and stockholders may be adversely affected by the issuance
of those shares.
We may raise additional capital or refinance or restructure our debt by issuing shares of common stock, or other securities convertible
into common stock, which will increase the number of shares of common stock outstanding and will result in potentially substantial dilution in
the equity interest of our current stockholders and may adversely affect the market price of our common stock. For instance, in March 2020, we
issued 5,384,615 shares of our common stock in connection with the closing of our registered offering of subscription rights to purchase shares of
our common stock to existing holders of our common stock (the “Rights Offering”). We could seek to issue new debt, equity and hybrid
securities in the future. In addition, we have issued shares of our common stock pursuant to private placement exemptions from Securities Act
registration requirements and may do so in the future in connection with financings, acquisitions, the settlement of litigation and other strategic
transactions. We may also issue equity securities (including, but not limited to, warrants to purchase shares of our common stock) in connection
with future financing transactions. The issuance, and the resale or potential resale, of shares of our common stock could adversely affect the
market price of our common stock and could be dilutive to our stockholders.
Future sales of our common stock and any of our other efforts to raise additional capital may depress our stock price.
Sales of a substantial number of shares of our common stock in the public market or otherwise, either by us, a member of management
or a major stockholder, or the perception that such sales could occur, could depress the market price of our common stock and have a material
adverse effect on our ability to raise capital through the sale of additional equity securities. We may seek additional capital through a combination
of private and public equity and debt offerings. To the extent that we raise additional capital through the sale of equity or convertible debt
securities, investor ownership interest may be diluted, and the terms may include liquidation or other preferences that adversely affect investor
rights as a stockholder. Additional debt financing, if available, may involve agreements that include covenants limiting or restricting our ability to
take specific actions such as incurring additional debt, making capital expenditures or declaring dividends. Any of the above could cause a
decline in our stock price.
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Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comment s.
None.
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Item 2. Propertie s.
Our corporate office is located in Tucker, Georgia. We do not own any properties. Below is a summary of properties leased by our
continuing operations as of December 31, 2019.
Lease
Expiration Date

Location

Tucker, Georgia
Astoria, New York (1)
Deer Park, Texas (2)
Dothan, Alabama
Jacksonville, Florida
Port Elgin, Ontario
Seymour, Indiana (3)

Approximate
Sq. Footage

March 31, 2023
March 31, 2020
April 30, 2020
Month to Month
August 30, 2022
April 30, 2022
April 30, 2020

24,000
7,000
900
1,100
10,708
8,005
1,406

Principal Uses

Administrative office (corporate headquarters)
Administrative office/warehouse
Administrative office
Administrative office
Administrative office/warehouse
Administrative office
Administrative office/warehouse

(1) The Company does not expect that it will renew its lease of office and warehouse space in Astoria, New York and is in the process
of locating an alternate facility.
(2) The Company intends to renew its lease of office space in Deer Park, Texas.
(3) The Company does not expect that it will renew its lease of office and warehouse space in Seymour, Indiana.
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Item 3. Legal Proceeding s.
Litigation and Claims
We are from time to time party to various lawsuits, claims and other proceedings that arise in the ordinary course of our business. With
respect to all such lawsuits, claims and proceedings, we record a reserve when it is probable that a liability has been incurred and the amount of
loss can be reasonably estimated. We do not believe that the resolution of any currently pending lawsuits, claims and proceedings, either
individually or in the aggregate, will have a material adverse effect on our financial position, results of operations or liquidity. However, the
outcomes of any currently pending lawsuits, claims and proceedings cannot be predicted, and therefore, there can be no assurance that this will be
the case.
The Company prevailed in a putative shareholder class action, which was captioned Budde v. Global Power Equipment Group Inc. and
filed in the U.S. District Court for the Northern District of Texas naming the Company and certain former officers as defendants. This action and
another action were filed on May 13, 2015 and June 23, 2015, respectively and, on July 29, 2015, the court consolidated the two actions and
appointed a lead plaintiff. Following the District Court’s dismissal with prejudice on September 11, 2018, Plaintiffs appealed the decision to the
United States Court of Appeals for the Fifth Circuit. The Fifth Circuit held oral arguments on August 5, 2019. On August 23, 2019, the Fifth
Circuit issued a per curiam decision affirming the District Court’s dismissal. Plaintiffs had until November 21, 2019, to petition for certiorari
review by the Supreme Court of the United States, but did not do so. The matter is now concluded.
Koontz-Wagner Bankruptcy
On July 11, 2018, Koontz-Wagner filed a voluntary petition for relief under Chapter 7 of Title 11 of the U.S. Bankruptcy Code with the
U.S. Bankruptcy Court for the Southern District of Texas. The filing was for Koontz-Wagner only, not for the Company as a whole, and was
completely separate and distinct from the Williams business and operations. Please refer to “Note 5—Changes in Business—Discontinued
Operations—Electrical Solutions” to the consolidated financial statements included in this Form 10-K for additional information.
For a description of our material pending legal and regulatory proceedings and settlements, please refer to “Note 15—Commitments and
Contingencies” to the consolidated financial statements included in this Form 10-K.
Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosure s.
Not applicable.
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Part II
Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equit y, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities.
Market Information
Our common stock is quoted on the OTCQX under the symbol “WLMS”. Any OTCQX quotations reflect inter-dealer prices, without
retail mark-up, mark-down or commissions and may not represent actual transactions. Such quotes are not necessarily representative of actual
transactions or of the value of our securities.
The trading volume for our common stock is relatively limited. An active trading market may not continue to provide adequate liquidity
for our existing stockholders or for persons who may acquire our common stock in the future.
Holders
As of March 20, 2020, there were 24,538,058 shares of our common stock outstanding and 120 holders of record of our common stock.
We believe that the number of beneficial holders of our common stock is substantially greater than the number of holders of record.
Dividends
We have not paid dividends to holders of our common stock since March 2015, and the terms of the New Centre Lane Facility and the
MidCap Facility currently prohibit us from paying cash dividends. In addition, declaration and payment of future dividends would depend on
many factors, including, but not limited to, our earnings, financial condition, business development needs, regulatory considerations and the
terms of the New Centre Lane Facility and MidCap Facility, and is at the discretion of our Board of Directors. We currently have no plan in place
to pay cash dividends. See “Part I—Item 1A. Risk Factors—We do not currently expect to pay any cash dividends on our common stock, so
investors may not receive any return on investment unless investors sell their shares of common stock for a price greater than that which
investors paid for them.”
Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities
During the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019, we did not sell any of our equity securities in transactions that were not registered
under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.
Purchases of Equity Securities by the Company and Affiliated Purchasers
Neither we, nor any “affiliated purchaser,” as defined in SEC Rule 10b-18(a)(3), purchased any of our equity securities during the three
months ended December 31, 2019.
Item 6. Selected Financial Dat a.
We are a smaller reporting company as defined by Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act and are not required to provide the information
required under this item.
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.
The following discussion provides an analysis of the results of our continuing operations, an overview of our liquidity and capital
resources and other items related to our business. It contains forward-looking statements about our future revenue, operating results and
expectations. See “Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements” and “Part I—Item 1A. Risk Factors” for a discussion of the risks,
assumptions and uncertainties affecting these statements. This discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with Part I of this Form 10K as well as our consolidated financial statements and notes thereto included in this Form 10-K.
Our Restructuring
During 2018, we completed the restructuring of our Company and also began expanding our service. Beginning in 2016, we shifted our
strategy to become a preferred provider of construction, maintenance and specialty services, to exit all product manufacturing businesses and to
use the proceeds from the sales to reduce and restructure our term debt. To effect this change, in the third quarter of 2017, we made the decision
to exit and sell substantially all of the operating assets and liabilities of our Mechanical Solutions segment, which we completed in the fourth
quarter of 2017, as described below. Additionally, during the fourth quarter of 2017, we made the decision to exit our Electrical Solutions
segment (which was comprised solely of Koontz-Wagner). We determined that these two segments met the definition of discontinued operations
and, as a result, they have been presented as discontinued operations for all periods presented. In October 2017, we sold substantially all of the
operating assets and liabilities of our Mechanical Solutions segment, including our manufacturing facility in Mexico. On July 11, 2018, KoontzWagner filed a voluntary petition for relief under Chapter 7 of Title 11 of the Bankruptcy Code with the U.S. Bankruptcy Court for the Southern
District of Texas. The filing was for Koontz-Wagner only, not for the Company as a whole, and was completely separate and distinct from the
Williams business and operations. Unless otherwise specified, the financial information and discussion in this Form 10-K are as of December 31,
2019 and are based on our continuing operations; they exclude any results of our discontinued operations. Please refer to “Note 5—Changes in
Business” to the consolidated financial statements included in this Form 10-K for additional information on our discontinued operations.
Industry Trends and Outlook
Electric Power Generation – We are primarily focused on nuclear and fossil power generation. We are involved in new build power
generation facilities, maintenance of existing facilities and the decommissioning of retired facilities. Net electricity generation in the U.S. was
relatively unchanged in 2019 compared to 2018. The EIA projects that electricity consumption will remain flat in the U.S. for 2020.
Nuclear New Builds – In nuclear power generation, we are heavily involved in the construction of the only new nuclear reactors being
built in the U.S. They are Plant Vogtle Units 3 and 4. In 2017, we formed a limited liability company with Bechtel Power Corporation, a global
leader in engineering, procurement, construction, and project management, Richmond County Constructors, LLC (“RCC”). RCC operates as
construction subcontractor to Bechtel Power Corporation, which has been selected as the prime construction contractor for the Plant Vogtle Units
3 and 4. RCC provides construction craft labor and supervision for the project. Williams is a 25% member in RCC. We also have won additional
scope of work outside RCC and are currently bidding on other opportunities for direct scope of work. Plant Vogtle Units 3 and 4 are expected to
become operative in 2021 and 2022, respectively.
Nuclear Decommissioning – Given the average age of nuclear facilities in the U.S., nuclear decommissioning represents the fastest
growing field within the nuclear industry. Since 2013 eight U.S. nuclear reactors have been retired with 10 more planned to shut down by 2025.
We are currently working with a major contractor in the decommissioning field and believe there may be an opportunity for us to expand our
capabilities and more broadly serve the decommissioning of nuclear power facilities. We are actively pursuing projects in the decommissioning
market and see this as an opportunity for future growth.
Oil and Gas – Innovation of new technologies is enhancing oil and gas production. These advances are driven from growth in the
consumption of natural gas, petroleum, and petrochemical products. The large swings in the price environment are requiring the industry as a
whole to be better equipped with upgraded facilities, new technologies, and better processes to reduce the risk of volatility. Despite the volatility
in prices, oil and gas hit record levels in 2019, with natural gas production exceeding 92.8 billion cubic feet per day and crude oil exceeding 12
million barrels per day. We are expanding our services to larger capital and maintenance projects in the oil and gas industry focusing on
refineries, process facilities, and midstream terminals.
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Water and Wastewater Treatment Landscape – Technological advances in order to keep up with population growth and industrial
capacity, is transforming the water and wastewater treatment industry. Nationally, the EPA estimates that the cost of replacing all 6.5 to 10
million lead service lines (LSLs) in the U.S could range from $16 billion to as much as $80 billion. We are expanding our services to target
capital projects and maintenance on booster pump stations, well buildouts, treatment expansions, and lift stations within the water and wastewater
treatment industry.
Other Fossil Fuel Power Generation – The reduction of coal-fired electricity production has reduced demand for routine maintenance,
plant upgrades, modification and new construction at U.S. coal-fired power generation facilities.
The U.S. EIA reported that natural gas-fired generation surpassed coal-fired generation and was the most common electricity fuel in
2016. As a result, we have seen the demand for routine maintenance, plant upgrades, modification and new construction in the gas-fired
generation market increase. We have maintained a presence in that market, primarily in capital projects for efficiency improvements. However,
because most of those plants are newer than their nuclear and coal counterparts, they require fewer upgrades, which means they also require less
maintenance than either coal or nuclear plants.
In early March of 2020, the market experienced a precipitous decline in oil prices in response to oil demand concerns due to the
economic impacts of the COVID-19 virus and anticipated increases in supply from Russia and OPEC, particularly Saudi Arabia. While the
impact of this oil price decline has yet to be felt in demand for our services, we expect that in response our customers will reduce activity during
this period of commodity price weakness and will also seek price reductions for our services. This current uncertainty gives us limited visibility
into near term demand for our services; Quarter-to-date through March 2020, the impact of the coronavirus outbreak on our financial
performance has not been significant. However, the extent to which the coronavirus may impact our future results is uncertain and depends on
future developments, including the duration and spread of the outbreak, as well as the impact on industrial production and manufacturing,
consumer spending, customers’ inventory supply chains, and demand for our services.
Results of Operations
The following summary and discussion of our results of operations is based on our continuing operations and excludes any results of our
discontinued operations. You should refer to this information, as well as the financial data provided in our consolidated financial statements and
related notes included in this Form 10-K, when reading our discussion and analysis of results of operations below.
Year Ended December 31,
2019
2018

(in thousands)

Revenue
Cost of revenue
Gross profit

$

245,787
214,887
30,900

$

188,918
160,177
28,741

Selling and marketing expenses
General and administrative expenses
Restructuring charges
Restatement expenses
Depreciation and amortization expense
Total operating expenses
Operating income (loss)

587
24,583
—
—
301
25,471
5,429

1,649
30,350
5,689
160
857
38,705
(9,964)

Interest expense, net
Other (income) expense, net
Income (loss) from continuing operations before income tax expense (benefit)
Income tax expense (benefit)
Income (loss) from continuing operations

6,032
(1,958)
1,355
333
1,022

8,990
(764)
(18,190)
(4,400)
(13,790)

$

$

Revenue for the year ended December 31, 2019 increased $56.9 million, or 30.1% compared with 2018. The increase in revenue was
due primarily to the volume of construction activities at Plant Vogtle Units 3 and 4, accounting for $19.3 million. Our recent entry into the
nuclear industry in Canada contributed $17.0 million in new business revenue. A portion of the growth was driven by a planned utility outage
related to our long term maintenance and modification contract accounting for $15.5 million. We also experienced growth in the oil and gas
industry-related revenue, which contributed $7.9 million of incremental revenue. These gains were partially offset by a $3.4 million decline in the
decommissioning business.
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Gross profit for the year ended December 31, 2019 increased $2.2 million, or 7.5% compared with 2018. This was primarily due to the
expansion into the nuclear industry in Canada and our growth in the oil and gas industry. The remaining increase can be attributed to various
projects in the nuclear and fossil markets, which included the early termination of a fixed price nuclear project that contributed $1.7 million in
revenue with no additional cost in the fourth quarter of 2019. These gains were partially offset by the recognition of a $1.3 million loss on a
fixed-price fossil fuel project through the third quarter of 2019, for which we recovered approximately $0.3 million in the fourth quarter of 2019.
Operating income (loss) for the year ended December 31, 2019 increased $15.4 million compared with 2018. The increase in operating
income was due to a $13.2 million decrease in operating expenses and the $2.2 million increase in gross profit discussed above. For the year
ended December 31, 2019, general and administrative expenses and restructuring charges decreased $5.8 million and $5.7 million, respectively,
due to the restructuring efforts undertaken and completed in 2018. Furthermore, selling and marketing expenses decreased $1.1 million, as a
result of our cost control efforts, and depreciation expense decreased $0.6 million. The Company also benefited from a $0.2 million decrease in
costs related to restatement expenses recognized in 2018 due to the wind-down of restatement activities in conjunction with the March 15, 2017
filing of the 2015 Report, which included the restatement of certain prior period financial results.
General and Administrative Expenses
Year Ended December 31,
2019
2018

($ in thousands)

Employee-related expenses
Stock-based compensation expense
Professional fees
Other expenses
Total

$

13,447
1,595
3,823
5,718
24,583

$

$

15,611
1,121
5,634
7,984
30,350

$

Total general and administrative expenses for the year ended December 31, 2019 decreased $5.8 million compared with 2018. For the
year ended December 31, 2019, total employee-related expenses decreased $2.2 million due primarily to our ongoing employee and employeerelated expense management efforts and a reduction in headcount compared with 2018. The decrease in employee-related expenses was partially
offset by costs recognized in connection with the retirement of our former Chief Financial Officer in June 2019, pursuant to the terms of his
employment agreement. Professional fees for the year ended December 31, 2019 decreased $1.8 million compared with 2018, primarily because
of the completion of our restructuring initiatives and becoming current with our SEC reporting obligations. Additionally, other expenses for the
year ended December 31, 2019 decreased $2.3 million compared with 2018. These decreases in general and administrative expenses for 2019
were partially offset by a $0.5 million increase in stock-based compensation expense compared with 2018.
Restructuring Charges
Year Ended December 31,
(in thousands)

2019

Lease
Severance
Total

$

2018

—
—
—

$

$

536
5,153
5,689

$

During 2018, we enacted our plan to significantly reduce corporate overhead and staff by consolidating all our administrative activities
in our Tucker, Georgia offices and, as a result, vacated our leased office space in Irving, Texas on September 30, 2018. In March 2019, we
subleased the Irving, Texas office space until November 2019, when the lease expired.
Other (Income) Expense, Net
Year Ended December 31,
2019
2018

($ in thousands)

Interest expense, net
Other income, net
Total

$
$

6,032
(1,958)
4,074

$
$

8,990
(764)
8,226

Total other expense, net, for the year ended December 31, 2019 decreased $4.2 million compared with 2018. Interest expense, net
decreased $3.0 million due to a lower weighted average interest rate on our long-term borrowings, partially offset by higher outstanding debt
obligations. The weighted average interest rate on borrowings under the New Centre Lane Facility for the year ended December 31, 2019 was
12.5%.
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In addition, other income, net increased $1.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2019 compared with 2018 as a result of an $0.5
million increase in income from the Company’s 25% interest in an equity method investment and a $0.4 million net settlement on disputes
related to the sale of our former Mechanical Solutions segment. These increases were partially offset by a decrease in loss on disposal of assets
related to our 2018 restructuring activities.
Income Tax Expense (Benefit)
Year Ended December 31,
($ in thousands)

2019

Income tax expense (benefit)

$

2018

333

$

(4,400)

We recorded income tax expense from continuing operations of $0.3 million and income tax benefit from continuing operations of $4.4
million in 2019 and 2018, respectively. Our effective tax rates from continuing operations were 24.6% and 24.2% for the years ended December
31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.
The income tax expense in 2019 was mainly comprised of a $0.3 million tax expense for a net increase in deferred tax liabilities related
to an increase in indefinite-lived intangible deferred tax liabilities, partially offset by indefinite-lived deferred tax assets created by the 2017 Tax
Act.
The Tax Act required companies to pay a one-time transition tax on earnings of certain foreign subsidiaries that were previously tax
deferred. Therefore, we recorded a provisional liability of the transition tax of $2.6 million in 2017.
Discontinued Operations
Please refer to “Note 5—Changes in Business” to the consolidated financial statements included in this Form 10-K for information
regarding discontinued operations.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
During 2019, our principal source of liquidity was borrowings under the MidCap Facility. Our principal uses of cash were to pay for
customer contract-related material, labor and subcontract labor, operating expenses, interest expense on the New Centre Lane Facility and the
MidCap Facility and exit costs resulting from the Koontz-Wagner bankruptcy. Exit costs related to the Koontz-Wagner bankruptcy were included
in loss from discontinued operations in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018.
See discussion in “Note 11—Debt” and “Note 5—Changes in Business” to the consolidated financial statements included in this Form 10-K.
Net Cash Flows
Our net consolidated cash flows, including cash flows related to discontinued operations, consisted of the following:
Year Ended December 31,
2019
2018

(in thousands)

Cash flows provided by (used in):
Operating activities
Investing activities
Financing activities
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash
Net change in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash

$

$

(3,839) $
(242)
6,896
61
2,876 $

(14,422)
182
3,026
—
(11,214)

Cash and Cash Equivalents
As of December 31, 2019, our operating unrestricted cash and cash equivalents increased $2.9 million to $7.4 million. As of December
31, 2019, $4.4 million of its operating cash balance is held in U.S. bank accounts and $2.9 in Canadian bank accounts.
At March 20, 2020, we had $4.6 million in unrestricted cash and cash equivalents that could be used, along with normal cash flows from
operations, to fund certain unanticipated shortfalls in future cash flows.
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Operating Activities
Cash flows from operating activities result primarily from earnings sources and are affected by changes in operating assets and
liabilities, which consist primarily of working capital balances related to our projects. For the year ended December 31, 2019, cash used by
operating activities decreased $10.6 million to $3.8 million. The decrease in our usage of cash during 2019 was partially attributed to an increased
focus on our efforts to track and collect on receivables from our customers.
During 2019, our working capital decreased $1.8 million, or 16.6%, to $8.8 million from $10.6 million at December 31, 2018. The
decrease in working capital was primarily due to a $13.7 million increase in accounts payable and a $7.6 million increase in short-term
borrowings. These increases were partially offset by a $2.9 million increase in cash and cash equivalents, a $15.5 million increase in accounts
receivable, net and a $1.8 million decrease in accrued compensation and benefits.
Investing Activities
For the year ended December 31, 2019, our investing activities did not have a significant impact on our net cash flows.
Financing Activities
For the year ended December 31, 2019, net cash provided by financing activities increased $3.9 million. The MidCap Facility grants the
lender dominion over our depository bank accounts. As such, our weekly borrowings under the MidCap Facility are our primary source of
liquidity. During the year ended December 31, 2019, our borrowings under the MidCap Facility exceeded our repayments from customer cash
receipts by $7.6 million. At any point in time, the outstanding balance under the MidCap Facility is a function of the timing of collections of our
customer cash receipts and the timing of our cash expenditure needs for the following week for payment of trade payable obligations and payroll
and related tax obligations. For additional information about our outstanding debt, including our outstanding term loan, please refer to “Note 11
—Debt” to the consolidated financial statements included in this Form 10-K.
Effect of Exchange Rate Changes on Cash
For the year ended December 31, 2019, the effect of Canadian foreign exchange rate changes on our cash balances was not material. For
the year ended December 31, 2018, our cash flows were not impacted by fluctuations in foreign currency.
Dividends
We have not declared dividends since the first quarter of 2015 and do not anticipate declaring dividends in the near term. As of
December 31, 2019, the terms of the New Centre Lane Facility and MidCap Facility restricted our ability to pay dividends. In addition, the timing
and amounts of any dividends would be subject to determination and approval by our Board of Directors.
Amendments to Debt Facilities
Amendment to the New Centre Lane Facility. On January 13, 2020 (the “CL Closing Date”), we entered into the Third Amendment to
the New Centre Lane Facility (the “Centre Lane Amendment”), which, among other things, changed the leverage ratio requirement to a “net”
leverage ratio, enabling the Company to net unrestricted cash and cash equivalents in excess of $2.5 million against its Total Debt (as defined in
the New Centre Lane Facility) when determining the total net leverage ratio; amended the calculation of Consolidated Adjusted EBITDA (as
defined in the New Centre Lane Facility); revised the required levels of the total net leverage ratio and minimum Consolidated Adjusted EBITDA
for certain future periods; decreased the minimum required liquidity to $1.5 million; increased the prepayment premium required when
voluntarily prepaying amounts outstanding under the New Centre Lane Facility to 2% for the year following the CL Closing Date and 1% for the
second year following the CL Closing Date; required the payment of a $175,000 amendment fee; and made certain other changes to the New
Centre Lane Facility, in each case subject to the terms and conditions of the Centre Lane Amendment.
Amendment to the MidCap Facility. On January 13, 2020 (the “MC Closing Date”), we entered into the Third Amendment to the
MidCap Facility (the “MidCap Amendment”), which, among other things, extended the maturity date of the revolving loan facility by one year to
October 11, 2022 and increased the maximum available principal amount of revolving loans by $10.0 million to $25.0 million. The MidCap
Amendment also changed the leverage ratio requirement to a “net” leverage ratio, enabling the Company to net unrestricted cash and cash
equivalents in excess of $2.5 million against its Total
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Debt (as defined in the MidCap Facility) when determining the total net leverage ratio; amended the calculation of Consolidated Adjusted
EBITDA (as defined in the MidCap Facility); revised the required levels of the total net leverage ratio and minimum Consolidated Adjusted
EBITDA for certain future periods; required the payment of a $150,000 amendment fee; increased the monthly collateral management fee and a
certain prepayment fee; and made certain other changes to the MidCap Facility, in each case subject to the terms and conditions of the MidCap
Amendment.
In addition to the above modifications, both the Centre Lane Amendment and the MidCap Amendment required certain Canadian
subsidiaries of the Company to become guarantors of the Company’s obligations under the respective credit agreement and to grant liens on
substantially all of their assets to secure such guarantees, and the Company was required to complete the Rights Offering on or before March 13,
2020, which successfully occurred. We do not have any obligation to repay debt under the MidCap Facility with the proceeds of the Rights
Offering and Centre Lane has agreed to exclude the proceeds of the Rights Offering from the applicable mandatory prepayment provisions of the
New Centre Lane Facility. For additional information regarding the New Centre Lane Facility and the MidCap Facility, please refer to “Note 11
—Debt” to the consolidated financial statements included in this Form 10-K.
Liquidity Outlook
Overall, we expect liquidity to continue to improve through 2020 as a result of exiting our former loss-generating businesses and
reducing our ongoing operating expenses. However, we may experience periodic short-term constraints on our liquidity as a result of the cash
flow requirements of specific projects. A high percentage of our cost of service comes from weekly craft labor payrolls, and the lag between
incurrence of those payrolls and the subsequent collection of the resulting customer billings results in negative cash flows for that lag period.
Although we utilize the MidCap Facility to address those lag period negative cash flows, contract terms restricting customer invoicing frequency,
delays in customer payments, and underlying surety bonds negatively impact our availability under the MidCap Facility. Additionally, we
anticipate the remaining cash expenditures resulting from our 2018 restructuring plan will be related to the pension liability recorded as a result
of the Koontz-Wagner bankruptcy. The pension liability is expected to be satisfied by annual cash payments of $0.3 million each, paid in
quarterly installments, over the next twenty years.
We believe that we have sufficient resources to satisfy our 2020 working capital requirements, as we amended our existing credit
facilities with Centre Lane and MidCap on January 13, 2020, as described above. In addition, we successfully completed our Rights Offering,
which expired March 2, 2020, pursuant to which we issued 5,384,615 shares of our common stock and received net proceeds of $6.6 million. Due
to oversubscriptions under the Rights Offering, Wynnefield Capital, Inc., was not required to backstop the Rights Offering. We intend to use the
net proceeds from the Rights Offering, combined with the additional borrowing capacity provided by our amended MidCap Facility, for working
capital and general corporate purposes to fund certain of our strategic growth initiatives. In the event that we are unable to address potential
liquidity shortfalls in the future, management will need to seek additional funding, which may not be available on reasonable terms, if at all, and
may result in management concluding that our liquidity position raises substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern.
In addition, COVID-19 continues to spread globally and, as of March 2020, has spread to over 100 countries, including the United
States. The full extent of the outbreak, related business and travel restrictions and changes to behavior intended to reduce its spread are uncertain
and continue to evolve as of the date of this report. Therefore, the full extent to which coronavirus may impact the Company’s results of
operations or liquidity is uncertain. Management continues to monitor the impact that the COVID-19 pandemic is having on the Company and
our industry in general. The Company anticipates that its future results of operations, including the results for 2020, will be impacted by the
coronavirus outbreak, but at this time does not currently expect that the impact from the coronavirus outbreak will have a material effect on the
Company’s liquidity or financial position. However, given the speed and frequency of continuously evolving developments with respect to this
pandemic, the Company cannot reasonably estimate the magnitude of the impact to its results of operations, and, if the outbreak continues on its
current trajectory, such impacts could grow and become material to its liquidity or financial position. To the extent that the Company’s customers
and suppliers continue to be materially and adversely impacted by the coronavirus outbreak, this could reduce the availability, or result in delays,
of materials or supplies to or from the Company, which in turn could materially interrupt the Company’s business operations.
Off‑Balance Sheet Transactions
Our liquidity is currently not dependent on the use of off-balance sheet transactions but, in line with industry practice, we are often
required to provide payment and performance surety bonds to customers and may be required to provide letters of credit. If performance
assurances are extended to customers, generally our maximum potential exposure is limited in the contract with our customers. We frequently
obtain similar performance assurances from third-party vendors and subcontractors
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for work performed in the ordinary course of contract execution. However, the total costs of a project could exceed our original cost estimates,
and we could experience reduced gross profit or possibly a loss for a given project. In some cases, if we fail to meet certain performance
standards, we may be subject to contractual liquidated damages.
As of December 31, 2019, we had a contingent liability for issued and outstanding standby letters of credit, generally issued to secure
performance on customer contracts. As of December 31, 2019, we had $1.8 million of outstanding standby letters of credit and there were no
amounts drawn upon these letters of credit. In addition, as of December 31, 2019, we had outstanding payment and performance surety bonds on
projects of $59.3 million.
Contractual Obligations
We are a smaller reporting company as defined by Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act and are not required to provide this information.
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
The preparation of our consolidated financial statements and related notes requires us to make judgments, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses and related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. We have
based our estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances, the
results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. Actual results may differ materially from these estimates under different assumptions and conditions.
An accounting policy is considered critical if it requires an accounting estimate to be made based on assumptions about matters that are
highly uncertain at the time the estimate is made, and if different estimates that reasonably could have been used, or changes in the accounting
estimates that are reasonably likely to occur periodically, could materially impact the consolidated financial statements. We believe that the
following critical accounting policies reflect the significant estimates and assumptions used in the preparation of our consolidated financial
statements. The following descriptions of critical accounting policies, judgments and estimates should be read in conjunction with our
consolidated financial statements included in this Form 10-K.
Revenue Recognition. We provide construction, maintenance and support services to customers in energy, power and industrial end
markets. Our services, which are provided through long-term maintenance or discrete project agreements, are designed to improve or sustain our
customers’ operating efficiencies and extend the useful lives of their process equipment. The contracts are awarded on a competitively bid and
negotiated basis with the majority structured as cost-plus arrangements and the remainder as lump-sum.
Our contracts generally include a single performance obligation for which revenue is recognized over time, as performance obligations
are satisfied, due to the continuous transfer of control to the customer. For cost-plus contracts, we recognize revenue when services are performed
and contractually billable based upon the hours incurred and agreed-upon hourly rates. Revenue on fixed-price contracts is recognized and
invoiced over time using the cost-to-cost percentage-of-completion method. To the extent a contract is deemed to have multiple performance
obligations, we allocate the transaction price of the contract to each performance obligation using our best estimate of the standalone selling price
of each distinct good or service in the contract. We do not adjust the price of the contract for the effects of a significant financing component.
Change orders are generally not distinct from the existing contract due to the significant integration service provided in the context of the contract
and are accounted for as a modification of the existing contract and performance obligation. We believe these methods of revenue recognition
most accurately reflect the economics of the transactions with our customers.
Our contracts may include several types of variable consideration, including change orders, rate true-up provisions, retainage, claims,
incentives, penalties and liquidated damages. We estimate the amount of revenue to be recognized on variable consideration using estimation
methods that best predict the amount of consideration to which we expect to be entitled. We include variable consideration in the estimated
transaction price to the extent it is probable that a significant reversal of cumulative revenue recognized will not occur or when the uncertainty
associated with the variable consideration is resolved. Our estimates of variable consideration and determination of whether to include estimated
amounts in the transaction price are based on an assessment of our anticipated performance and all information (historical, current and forecasted)
that is reasonably available. We update our estimate of the transaction price each reporting period and the effect of variable consideration on the
transaction price is recognized as an adjustment to revenue on a cumulative catch-up basis. In circumstances where we cannot reasonably
determine the outcome of a contract, we recognize revenue over time as the work is performed, but only to the extent of recoverable costs
incurred (i.e. zero margin). A loss provision is recorded for the amount of any estimated
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unrecoverable costs in excess of total estimated revenue on a contract as soon as we become aware. We generally provide a limited warranty for a
term of two years or less following completion of services performed under our contracts. Historically, warranty claims have not resulted in
material costs incurred.
Long-Lived Assets. Long-lived assets, such as property, plant and equipment, and purchased intangible assets subject to amortization,
are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the asset may not be recoverable.
If circumstances require a long-lived asset held for use to be tested for possible impairment, we first compare the undiscounted cash flows
expected to be generated by the asset to the carrying value of the asset. If the carrying value of the asset exceeds expected future cash flows, the
excess of the carrying value over the estimated fair value is charged to impairment expense in the consolidated statements of operations. Assets
held for sale are reported at the lower of their carrying value, less estimated costs to sell. Fair value is determined through various valuation
techniques, including discounted cash flow models, quoted market values and third-party independent appraisals, as considered necessary. We
group long-lived assets by legal entity for purposes of recognition and measurement of an impairment loss, as this is the lowest level for which
cash flows are independent.
Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets. Goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets are tested for impairment annually as of October
1 and whenever events or circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. Our indefinite-lived intangible asset consists of
the Williams trade name. Our testing of goodwill for potential impairment involves the comparison of each reporting unit’s carrying value to its
estimated fair value, which is determined using a combination of income and market approaches.
For purposes of the income approach, fair value is determined based on the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at
an appropriate risk-adjusted rate. We use our internal forecasts to estimate future cash flows and include an estimate of long-term future growth
rates based on our most recent views of the long-term outlook for our reporting unit. Under the market approach, the fair value is determined by
utilizing comparative market multiples in the valuation estimates. The fair value of our Williams reporting unit exceeded book value at December
31, 2019.
Similarly, the testing of our trade names for potential impairment involves the comparison of the carrying value for each trade name to
its estimated fair value, which is determined using the relief from royalty method.
Impairment write-downs are charged to results of operations in the period in which the impairment is determined. We recorded no
impairment write-downs in 2019.
Income Taxes. We account for income taxes using the asset and liability method under which deferred tax assets and liabilities are
recognized for the estimated future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing
assets and liabilities and their respective tax basis. We measure deferred tax assets and liabilities using enacted tax rates expected to be applied to
taxable income in the years in which those differences are expected to be recovered or settled. We recognize income as a result of changes in tax
rates on deferred tax assets and liabilities in the period that includes the enactment date.
Under Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 740—Income Taxes, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (the “FASB”)
requires companies to assess whether valuation allowances should be established against their deferred tax assets based on the consideration of
all available positive and negative evidence and utilizing a “more likely than not” standard. In making such assessments, significant weight is
given to evidence that can be objectively verified. A company’s current or previous operating history is given more weight than its future
outlook, although we do consider future taxable income projections, ongoing tax planning strategies and the limitation on the use of carryforward
losses in determining valuation allowance needs. We establish valuation allowances for our deferred tax assets if, based on the available
evidence, it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized.
During the ordinary course of business, there are many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is
uncertain. We recognize the tax benefit from uncertain tax positions only if it is more likely than not to be sustained on examination by the taxing
authorities, based on the technical merits of the position. The tax benefits recognized in the financial statements from such a position are based on
the largest benefit that has a greater than fifty percent likelihood of being realized upon ultimate settlement. We believe that our benefits and
accruals recognized are appropriate for all open audit years based on our assessment of many factors, including past experience and interpretation
of tax law. This assessment relies on estimates and assumptions and may involve a series of complex judgments about future events. To the extent
that the final tax outcome of these matters is determined to be different than the amounts recorded, those differences will impact income tax
expense in the period in which the determination is made.
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Tax Cuts and Jobs Acts of 2017
On December 22, 2017, the Tax Act was signed into law, making significant changes to the Internal Revenue Code. Such changes
include, but are not limited to, a U.S. federal corporate tax rate decrease from 35% to 21% effective for tax years beginning after December 31,
2017, the transition of U.S. international taxation from a worldwide tax system to a territorial system, and a one-time transition tax on the
mandatory deemed repatriation of cumulative foreign earnings as of December 31, 2017.
Due to changes in interpretations and assumptions, and future guidance that may be issued and actions we may take in response to the
Tax Act, the ultimate impact of the Tax Act may change in future periods. The Tax Act is highly complex, and we will continue to assess the
impact of certain aspects of the Tax Act. For additional information, please refer to “Note 9—Income Taxes” to the consolidated financial
statements included in this Form 10-K.
Insurance. The Company maintains insurance coverage for most insurable aspects of its business and operations. The Company’s
insurance programs, including, but not limited to, health, general liability and workers’ compensation, have varying coverage limits depending
upon the type of insurance. We retain exposure to potential losses based on deductibles, coverage limits and retentions. For the year ended
December 31, 2019 and 2018, insurance expense, including insurance premiums related to the excess claim coverage and claims incurred for
continuing operations, was $2.8 million and $2.1 million, respectively.
The Company’s consolidated balance sheets include amounts representing its probable estimated liability related to insurance-related
claims that are known and have been asserted against the Company, and for insurance-related claims that are believed to have been incurred, but
had not yet been reported as of December 31, 2019 and 2018. As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Company provided $0.8 million and $1.1
million, respectively, in letters of credit and provided cash collateral of $0.2 million and $0.3 million, respectively, as security for possible
workers’ compensation claims.
Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements
In December 2019, the FASB Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2019-12, “Income Taxes”, which simplifies the accounting for
income taxes by removing certain exceptions for investments, intraperiod allocations and interim calculations, and adding guidance to reduce
complexity in accounting for income taxes. The update is effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2020, and interim periods
within those fiscal years. Early adoption is permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the impact this ASU will have on its results of
operations, financial position and cash flows.
In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-15, “Intangibles—Goodwill and Other Internal-Use Software (Subtopic 350-40).” This
update aligns the requirements for capitalizing costs incurred in a hosting arrangement that is a service contract with the requirements for
capitalizing implementation costs incurred to develop or obtain internal use software, including hosting arrangements that are service contracts,
over the term of the hosting arrangement. Further, this update requires the presentation of the expense in the statement of income, the presentation
of the costs on the statement of financial position and the classification of payments in the statement of cash flows related to capitalized
implementation costs to be treated the same as the fees of the associated hosting arrangement. The update is effective for annual periods
beginning after December 15, 2019, and interim periods within those fiscal years. Early adoption is permitted. The Company does not expect that
this ASU will have a material impact on its results of operations, financial position and cash flows.
In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-13, “Fair Value Measurement (Topic 820).” This amendment update modifies disclosure
requirements related to fair value measurement and will be effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019 and interim periods
within those fiscal years. Implementation on a prospective or retrospective basis varies by specific disclosure requirement. Early adoption is
permitted, and the standard allows for early adoption of any removed or modified disclosures upon issuance of the update, while delaying
adoption of the additional disclosures until their effective date. The Company is currently evaluating this guidance to determine the impact it may
have on its disclosures. The Company does not expect that this guidance will have a material impact on its disclosures.
Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.
We are a smaller reporting company as defined by Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act and are not required to provide the information
required under this item.
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Dat a.
The financial statements and other information required by this Item are contained in the consolidated financial statements and related
notes thereto contained elsewhere in this report.
Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.
None.
Item 9A. Controls and Procedures.
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
Disclosure controls and procedures are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in our reports under the Exchange
Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms, and that such information is
accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer, as appropriate, to
allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure based on the definition of “disclosure controls and procedures” in Rules 13a-15(e) or 15d15(e) of the Exchange Act. In designing and evaluating disclosure controls and procedures, management recognizes that any controls and
procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control objectives.
Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting
Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting as defined in Rules
13a-15(f) or 15d-15(f) of the Exchange Act. Our internal control over financial reporting is designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding
the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with GAAP.
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Because of the
inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues within a company are
detected. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial
Officer, we conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2019, utilizing the
criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSO”) in the Internal Control–Integrated
Framework (2013). The COSO framework summarizes each of the components of a company’s internal control system, including (i) the control
environment, (ii) risk assessment, (iii) control activities, (iv) information and communication and (v) monitoring. Based on this evaluation, our
management concluded that we had effective internal controls over financial reporting as of December 31, 2019.
Remediation of Material Weaknesses in Internal Control over Financial Reporting Disclosed in our Annual Report for the Year Ended
December 31, 2018
A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal controls over financial reporting, such that there is a
reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely
basis.
We reported a number of material weaknesses in Item 9A of our Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2018 and, because of
these material weaknesses, we concluded that we did not maintain effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2018.
We disclosed the following material weaknesses in our control environment and monitoring listed in our Form 10-K for the year ended December
31, 2018:
·

We did not implement effective oversight of our finance and accounting processes (including organizational structure and
reporting hierarchy), which impacted our ability to make appropriate accounting determinations.
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·

We did not effectively design and implement appropriate oversight controls over our period-end financial closing and
reporting processes, and our review controls were not sufficient to ensure that errors would be detected in both routine and
non-routine financial information.

·

We did not maintain a sufficient complement of qualified personnel with the requisite level of technical expertise to
effectively analyze, review and conclude upon technical accounting matters and, therefore, we were unable to successfully
navigate such accounting matters and accurately report them in a timely manner.

·

We did not effectively monitor (review, evaluate assess) the risks associated with key internal control activities that provide
the accounting information contained in our financial statements.

We had material weaknesses related to internal control monitoring and activities to support the financial reporting process:
·

We did not maintain effective controls over journal entries to ensure that journal entries were properly prepared with
sufficient supporting documentation or were reviewed and approved in a manner that provided reasonable assurance over the
accuracy and completeness of the journal entries.

·

We did not maintain effective controls over the monitoring and review of general ledger accounts, and as a result, account
reconciliations and analysis were not performed at an appropriate level of detail and reconciling items were not resolved and
adjusted on a timely basis.

·

We did not design and maintain effective controls to provide reasonable assurance over the accuracy and completeness
relating to:
o

Tracking and completeness of work-in-process;

o

Matching cost of goods sold with related revenue;

o

Reviewing contract performance to estimate expected contract losses in a timely manner;

o

Properly reviewing, recognizing and recording the full scope of contracts and contract modifications with our
customers;

o

Estimating accrued liabilities; and

o

Safeguarding of physical assets.

We had material weaknesses related to information technology general controls:
·

We did not maintain effective controls over user access to key spreadsheets to prevent unauthorized modifications to formulas
within key spreadsheet applications and to detect unauthorized changes or errors in key spreadsheet applications.

·

We did not maintain effective controls over user roles within accounting systems to allow for proper segregation of duties.

·

We determined that review processes and activities that relied on electronic data generated from our systems were
ineffectively designed and incorrectly operated because of material weakness in information technology general controls.

These material weaknesses impacted our accounting for revenue recognition, work-in-process costing, cost of goods sold recognition
and accrued liabilities.
During 2019, we designed a remediation plan to strengthen our financial reporting and accounting functions and have taken remediation
steps to address these material weaknesses. We also continue to take meaningful steps to enhance our disclosure controls and procedures and our
internal control over financial reporting by strengthening our financial reporting and accounting functions.
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In order to remediate the material weaknesses in our control environment, we engaged an outside firm to assist with the design and
implementation of a comprehensive risk-based internal controls plan, including detailed internal controls, updated procedures, forms, checklists,
and process flows with roles and responsibilities defined. The firm also completed substantial testing of the internal controls and has been
retained to continue monitoring the effectiveness of the controls by performing periodic testing and walk-throughs. This firm will report
deficiencies based on future monitoring directly to our Chief Compliance Officer and will evaluate remediation of any deficiencies within a
defined period of time.
We restructured our finance and accounting department, upgraded key positions, and trained all employees on the new internal controls.
We modified our reporting structure to more clearly define roles, responsibilities, and decisional authority, and to ensure appropriate segregation
of duties.
Additional controls were added to ensure more complete and accurate reporting of revenue recognition. Procedures and processes were
developed for both accounting and operations personnel relating to job and change order documentation, more rigorous and inclusive reporting
process for job cost, estimates at completion, job status, and potential risks that affect revenue recognition.
Our procedures relating to key accounting functions, including the documentation, review and approval of journal entries and account
reconciliations and our financial statement close process, which includes monthly checklists with appropriate separation between preparer and
approver, have been completed along with training of all applicable employees.
To enhance our information technology controls, we consolidated our data centers and implemented quarterly reviews of system
permissions to restrict user access as appropriate and verify effective segregation of duties.
Finally, we have enhanced the level of communication and access to the internal controls and related policies, procedures, forms,
checklists, and process flows for our accounting employees in an effort to remediate the material weakness in our monitoring efforts. These
actions are subject to ongoing senior management review and Audit Committee oversight.
Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
Except for the remediation measures described above, there were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting identified in
connection with the evaluation required by Rule 13a-15(d) and 15d-15(d) of the Exchange Act that occurred during the fourth quarter 2019 that
have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
This Form 10-K does not include an attestation report of our independent registered public accounting firm regarding internal control
over financial reporting. Management’s report was not subject to attestation by our independent registered public accounting firm pursuant to
rules of the SEC that permit us to provide only management’s report in this Form 10-K.

Item 9B. Other Informatio n.
None.
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Part II I
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance.
The information required by Item 10 with respect to our executive officers is included in Part I of this Form 10-K under the caption
“Information about our Executive Officers”. The other information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference to the information
included under the captions “Proposal No. 1 – Election of Directors,” “Delinquent Section 16(a) Reports,” and “The Board, its Committees and
its Compensation – Board Leadership Structure and Committee Composition – Audit Committee” in our Proxy Statement for the 2020 Annual
Meeting of Stockholders, which we plan to file within 120 days after December 31, 2019, the end of our fiscal year.
The Board of Directors has adopted a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, which outlines the principles of legal and ethical business
conduct under which we do business. The Code of Business Conduct and Ethics is applicable to all of our directors, officers and employees. The
Code of Business Conduct and Ethics is available under the heading “Governance — Governance Documents” of the Investor Relations section
of our website at http://www.wisgrp.com. Upon written request to our Corporate Secretary sent to our principal executive offices, we will provide
a copy of the Code of Business Conduct and Ethics free of charge. Any substantive amendment of the Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, and
any waiver of the Code of Business Conduct and Ethics for executive officers or directors, will be made only after approval by the Board or a
committee of the Board, and will be disclosed on our website. In addition, any such waiver will be disclosed within four days on a Form 8-K filed
with the SEC if then required by applicable rules and regulations.
Item 11. Executive Compensation.
The information required by Item 11 is incorporated by reference to the information included under the captions “Executive
Compensation” “The Board, its Committees and its Compensation – Director Compensation” and “2019 Director Compensation” in our Proxy
Statement for the 2020 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.
Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters.
The information required by Item 12 is incorporated by reference to the information included under the captions “Executive
Compensation – Equity Compensation Plan Information” and “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management” in our Proxy
Statement for the 2020 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.
Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions , and Director Independence.
The information required by Item 13 is incorporated by reference to the information included under the captions “Certain Relationships
and Related Transactions” and “The Board, its Committees and its Compensation – Director Independence” in our Proxy Statement for the 2020
Annual Meeting of Stockholders.
Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services.
The information required by Item 14 is incorporated by reference to the information included under the caption “Proposal No. 2 –
Ratification of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm” in our Proxy Statement for the 2020 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.
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Part IV
Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules.
Documents filed as part of this Report:
Financial Statements: The following report of our independent accountants and our consolidated financial statements are set forth in the
index beginning on page F-1:
·

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

·

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2019 and 2018

·

Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018

·

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss) for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018

·

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018

·

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018

·

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

All other schedules are omitted because they are not applicable or the required information is shown in the consolidated financial
statements or the notes thereto.
List of Exhibits
We agree to furnish to the SEC, upon request, copies of any long-term debt instruments that authorize an amount of securities
constituting 10% or less of the total assets of Williams on a consolidated basis.
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Exhibit
3.1
3.2
3.3
3.4
4.1
4.2
10.1
10.2
10.3

10.4
10.5
10.6
10.7
10.8
10.9
10.10

10.11
10.12
10.13
10.14
10.15

Description
Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Company (filed as Exhibit 3.1 to our Form 10 (Commission
File No. 001‑16501) filed with the Commission on April 30, 2010 and incorporated herein by reference).
Certificate of Amendment, dated June 30, 2010, to the Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the
Company (filed as Exhibit 3.2 to our Amendment No. 2 to Form 10 filed with the Commission on July 20, 2010 and
incorporated herein by reference).
Second Certificate of Amendment, dated June 27, 2018, to the Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the
Company (filed as Exhibit 3.1 to our Form 8-K filed with the Commission on June 29, 2018 and incorporated herein by
reference).
Fourth Amended and Restated By-Laws of the Company (filed as Exhibit 3.2 to our Form 8-K filed with the Commission on
June 29, 2018 and incorporated herein by reference).
Form of Common Stock Certificate (filed as Exhibit 4.1 to our Form 8-K filed with the Commission on June 29, 2018 and
incorporated herein by reference).
Description of the Company’s Common Stock.
Amended and Restated Incentive Compensation Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to our Form 10‑Q filed with the Commission on
May 16, 2011 and incorporated herein by reference).*
2011 Equity Incentive Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to our Form 8‑K filed with the Commission on May 24, 2011 and incorporated
herein by reference).*
Election and Nomination Agreement, dated as of June 1, 2016 and effective May 25, 2016, by and among (i) Wynnefield
Partners Small Cap Value, L.P., Wynnefield Partners Small Cap Value, L.P. I, Wynnefield Small Cap Value Offshore
Fund, Ltd., Wynnefield Capital, Inc. Profit Sharing & Money Purchase Plan, Wynnefield Capital Management, LLC, and
Wynnefield Capital, Inc. and (ii) the Company (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to our Form 8‑K filed with the Commission on June 1, 2016
and incorporated herein by reference).
Short‑Term Incentive Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to our Form 8‑K filed with the Commission on February 26, 2013 and
incorporated herein by reference).*
Form of Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement, dated as of March 23, 2015, by and between Terence Cryan and the Company
(filed as Exhibit 10.3 to our Form 8‑K filed with the Commission on March 23, 2015 and incorporated herein by reference).*
2015 Equity Incentive Plan (as amended and restated as of June 10, 2019) (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to our Form 8-K filed with the
Commission on June 11, 2019 and incorporated herein by reference).*
Employment Agreement, dated as of June 26, 2015, by and between Terence J. Cryan and the Company (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to
our Form 8‑K filed with the Commission on July 2, 2015 and incorporated herein by reference).*
Executive Severance Plan, as Amended and Restated on August 19, 2015 (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to our Form 8‑K filed with the
Commission on September 25, 2015 and incorporated herein by reference).*
Stock Purchase Agreement, dated January 13, 2017, by and between the Company, as Seller, and Chart Lifecycle, Inc., as
Buyer, relating to the sale of Hetsco Holdings, Inc., which is the sole stockholder of Hetsco, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 10.63 to our
Form 10-K filed with the Commission on March 15, 2017 and incorporated herein by reference).
Securities Purchase Agreement, dated October 11, 2017, by and between the Company, Braden Holdings, LLC and GPEG C.V.,
as Sellers, and Innova Global Europe B.V., Innova Global Inc., Innova Global Operating Ltd. and 1938247 Alberta Ltd., as
Buyers (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to our Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2017, filed with the Commission on December
19, 2017 and incorporated herein by reference).
Form of Time‑Based Restricted Share Unit Agreement (filed as Exhibit 10.65 to our Form 10-K filed with the Commission on
March 15, 2017 and incorporated herein by reference).*
Form of Performance‑Based Restricted Share Unit Agreement. (filed as Exhibit 10.66 to our Form 10-K filed with the
Commission on March 15, 2017 and incorporated herein by reference).*
Form of Time-Based Restricted Share Unit Agreement (dated April 17, 2017) (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to our Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended June 30, 2017, filed with the Commission on December 19, 2017 and incorporated herein by reference).*
Form of Performance-Based Restricted Share Unit Agreement (dated April 17, 2017) (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to our Form 10-Q
for the quarter ended June 30, 2017, filed with the Commission on December 19, 2017 and incorporated herein by reference).*
Form of Cash-Based Award Agreement (dated April 17, 2017) (filed as Exhibit 10.3 to our Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
June 30, 2017, filed with the Commission on December 19, 2017 and incorporated herein by reference).*
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10.16

Senior Secured Credit Agreement, dated as of September 18, 2018, by and among the Company, as Borrower, the lenders from
time to time party thereto and Centre Lane Partners Master Credit Fund II, L.P., as Administrative Agent and Collateral Agent
(filed as Exhibit 10.3 to our Form 10-Q filed with the Commission on November 14, 2018 and incorporated herein by
reference).

10.17

First Amendment to Senior Secured Credit Agreement, dated as of October 9, 2019, by and among the Company, as Borrower,
the lenders from time to time party thereto and Centre Lane Partners Master Credit Fund II, L.P., as Administrative Agent and
Collateral Agent.♦

10.18

Second Amendment to Senior Secured Credit Agreement, dated as of November 13, 2019, by and among the Company, as
Borrower, the lenders from time to time party thereto and Centre Lane Partners Master Credit Fund II, L.P., as Administrative
Agent and Collateral Agent.♦

10.19

Third Amendment to Senior Secured Credit Agreement, dated as of January 13, 2020, by and among the Company, as Borrower,
the lenders from time to time party thereto and Centre Lane Partners Master Credit Fund II, L.P., as Administrative Agent and
Collateral Agent.♦

10.20

Credit and Security Agreement, dated as of October 11, 2018, by and among the Company and the other borrowers from time to
time party thereto, as Borrowers, MidCap Financial Trust, as Agent and as a Lender, and the additional lenders from time to
time party thereto (filed as Exhibit 10.4 to our Form 10-Q filed with the Commission on November 14, 2018 and incorporated
herein by reference).

10.21

Amendment No. 1 to Credit and Security Agreement, dated as of October 16, 2019, by and among the Company and the other
borrowers from time to time party thereto, as Borrowers, MidCap Funding IV Trust, as Agent and as a Lender, and the
additional lenders from time to time party thereto.♦

10.22

Amendment No. 2 to Credit and Security Agreement, dated as of November 14, 2019 and effective as of November 13, 2019, by
and among the Company and the other borrowers from time to time party thereto, as Borrowers, MidCap Funding IV Trust, as
Agent and as a Lender, and the additional lenders from time to time party thereto.♦

10.23

Amendment No. 3 to Credit and Security Agreement, dated as of January 13, 2020, by and among the Company and the other
borrowers from time to time party thereto, as Borrowers, MidCap Funding IV Trust, as Agent and as a Lender, and the
additional lenders from time to time party thereto.♦

10.24

Separation Agreement, dated as of July 26, 2017, by and between Terence J. Cryan and the Company (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to
our Form 8-K filed with the Commission on July 27, 2017 and incorporated herein by reference).*

10.25

Employment Agreement, dated June 20, 2018, by and between the Company and Tracy D. Pagliara (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to our
Form 8-K filed with the Commission on June 26, 2018 and incorporated herein by reference).*
Employment Agreement, dated July 31, 2018, by and between the Company and Timothy M. Howsman (filed as Exhibit 10.6 to
our Form 10-Q filed with the Commission on August 14, 2018 and incorporated herein by reference).*
Separation Agreement, dated June 24, 2019, between the Company and Timothy M. Howsman (filed as Exhibit 10.4 to our
Form 10-Q filed with the Commission on August 14, 2019 and incorporated herein by reference).*
Employment Agreement, dated August 12, 2019, between the Company and Charles E. Wheelock (filed as Exhibit 10.5 to our
Form 10-Q filed with the Commission on August 14, 2019 and incorporated herein by reference).*
Form of Restricted Shares Award Agreement (dated January 22, 2019) (filed as Exhibit 10.42 to our Form 10-K filed with the
Commission on April 1, 2019 and incorporated herein by reference).*
Form of Time-Based Restricted Share Unit Agreement (2019) (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to our Form 10-Q filed with the
Commission on August 14, 2019 and incorporated herein by reference).*
Form of Cash-Based Performance Award Agreement (2019) (filed as Exhibit 10.3 to our Form 10-Q filed with the Commission
on August 14, 2019 and incorporated herein by reference).*
Employment Agreement, dated September 30, 2019, between the Company and Randall R. Lay. (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to our
Form 10-Q filed with the Commission on November 14, 2019 and incorporated herein by reference).*
Time-Based Restricted Share Unit Agreement (Inducement Grant), dated September 30, 2019, between the Company and
Randall R. Lay (filed as Exhibit 10.3 to our Form 10-Q filed with the Commission on November 14, 2019 and incorporated
herein by reference).*
Performance-Based Restricted Share Unit Agreement (Inducement Grant), dated September 30, 2019, between the Company
and Randall R. Lay (filed as Exhibit 10.4 to our Form 10-Q filed with the Commission on November 14, 2019 and incorporated
herein by reference).*
Backstop Agreement, dated November 14, 2019, between the Company and Wynnefield Capital, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 10.50 to
our Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-234702), filed with the Commission on November 14, 2019 and
incorporated herein by reference).
Backstop Agreement – Acknowledgment and Waiver as to Refinancing Condition, dated January 24, 2020, between the
Company and Wynnefield Capital, Inc.♦

10.26
10.27
10.28
10.29
10.30
10.31
10.32
10.33
10.34
10.35
10.36
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10.37
10.38
21.1
23.1
24.1
31.1
31.2
32.1
32.2
101.INS
101.SCH
101.CAL
101.DEF
101.LAB
101.PRE

Form of Registration Rights Agreement between the Company and Wynnefield Capital, Inc. (filed as Exhibit A to Backstop
Agreement, dated November 14, 2019) (filed as Exhibit 10.51 to our Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333234702), filed with the Commission on November 14, 2019 and incorporated herein by reference).
Form of Restricted Shares Award Agreement (dated March 13, 2019).*♦
Subsidiaries of the Company.♦
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm (Moss Adams LLP).♦
Powers of Attorney for our directors and certain executive officers (included on signature page).♦
Certification by the Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes‑Oxley Act of 2002.♦
Certification by the Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes‑Oxley Act of 2002.♦
Certification by the Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes‑Oxley Act of 2002 (furnished herewith).♦
Certification by the Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes‑Oxley Act of 2002 (furnished herewith).♦
XBRL Instance Document♦
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document♦
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document♦
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document♦
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Labels Linkbase Document♦
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document♦

*Indicates a management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.
♦Filed herewith.
Item 16. Form 10-K Summary.
None.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to
be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
Dated: March 27, 2020
WILLIAMS INDUSTRIAL SERVICES GROUP INC.
By:

/s/ Tracy D. Pagliara
Tracy D. Pagliara,
President and Chief Executive Officer

Each individual whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints Tracy D. Pagliara, President and Chief Executive Officer, and
Charles E. Wheelock, Senior Vice President, Chief Administrative Officer, General Counsel and Secretary, and each of them singly, his true and
lawful attorneys‑in‑fact and agents with full power of substitution, for him and in his name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign any
and all amendments to this Annual Report on Form 10‑K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto said attorneys‑in‑fact
and agents, and each of them, full power and authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in and
about the premises, as fully to all intents and purposes as he might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all the said
attorneys‑in‑fact and agents or any of them or their or his substitute or substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on
behalf of the registrant, in the capacities and on the dates indicated.
r

NAME

/s/ Tracy D. Pagliara
Tracy D. Pagliara

TITLE

DATE

Chief Executive Officer, President and Director
(Principal Executive Officer)

March 27, 2020

Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

March 27, 2020

Director and Chairman of the Board

March 27, 2020

/s/ Robert B. Mills
Robert B. Mills

Director

March 27, 2020

/s/ Steven D. Davis
Steven D. Davis

Director

March 27, 2020

/s/ David A. B. Brown
David A. B. Brown

Director

March 27, 2020

/s/ Nelson Obus
Nelson Obus

Director

March 27, 2020

/s/ Randall R. lay
Randall R. Lay
/s/ Charles Macaluso
Charles Macaluso
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data
Williams Industrial Services Group Inc. and Subsidiaries
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders
Williams Industrial Services Group Inc.
Opinion on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Williams Industrial Services Group Inc. and subsidiaries (the
Company) as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income (loss), stockholders’
equity, and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the consolidated financial statements). In our
opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of the Company as of
December 31, 2019 and 2018, and the consolidated results of their operations and their cash flows for the years then ended, in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
Change in Accounting Principle
As discussed in Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company changed its method of accounting for leases due to the
adoption of Accounting Standards Codification Topic No. 842.
Basis for Opinion
These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion
on the Company’s consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company
Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the
U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or
fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of
our audits we are required to obtain an understanding of internal control over financial reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.
Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to error or fraud, and performing procedures to respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence
regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used
and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe
that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
/s/ Moss Adams LLP
Dallas, Texas
March 27, 2020
We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2017.
F-2
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WILLIAMS INDUSTRIAL SERVICES GROUP INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET S
December 31,
(in thousands, except share data)

2019

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash
Accounts receivable, net of allowance of $377 and $140, respectively
Contract assets
Other current assets
Total current assets
Property, plant and equipment, net
Goodwill
Intangible assets
Other long-term assets
Total assets

$

$

2018

7,350
468
38,218
7,225
2,483
55,744
273
35,400
12,500
8,549
112,466

$

$

4,475
467
22,724
8,218
1,735
37,619
335
35,400
12,500
1,650
87,504

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued compensation and benefits
Contract liabilities
Short-term borrowings
Current portion of long-term debt
Other current liabilities
Current liabilities of discontinued operations
Total current liabilities
Long-term debt, net
Deferred tax liabilities
Other long-term liabilities
Long-term liabilities of discontinued operations
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies (Note 11 and 15)
Stockholders’ equity:
Common stock, $0.01 par value, 170,000,000 shares authorized and 19,794,270 and
19,767,605 shares issued, respectively, and 19,057,195 and 18,660,218 shares
outstanding, respectively
Paid-in capital
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)
Accumulated deficit
Treasury stock, at par (737,075 and 1,107,387 common shares, respectively)
Total stockholders’ equity
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

$

$

16,618
9,318
2,699
10,849
700
6,408
340
46,932
32,658
2,198
4,028
4,486
90,302

198
81,964
222
(60,211)
(9)
22,164
112,466

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
F-3

$

$

2,953
10,859
3,278
3,274
525
5,518
640
27,047
32,978
2,682
1,396
5,188
69,291

197
80,424
—
(62,397)
(11)
18,213
87,504
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WILLIAMS INDUSTRIAL SERVICES GROUP INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATION S
Year Ended December 31,
2019
2018

(in thousands, except share and per share data)

Revenue
Cost of revenue

$

245,787
214,887

$

188,918
160,177

Gross profit

30,900

28,741

Selling and marketing expenses
General and administrative expenses
Restructuring charges
Depreciation and amortization expense
Total operating expenses

587
24,583
—
301
25,471

1,649
30,510
5,689
857
38,705

5,429

(9,964)

6,032
(1,958)
4,074

8,990
(764)
8,226

1,355
333
1,022

(18,190)
(4,400)
(13,790)

(234)
(1,398)
1,164

(15,002)
(3,357)
(11,645)

Operating income (loss)
Interest expense, net
Other (income) expense, net
Total other (income) expense, net
Income (loss) from continuing operations before income tax expense
Income tax expense (benefit)
Income (loss) from continuing operations
Income (loss) from discontinued operations before income tax expense (benefit)
Income tax expense (benefit)
Income (loss) from discontinued operations
Net income (loss)
Basic earnings (loss) per common share
Income (loss) from continuing operations
Income (loss) from discontinued operations
Basic earnings (loss) per common share

$

2,186

$

(25,435)

$

0.05
0.07
0.12

$

(0.76)
(0.64)
(1.40)

0.05
0.07
0.12

$

$

Diluted earnings (loss) per common share
Income (loss) from continuing operations
Income (loss) from discontinued operations
Diluted earnings (loss) per common share

$
$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
F-4

$

$

(0.76)
(0.64)
(1.40)
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WILLIAMS INDUSTRIAL SERVICES GROUP INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS )
Year Ended December 31,
2019
2018

(in thousands)

Net income (loss)
Foreign currency translation adjustment
Comprehensive income (loss)

$
$

2,186
222
2,408

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
F-5

$
$

(25,435)
—
(25,435)
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WILLIAMS INDUSTRIAL SERVICES GROUP INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUIT Y

(in thousands, except share data)

Balance, December 31, 2017
Issuance of restricted stock
units
Tax withholding on restricted
stock units
Share-based compensation
Net income (loss)
Balance, December 31, 2018
Issuance of restricted stock
units
Tax withholding on restricted
stock units
Share-based compensation
Foreign currency translation
Net income (loss)
Balance, December 31, 2019

Common Shares
$0.01 Per Share
Shares
Amount

19,360,026

$

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

Paid-in
Capital

193

$

78,910

$

—

Accumulated
Deficit

$

(36,962)

407,579

4

—

—

—

—
—
—
19,767,605

—
—
—

(504)
2,018
—
80,424 $

—
—
—

—
—
(25,435)
$ (62,397)

—

—

—

(157)
1,697
—
—
81,964 $

—
—
222
—
222

—
—
—
2,186
(60,211)

$

197

$

26,665

1

—
—
—
—
19,794,270

—
—
—
—
198

$

$

$

Treasury Shares
Shares
Amount

(14) $

42,127

505,049

5

9

(198,796)
—
—
(1,107,387)
$

(2)
—
—

437,319
(67,007)
—
—
—
(737,075) $

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Total

(1,413,640) $

(11)

(506)
2,018
(25,435)
$ 18,213

4
(2)
—
—
—
(9) $

5
(159)
1,697
222
2,186
22,164
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WILLIAMS INDUSTRIAL SERVICES GROUP INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOW S
Year Ended December 31,
2019
2018

(in thousands)

Operating activities:
Net income (loss)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash (used in) provided by operating activities:
Net (income) loss from discontinued operations
Deferred income tax provision (benefit)
Depreciation and amortization on plant, property and equipment
Amortization of deferred financing costs
Loss on disposals of property, plant and equipment
Bad debt expense
Stock-based compensation
Paid-in-kind interest
Restructuring charges
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of businesses acquired and sold:
Accounts receivable
Contract assets
Other current assets
Other assets
Accounts payable
Accrued and other liabilities
Contract liabilities
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities, continuing operations
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities, discontinued operations
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities
Investing activities:
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities, continuing operations
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities, discontinued operations
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities
Financing activities:
Repurchase of stock-based awards for payment of statutory taxes due on stock-based compensation
Debt issuance costs
Proceeds from short-term borrowings
Repayments of short-term borrowings
Proceeds from long-term debt
Repayments of long-term debt
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities, continuing operations
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities, discontinued operations
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities
Effect of exchange rate change on cash, continuing operations
Effect of exchange rate change on cash
Net change in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, beginning of year
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, end of year
Supplemental Disclosures:
Cash paid for interest
Cash paid for income taxes, net of refunds
Noncash amendment fee related to term loan
Noncash amendment fee related to MidCap Facility

$
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(25,435)

(1,164)
(484)
301
615
—
237
1,698
—
—

11,645
(7,239)
857
1,623
637
(90)
1,179
1,964
5,689

(15,675)
1,001
(743)
1,613
13,697
(6,704)
(579)
(4,001)
162
(3,839)

3,426
3,269
2,271
(1,038)
(2,127)
(1,157)
(3,771)
(8,297)
(6,125)
(14,422)

(242)
(242)
—
(242)

(137)
(137)
319
182

(154)
—
223,958
(216,383)
—
(525)
6,896
—
6,896
61
61
2,876
4,942
$
7,818 $
$
$
$
$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

2,186 $

4,697
—
—
100

$
$
$
$

(497)
(2,189)
46,688
(43,414)
33,679
(31,241)
3,026
—
3,026
—
—
(11,214)
16,156
4,942
5,652
16
4,000
—
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WILLIAMS INDUSTRIAL SERVICES GROUP INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NOTE 1— BUSINESS AND ORGANIZATIO N
Effective June 29, 2018, Global Power Equipment Group Inc. changed its name to Williams Industrial Services Group Inc. (together
with its wholly owned subsidiaries, “Williams,” the “Company,” “we,” “us” or “our,” unless the context indicates otherwise) to better align its
name with the Williams business, and its stock now trades on the OTCQX® Best Market under the ticker symbol “WLMS.” Williams has been
safely helping plant owners and operators enhance asset value for more than 50 years. It provides a broad range of construction, maintenance and
support services to customers in energy, power and industrial end markets. Williams’ mission is to be the preferred provider of construction,
maintenance, and specialty services through commitment to superior safety performance, focus on innovation, and dedication to delivering
unsurpassed value to its customers. The Company’s corporate headquarters are located in Tucker, Georgia.
The Company reports on a fiscal quarter basis utilizing a “modified” 4-4-5 calendar (modified in that the fiscal year always begins on
January 1 and ends on December 31). However, the Company has continued to label its quarterly information using a calendar convention. The
effects of this practice are modest and only exist when comparing interim period results. The reporting periods and corresponding fiscal interim
periods are as follows:
Reporting Interim Period

Fiscal Interim Period
2019

Three Months Ended March 31
Three Months Ended June 30
Three Months Ended September 30

January 1, 2019 to March 31, 2019
April 1, 2019 to June 30, 2019
July 1, 2019 to September 29, 2019

2018

January 1, 2018 to April 1, 2018
April 2, 2018 to July 1, 2018
July 2, 2018 to September 30, 2018

NOTE 2—LIQUIDITY
The Company’s consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, which assumes that it will be able to
meet its obligations and continue its operations during the twelve month period following the issuance of this Form 10-K. These financial
statements do not include any adjustments to reflect the possible future effects on the recoverability and classification of assets or the amounts
and classifications of liabilities that may result should the Company be unable to continue as a going concern.
The Company had negative cash flows from operations during 2019 and 2018 and has historically raised capital to fund its working
capital and growth. Subsequent to year-end, the Company amended its existing credit facilities with Centre Lane and MidCap on January 13,
2020. In addition, the Company successfully completed its Rights Offering, which expired March 2, 2020, pursuant to which the Company issued
5,384,615 shares of its common stock and received net proceeds of $6.6 million. The Company intends to use the net proceeds from the Rights
Offering, combined with the additional borrowing capacity provided by the amended MidCap Facility, for working capital and general corporate
purposes to fund certain of the Company’s strategic growth initiatives. As a result, management believes that the Company has sufficient
resources to satisfy its working capital requirements for at least 12 months following the issuance of these consolidated financial statements.
However, the Company’s liquidity could be periodically, and for certain intervals, constrained due to the working capital requirements that will
be needed as it continues to execute its plans to grow the business. In the event the Company is unable to address potential liquidity shortfalls in
the future, management will need to seek additional funding, which may not be available on reasonable terms, if at all, and may result in
management concluding that the Company’s liquidity position raises substantial doubt about its ability to continue as a going concern. Please
refer to Note 19—Subsequent Events, for additional information regarding the amendments to the Company’s credit facilities and its Rights
Offering.
NOTE 3—SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Principles of Consolidation and Joint Ventures: The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Williams Industrial
Services Group, Inc. and its wholly owned subsidiaries. At times, the Company may form joint ventures with unrelated third parties for the
execution of a project. For investments in joint ventures not requiring full consolidation, the Company uses the equity method of accounting. The
Company does not have any investment in a joint venture in which it is considered to be the primary beneficiary where full consolidation is
required.
In 2017, the Company formed a limited liability company (“LLC”) with an unrelated third party for the execution of a nuclear plant
construction project. The Company has a 25 percent participation interest in this LLC, with distribution of
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WILLIAMS INDUSTRIAL SERVICES GROUP INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
expected gains and losses being proportionate to its participation interest. Although the LLC holds the construction contract with the client, the
services required by the contract are performed by either the LLC, the Company or the other member of the LLC, or by other subcontractors
under subcontracting agreements with the LLC. The Company accounts for its investment in this LLC using the equity method. The Company’s
investment in this LLC was $2.3 million and $0.8 million as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively, and was included in other long-term
assets on the consolidated balance sheets. Accounts receivable related to work performed for the Company’s unconsolidated investment in the
LLC, included in accounts receivable, net, on the consolidated balance sheets, was $2.7 million and $2.1 million as of December 31, 2019 and
2018, respectively. The Company’s pro-rata share of net income from the LLC was $1.5 million and $1.0 million for the years ended December
31, 2019 and 2018, respectively, and was included in other (income) expense, net, on the consolidated statements of operations. In addition, the
Company received a dividend of $0.5 million in 2019 and did not receive any dividends in 2018.
The Company reclassified its 2018 loss on disposal of assets from general and administrative expenses to other (income) expense, net,
on its consolidated statements of operations in order to conform to the 2019 prestenation. All intercompany accounts and transactions have been
eliminated in consolidation.
Discontinued Operations: During the fourth quarter of 2017, the Company made the decision to exit and sell its Electrical Solutions
segment. Additionally, during the third quarter of 2017, the Company made the decision to exit and sell substantially all of the operating assets
and liabilities of its Mechanical Solutions segment, which the Company completed in the fourth quarter of 2017. These decisions were made in
an effort to reduce the Company’s outstanding term debt. The Company determined that the decision to exit these segments met the definition of
a discontinued operation. As a result, these segments, including TOG Manufacturing Company, Inc., which, along with TOG Holdings, Inc., was
sold in July 2016, have been presented as discontinued operations for all periods presented.
In spite of the Company’s efforts, which included retaining financial advisors to sell all or part of Koontz-Wagner Custom Controls
Holdings LLC’s (“Koontz-Wagner”) operations, inside or outside of a federal bankruptcy or state court proceeding (including Chapter 11 of Title
11 of the U.S. Bankruptcy Code (the “Bankruptcy Code”)), the proposed disposition did not progress as planned due, primarily, to the absence of
viable bids in the sale process, the inability of Koontz-Wagner to fund its ongoing operations or obtain financing to do so, and Koontz-Wagner’s
deteriorating financial performance. As a result, on July 11, 2018, Koontz-Wagner filed a voluntary petition for relief under Chapter 7 of Title 11
of the Bankruptcy Code with the U.S. Bankruptcy Court for the Southern District of Texas. The filing was for Koontz-Wagner only, not for the
Company as a whole, and was completely separate and distinct from the Williams business and operations.
Unless otherwise specified, the financial information presented in the accompanying financial statements and following notes relates to
the Company’s continuing operations; it excludes any results of its discontinued operations. Please refer to “Note 5—Changes in Business” for
financial information on the Company’s discontinued operations.
Segment and Geographic Information: The Company determines its reportable segments in accordance with Accounting Standards
Codification (“ASC”) 280—Segment Reporting. The Company’s operating segments engage in business activities from which it may earn
revenues and incur expenses and for which discrete information is available. Operating results for the operating segments are regularly reviewed
by the Company’s chief operating decision maker to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and to assess performance.
Operating segments are aggregated for reporting purposes when the operating segments are identified as similar in accordance with the basic
principles and aggregation criteria in the accounting standards. As a result of the Company’s decision to exit and sell its Mechanical Solutions
and Electrical Solutions segments, the Company’s chief operating decision maker reviews financial information on a company-wide basis.
Therefore, as of each of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Company reports on a single reporting segment basis.
The Company uses operating income (loss) to compare and evaluate its financial performance. For the year ended December 31, 2019,
the Company earned 93.1% and 7.9% of its revenue in the U.S. and Canada, respectively. For the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company
earned 100% of its revenue in the U.S.
Use of Estimates: The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the U.S.
(“GAAP”) requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements and
accompanying notes. Actual results could vary materially from those estimates.
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WILLIAMS INDUSTRIAL SERVICES GROUP INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
Revenue Recognition: The Company provides construction, maintenance and support services to customers in energy, power and
industrial end markets. The Company’s services, which are provided through long-term maintenance or discrete project agreements, are designed
to improve or sustain its customers’ operating efficiencies and extend the useful lives of their process equipment. The contracts are awarded on a
competitively bid and negotiated basis with the majority structured as cost-plus arrangements and the remainder as lump-sum.
The Company’s contracts generally include a single performance obligation for which revenue is recognized over time, as performance
obligations are satisfied, due to the continuous transfer of control to the customer. For cost-plus contracts, the Company recognizes revenue when
services are performed and contractually billable based upon the hours incurred and agreed-upon hourly rates. Revenue on fixed-price contracts is
recognized and invoiced over time using the cost-to-cost percentage-of-completion method. To the extent a contract is deemed to have multiple
performance obligations, the Company allocates the transaction price of the contract to each performance obligation using its best estimate of the
standalone selling price of each distinct good or service in the contract. The Company does not adjust the price of the contract for the effects of a
significant financing component. Change orders are generally not distinct from the existing contract due to the significant integration service
provided in the context of the contract and are accounted for as a modification of the existing contract and performance obligation. The Company
believes these methods of revenue recognition most accurately reflect the economics of the transactions with its customers.
The Company’s contracts may include several types of variable consideration, including change orders, rate true-up provisions,
retainage, claims, incentives, penalties and liquidated damages. The Company estimates the amount of revenue to be recognized on variable
consideration using estimation methods that best predict the amount of consideration to which the Company expects to be entitled. The Company
includes variable consideration in the estimated transaction price to the extent it is probable that a significant reversal of cumulative revenue
recognized will not occur or when the uncertainty associated with the variable consideration is resolved. The Company’s estimates of variable
consideration and determination of whether to include estimated amounts in the transaction price are based on an assessment of its anticipated
performance and all information (historical, current and forecasted) that is reasonably available. The Company updates its estimate of the
transaction price each reporting period and the effect of variable consideration on the transaction price is recognized as an adjustment to revenue
on a cumulative catch-up basis. In circumstances where the Company cannot reasonably determine the outcome of a contract, it recognizes
revenue over time as the work is performed, but only to the extent of recoverable costs incurred (i.e. zero margin). A loss provision is recorded
for the amount of any estimated unrecoverable costs in excess of total estimated revenue on a contract as soon as the Company becomes aware.
The Company generally provides a limited warranty for a term of two years or less following completion of services performed under its
contracts. Historically, warranty claims have not resulted in material costs incurred.
Cash and Cash Equivalents: Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and on deposit with initial maturities of three months or
less. As of December 31, 2019, the Company held $4.4 million of its operating cash balance in U.S. bank accounts and $2.9 in Canadian bank
accounts.
Restricted Cash: Restricted cash as of each of December 31, 2019 and 2018 consisted of $0.5 million, respectively, held in escrow for
certain indemnities as claims on a divested subsidiary.
Accounts Receivable: Accounts receivable is reported net of allowance for doubtful accounts and discounts. The allowance is based on
numerous factors including but not limited to (i) current market conditions, (ii) review of specific customer economics and (iii) other estimates
based on the judgment of management. Account balances are charged off against the allowance after all reasonable means of collection have been
pursued and the potential for recovery is considered remote. The Company does not generally charge interest on outstanding amounts.
Property, Plant and Equipment: Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost, less accumulated depreciation. For
financial reporting purposes, depreciation is calculated using the straight‑line method over the estimated useful life of the asset. Costs of
significant additions, renewals and betterments are capitalized. Maintenance and repairs are expensed when incurred. When an asset is sold or
otherwise disposed of, the related cost and accumulated depreciation are removed from the respective accounts and the gain or loss on disposition
is reflected in general and administrative expenses in the consolidated statements of operations. Depreciation expense related to capital equipment
used in production is included in cost of revenue.
F-10

Table of Contents

WILLIAMS INDUSTRIAL SERVICES GROUP INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
Long‑Lived Assets: Long‑lived assets, such as property, plant, and equipment, and purchased intangible assets subject to amortization,
are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the asset may not be recoverable.
If circumstances require a long‑lived asset held for use to be tested for possible impairment, the Company compares the undiscounted cash flows
expected to be generated by the asset to the carrying value of the asset. If the carrying value of the asset exceeds expected future cash flows, the
excess of the carrying value over the estimated fair value is charged to impairment expense in the consolidated statements of operations. Assets
held for sale are reported at the lower of their carrying value, less estimated costs to sell. Fair value is determined through various valuation
techniques including discounted cash flow models, quoted market values and third‑party independent appraisals, as considered necessary. The
Company groups long‑lived assets by legal entity for purposes of recognition and measurement of an impairment loss as this is the lowest level
for which cash flows are independent.
Goodwill and Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets: Goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets are tested for impairment on an annual
basis, as of October 1, and when events or changes in circumstances indicate the fair value of a reporting unit with goodwill and/or indefinite-lived
intangible assets has been reduced below the carrying value of the net assets of the reporting unit in accordance with ASC 350–Intangibles–
Goodwill and Other. The Company’s indefinite-lived intangible asset consists of the Williams trade name.
The Company’s testing of goodwill for potential impairment involves the comparison of a reporting unit’s carrying value to its estimated
fair value, which is determined using the income approach and market approaches. Similarly, the testing of the Company’s trade name for
potential impairment involves the comparison of the carrying value of the trade name to its estimated fair value, which is determined using the
relief from royalty method. If the carrying value of goodwill or the trade name is deemed to be unrecoverable, the excess of the carrying value
over the estimated fair value is charged to results of operations in the period in which the impairment is determined. The Company did not have
any impairment write-downs in 2019.
Cost of Revenue: Cost of revenue primarily includes charges for materials, direct labor and related benefits, freight (inbound and
outbound), direct supplies and tools, purchasing and receiving costs, inspection costs and internal transfer costs.
Warranty Costs: Estimated costs related to warranties are accrued using the specific identification method. Estimated costs are based
upon past warranty claims, sales history, the applicable contract terms and the remaining warranty periods. Warranty terms vary by contract but
generally provide for a term of two years or less. The Company manages its exposure to warranty claims by having its field service and quality
assurance personnel regularly monitor projects and maintain ongoing and regular communications with its customers. Historically, warranty
claims have not resulted in material costs incurred, and any estimated costs for warranties are included in the individual project cost estimates for
purposes of accounting for long-term contracts.
Insurance: The Company maintains insurance coverage for most insurable aspects of its business and operations. The Company’s
insurance programs, including, but not limited to, health, general liability and workers’ compensation, have varying coverage limits depending
upon the type of insurance. The Company accrues for incurred but not reported claims by utilizing lag studies.
Shipping and Handling Costs: The Company accounts for shipping and handling costs in accordance with ASC 605‑45—Principal
Agent Considerations. Amounts billed to customers in sale transactions related to shipping and handling costs are recorded as revenue. Shipping
and handling costs incurred are included in cost of revenue in the consolidated statements of operations.
Advertising Costs: The Company accounts for advertising costs in accordance with ASC 720‑35—Advertising Costs. Generally,
advertising costs are immaterial and are expensed as incurred and are included in selling and marketing expense in the consolidated statements of
operations.
Stock‑Based Compensation Expense: The Company measures and recognizes stock‑based compensation expense based on the
estimated fair value of the stock award on the date of grant. Vesting of stock awards is based on certain service, performance and market
conditions (or service only conditions) over a one to four year period. For all awards with graded vesting, other than awards with
performance‑based vesting conditions, the Company records compensation expense for the entire award on a straight‑line basis over the requisite
service period. For graded‑vesting awards with performance‑based
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WILLIAMS INDUSTRIAL SERVICES GROUP INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
vesting conditions, total compensation expense is recognized over the requisite service period for each separately vesting tranche of the award as
if the award is, in substance, multiple awards once performance criteria are set. For market-based awards that cliff vest, total compensation
expense is recorded on a straight-line basis over the requisite performance period. The Company recognizes stock‑based compensation expense
related to performance-based and market-based awards based upon its determination of the potential likelihood of achievement of the specified
performance conditions at each reporting date. Stock‑based compensation expense is primarily included in general and administrative expenses in
the consolidated statements of operations.
Income Taxes: The Company accounts for income taxes using the asset and liability method under which deferred tax assets and
liabilities are recognized for the estimated future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of
existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases. The Company measures deferred tax assets and liabilities using enacted tax rates
expected to be applied to taxable income in the years in which those differences are expected to be recovered or settled.
Under ASC 740—Income Taxes, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) requires companies to assess whether valuation
allowances should be established against their deferred tax assets based on the consideration of all available positive and negative evidence, using
a “more likely than not” standard. In making such assessments, significant weight is given to evidence that can be objectively verified. A
company’s current or previous operating history is given more weight than its future outlook, although the Company does consider future taxable
income projections, ongoing tax planning strategies and the limitation on the use of carryforward losses in determining valuation allowance
needs. The Company establishes valuation allowances for its deferred tax assets if, based on the available evidence, it is more likely than not that
some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized.
During the ordinary course of business, there are many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is
uncertain. The Company recognizes the tax benefit from uncertain tax positions only if it is more likely than not to be sustained on examination
by the taxing authorities, based on the technical merits of the position. The tax benefits recognized in the financial statements from such a position
are based on the largest benefit that has a greater than fifty percent likelihood of being realized upon ultimate settlement. The Company believes
that its benefits and accruals recognized are appropriate for all open audit years based on its assessment of many factors including past experience
and interpretation of tax law. This assessment relies on estimates and assumptions and may involve a series of complex judgments about future
events. To the extent that the final tax outcome of these matters is determined to be different than the amounts recorded, those differences will
impact income tax expense in the period in which the determination is made.
Other Comprehensive Income (Loss): The Company reports cumulative foreign currency translation adjustments as a component of
accumulated other comprehensive income (loss).
Adoption of New Accounting Pronouncements
In June 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-07, “Improvements to Nonemployee Share-Based Payment Accounting,” which expands the
scope of Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) Topic 718, “Compensation–Stock Compensation” and applies to all share-based payment
transactions to nonemployees in which a grantor acquires goods and services to be used or consumed in a grantor’s own operations by issuing
share-based awards. Upon adoption of ASU 2018-07, an entity should only re-measure liability-classified awards that have not been settled by
the date of adoption and equity-classified awards for which a measurement date has not been established through a cumulative-effect adjustment
to retained earnings as of the beginning of the fiscal year of adoption. In the first quarter of 2019, the Company adopted ASU 2018-07, which did
not have a material impact on its financial position, results of operations and cash flows.
In February 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-02, “Reclassification of Certain Tax Effects from Accumulated Other Comprehensive
Income,” which gives entities the option to reclassify the tax effects stranded in accumulated other comprehensive income as a result of the
enactment of comprehensive tax legislation in December 2017, commonly referred to as the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017 (the “Tax Act”), to
retained earnings. The Company adopted ASU 2018-02 effective January 1, 2019 and elected not to reclassify the income tax effects stranded in
accumulated other comprehensive income to retained earnings and, as a result, there was no impact on the Company’s financial position, results
of operations or cash flows.
In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, “Leases” (ASC Topic 842), which, together with its related
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
clarifying ASUs (collectively, “ASU 2016-02”), amended the previous guidance for lease accounting and related disclosure requirements. The
new guidance requires the recognition of right-of-use assets and lease liabilities on the balance sheet for leases with terms greater than twelve
months or leases that contain a purchase option that is reasonably certain to be exercised. Lessees are required to classify leases as either finance
or operating leases. This classification will determine whether lease expense is recognized based on an effective interest method or on a straightline basis over the term of the lease. For leases with a term of twelve months or less, a lessee can make an accounting policy election by class of
underlying asset to not recognize an asset and corresponding liability. Lessees are also required to provide additional qualitative and quantitative
disclosures regarding the amount, timing and uncertainty of cash flows arising from leases. These disclosures are intended to supplement the
amounts recorded in the financial statements and provide additional information about the nature of an organization’s leasing activities. On
January 1, 2019, the Company adopted ASU 2016-02 using the modified retrospective method, meaning it has been applied to leases that existed
or have been entered into on or after January 1, 2019 without adjusting comparative periods in the financial statements. Please refer to “Note 4–
Leases” for further discussion of the adoption and the impact on the Company’s financial statements.
Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements
In December 2019, the FASB issued ASU 2019-12, “Income Taxes”, which simplifies the accounting for income taxes by removing
certain exceptions for investments, intraperiod allocations and interim calculations, and adding guidance to reduce complexity in accounting for
income taxes. The update is effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2020, and interim periods within those fiscal years. Early
adoption is permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the impact this ASU will have on its results of operations, financial position and cash
flows.
In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-15, “Intangibles—Goodwill and Other Internal-Use Software (Subtopic 350-40).” This
update aligns the requirements for capitalizing costs incurred in a hosting arrangement that is a service contract with the requirements for
capitalizing implementation costs incurred to develop or obtain internal use software, including hosting arrangements that are service contracts,
over the term of the hosting arrangement. Further, this update requires the presentation of the expense in the statement of income, the presentation
of the costs on the statement of financial position and the classification of payments in the statement of cash flows related to capitalized
implementation costs to be treated the same as the fees of the associated hosting arrangement. The update is effective for annual periods
beginning after December 15, 2019, and interim periods within those fiscal years. Early adoption is permitted. The Company does not expect that
this ASU will have a material impact on its results of operations, financial position and cash flows.
In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-13, “Fair Value Measurement (Topic 820).” This amendment update modifies disclosure
requirements related to fair value measurement and will be effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019 and interim periods
within those fiscal years. Implementation on a prospective or retrospective basis varies by specific disclosure requirement. Early adoption is
permitted, and the standard allows for early adoption of any removed or modified disclosures upon issuance of the update, while delaying
adoption of the additional disclosures until their effective date. The Company is currently evaluating this guidance to determine the impact it may
have on its disclosures. The Company does not expect that this guidance will have a material impact on its disclosures.
NOTE 4—LEASES
On January 1, 2019, the Company adopted ASU 2016-02, which amended the previous guidance for lease accounting and related
disclosure requirements. The new guidance requires the recognition of right-of-use assets and lease liabilities on the balance sheet for leases with
terms greater than twelve months or leases that contain a purchase option that is reasonably certain to be exercised. Lessees are required to
classify leases as either finance or operating leases. This classification will determine whether lease expense is recognized based on an effective
interest method or on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.
The Company elected to utilize the package of practical expedients in ASC 842-10-65-1(f) that, upon adoption of ASU 2016-02,
allowed entities to (1) not reassess whether any expired or existing contracts are or contain leases, (2) retain the classification of leases (e.g.,
operating or finance lease) existing as of the date of adoption and (3) not reassess initial direct costs for any existing leases.
The Company adopted ASU 2016-02 using the modified retrospective method, and accordingly, the new guidance
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was applied to leases that existed as of January 1, 2019. This resulted in the recognition of lease liabilities of $8.7 million and right-of-use-assets
of $8.5 million on January 1, 2019, which included the impact of eliminating prior year deferred rent. The adoption of ASU 2016-02 did not
have a material impact on the Company’s results of operations or cash flows.
The Company primarily leases office space and related equipment, as well as equipment, modular units and vehicles directly used in
providing services to our customers. The Company’s leases have remaining lease terms of one to ten years. Most leases contain renewal options
for varying periods, which are at the Company’s sole discretion and included in the expected lease term if they are reasonably certain of being
exercised. For leases beginning in 2019 and thereafter, the Company accounts for lease components, such as fixed payments including rent, real
estate taxes, and insurance costs, separately from the non-lease components, such as common area maintenance costs.
For leases with terms greater than twelve months, the Company records the related right-of-use assets and lease liabilities at the present
value of the fixed lease payments over the term at the commencement date. The Company uses its incremental borrowing rate to determine the
present value of the lease as the rate implicit in the lease is typically not readily determinable.
Short-term leases (leases with an initial term of twelve months or less or leases that are cancelable by the lessee and lessor without
significant penalties) are expensed on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The majority of the Company’s short-term leases relate to
equipment used in delivering services to its customers. These leases are entered into at agreed upon hourly, daily, weekly or monthly rental rates
for an unspecified duration and typically have a termination for convenience provision. Such equipment leases are considered short-term in
nature unless it is reasonably certain that the equipment will be leased for a term greater than twelve months.
The components of lease expense for the year ended December 31, 2019 were as follows:
Lease Cost/(Sublease Income) (in thousands)

Operating lease cost
Short-term lease cost
Sublease income
Total lease cost

Year Ended December 31, 2019

$

4,846
2,429
(66)
7,209

$

Lease cost related to finance leases was not significant for the year ended December 31, 2019.
Information related to the Company’s right-of-use assets and lease liabilities as of December 31, 2019 was as follows:
Lease Assets/Liabilities (in thousands)

Lease Assets
Right-of-use assets
Lease Liabilities
Short-term lease liabilities
Long-term lease liabilities
Total lease liabilities

Balance Sheet Classification

December 31, 2019

Other long-term assets

$

5,743

Other current liabilities
Other long-term liabilities

$

2,985
2,939
5,924

$

Supplemental information related to the Company’s leases for the year ended December 31, 2019 was as follows:
(dollars in thousands)

Year Ended December 31, 2019

Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities:
Operating cash used by operating leases
Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for new operating lease liabilities
Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for new finance lease liabilities
Weighted-average remaining lease term - operating leases
Weighted-average remaining lease term - finance leases
Weighted-average discount rate - operating leases
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4,884
10,255
27
2.09 years
4.23 years
9%
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Weighted-average discount rate - finance leases

9%

Total remaining lease payments under the Company’s operating and finance leases are as follows:
Operating Leases

Finance Leases

Year Ended December 31,

2020
2021
2022
2023
2024
Thereafter
Total lease payments
Less: interest
Present value of lease liabilities

(in thousands)

$

3,395
2,215
695
145
2
—
6,452
(554)
5,898

$
$

$

6
6
6
6
2
—
26
—
26

$
$

NOTE 5—CHANGES IN BUSINESS
Restructuring Charges
In 2018, the Company made the decision to relocate its corporate headquarters to Tucker, Georgia and vacated its leased office space in
Irving, Texas on September 30, 2018. In March 2019, the Company subleased the Irving, Texas office space until November 2019, when the
lease expired. The Company recorded exit costs related to the leased office space and the termination of certain personnel, which were included
in restructuring charges in the Company’s consolidated statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2018.
The following table shows exit costs included in other current liabilities and accrued compensation and benefits on the Company’s
consolidated balance sheet:
(in thousands)

Balance, December 31, 2017
Restructuring charges
Payments for restructuring
Balance, December 31, 2018
Payments for restructuring
Adjustments
Balance, December 31, 2019

Lease

$

Severance

—
536
(169)
367
(225)
(142)
—

$
$

$

Total

—
5,153
(2,264)
2,889
(2,889)
—
—

$
$

$

—
5,689
(2,433)
3,256
(3,114)
(142)
—

$
$

The following table presents the major classes of items constituting restructuring expenses on the Company’s consolidated statement of
operations:
Year Ended December 31,
(in thousands)

2019

Lease
Severance
Total

$
$

2018

—
—
—

$
$

536
5,153
5,689

Discontinued Operations
Electrical Solutions
During the fourth quarter of 2017, the Company made the decision to exit and sell its Electrical Solutions segment in an effort to reduce
the Company’s outstanding term debt. The Company determined that the decision to exit this segment met the definition of a discontinued
operation. As a result, this segment has been presented as a discontinued operation for all
F-15

Table of Contents

WILLIAMS INDUSTRIAL SERVICES GROUP INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
periods presented. As a result of the Company’s decision to sell the Electrical Solutions segment, the Company performed an impairment analysis
on this segment’s finite- and indefinite-lived intangible assets (customer relationships and trade names, respectively) and determined that their
carrying value exceeded their fair value. As a result, in the fourth quarter of 2017, the Company recorded an impairment charge of $9.7 million
related to these intangible assets. The impairment charge was included in loss from discontinued operations before income tax expense (benefit)
in the consolidated statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2017. After the impairment charge, the fair value of this segment’s
intangible assets was zero at December 31, 2017. Determining fair value is judgmental in nature and requires the use of significant estimates and
assumptions, considered to be Level 3 inputs. There were no other non-recurring fair value re-measurements related to the Electrical Solutions
segment during the years ended December 31, 2019 or 2018.
In spite of the Company’s efforts, which included retaining financial advisors to sell all or part of Koontz-Wagner’s operations, inside or
outside of a federal bankruptcy or state court proceeding (including Chapter 11 of Title 11 of the Bankruptcy Code), the proposed disposition did
not progress as planned due, primarily, to the absence of viable bids in the sale process, the inability of Koontz-Wagner to fund its ongoing
operations or obtain financing to do so, and Koontz-Wagner’s deteriorating financial performance. As a result, on July 11, 2018, Koontz-Wagner
filed a voluntary petition for relief under Chapter 7 of Title 11 of the Bankruptcy Code with the U.S. Bankruptcy Court for the Southern District
of Texas. The filing was for Koontz-Wagner only, not for the Company as a whole, and was completely separate and distinct from the Williams
business and operations.
As a result of the July 11, 2018 bankruptcy of Koontz-Wagner, the Company recorded $11.4 million of exit costs, which were included
in loss from discontinued operations in the Company’s consolidated statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2018. These
charges consisted of a $4.0 million fee related to a fifth amendment to the Initial Centre Lane Facility (as defined below), a pension withdrawal
liability of $2.9 million related to Koontz-Wagner’s International Brotherhood of Electrical Workers Local Union 1392 multi-employer pension
plan, a $1.8 million negotiated settlement of the Company’s guarantee of Koontz-Wagner’s Houston facility lease agreement and a $2.7 million
liability as a result of the Company providing affected Koontz-Wagner employees with 60 days of salary continuation, as well as the difference
between each employee’s cost of health care at the time of their employment termination and the cost of continued benefits under the
Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act (COBRA). The Company satisfied the liability related to the lease guarantee settlement and
substantially all of the salary and benefit continuation liability through cash payments as of December 31, 2018. The pension liability is expected
to be satisfied by annual cash payments of $0.3 million each, paid in quarterly installments, over the next twenty years.
As a result of the bankruptcy of Koontz-Wagner, the Company wrote off the related assets and liabilities on the Company’s consolidated
balance sheet and recorded a loss of $9.3 million, which was reflected in loss from discontinued operations in the consolidated statements of
operations for the year ended December 31, 2018.
Mechanical Solutions
During the third quarter of 2017, the Company made the decision to exit and sell substantially all of the operating assets and liabilities
of its Mechanical Solutions segment in an effort to reduce the Company’s outstanding term debt. The Company determined that the decision to
exit this segment met the definition of a discontinued operation. As a result, this segment, including TOG Manufacturing Company, Inc., which,
along with TOG Holdings, Inc., was sold in July 2016, has been presented as a discontinued operation for all periods presented. The Mechanical
Solutions and the Electrical Solutions segments were the only components of the business that qualified for discontinued operations for all periods
presented.
On October 11, 2017, the Company sold substantially all of the operating assets and liabilities of its Mechanical Solutions segment for
$43.0 million and used a portion of the $40.9 million net proceeds to pay down $34.0 million of the Company’s outstanding debt and related fees,
including full repayment of the First-Out Loan (as defined below). Additionally, on October 31, 2017, the Company completed the sale of its
manufacturing facility in Mexico and auctioned the remaining production equipment and other assets for net proceeds of $3.6 million, of which
$1.9 million was used to reduce the principal amount of the Initial Centre Lane Facility. The remainder was used to fund working capital
requirements. The Company recorded a total gain of $6.3 million related to these sales, which was included in loss from discontinued operations
before income tax expense (benefit) in the consolidated statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2017.
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The asset and liability excluded from the sale of the Mechanical Solutions segment included the Company’s office building located in
Heerlen, Netherlands as well as its liability for uncertain tax positions. This asset and liability was included in current assets of discontinued
operations and long-term liabilities of discontinued operations, respectively, in the December 31, 2017 consolidated balance sheet. At the time
the Heerlen office building met the “asset held for sale” criteria, its carrying value was $0.5 million; however, the Company subsequently
determined that the building’s carrying value exceeded its fair value and, consequently, it recorded an impairment charge of $0.2 million during
the fourth quarter of 2017. The impairment charge was included in loss from discontinued operations before income tax expense (benefit) in the
consolidated statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2017. After the impairment charge, the fair value of the Heerlen building
was $0.3 million at December 31, 2017. Determining fair value is judgmental in nature and requires the use of significant estimates and
assumptions, considered to be Level 3 inputs. There were no other non-recurring fair value re-measurements related to the Mechanical Solutions
segment during the year ended December 31, 2017.
On March 21, 2018, the Company closed on the sale of its office building in Heerlen, Netherlands for $0.3 million, resulting in an
immaterial gain on sale, which was reflected in loss from discontinued operations before income tax expense (benefit) in the Company’s
consolidated statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2018. As discussed above, the Heerlen office was previously included in
the Mechanical Solutions segment and, therefore, the carrying value of the building was included in current assets of discontinued operations in
the December 31, 2017 consolidated balance sheet.
In connection with the sale of its Mechanical Solutions segment, the Company entered into a transition services agreement with the
purchaser to provide certain accounting and administrative services for an initial period of nine months. During the year ended December 31,
2019, the Company did not provide services for the purchaser. As of December 31, 2018, the Company provided $0.3 million in services for the
purchaser, which was included in general and administrative expenses from continuing operations in the consolidated statement of operations.
In April 2019, the purchaser of the Company’s former Mechanical Solutions segment went into receivership. In connection with this
event, in March 2019, the Company recognized a write down to the estimated fair value of amounts due under the transition services agreement of
$0.2 million. At the time the purchaser went into receivership, the Company also had remaining balances of $0.2 million and $0.8 million
included in other current assets and other current liabilities, respectively, on its consolidated balance sheet. In November 2019, the Company
executed, and the U.S. Bankruptcy Court for the Northern District of Oklahoma approved, an agreement with the purchaser to settle the disputes
related to the remaining asset and liability. As a result, the Company recorded a net gain of $0.4 million, which was included in other (income)
expense, net on its consolidated statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2019.
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As of each of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Company did not have any assets related to its Electrical and Mechanical Solutions’
discontinued operations. The following table presents a reconciliation of the carrying amounts of major classes of liabilities of Electrical and
Mechanical Solutions’ discontinued operations:
December 31,
(in thousands)

2019

Liabilities:
Accrued compensation and benefits
Other current liabilities
Current liabilities of discontinued operations
Liability for pension obligation
Liability for uncertain tax positions
Long-term liabilities of discontinued operations
Total liabilities of discontinued operations

2018

$

—
340
340
2,708
1,778
4,486
4,826

$

$

$

259
381
640
2,781
2,407
5,188
5,828

The following table presents a reconciliation of the major classes of line items constituting the net income (loss) from discontinued
operations. In accordance with GAAP, the amounts in the table below do not include an allocation of corporate overhead.
(in thousands)

2019

Revenue
Electrical Solutions
Total revenue
Cost of revenue
Electrical Solutions
Total cost of revenue

Year Ended December 31,
2018

$

Selling and marketing expenses
General and administrative expenses
Other
Income (loss) from discontinued operations before income taxes
Loss (gain) on disposal - Electrical Solutions
Loss (gain) on disposal - Mechanical Solutions
Income (loss) from discontinued operations before income tax expense (benefit)
Income tax expense (benefit)
Income (loss) from discontinued operations

$

—
—

$

22,259
22,259

—
—

24,613
24,613

—
21
213
(234)
—
—
(234)
(1,398)
1,164

207
2,634
(38)
(5,157)
9,623
222
(15,002)
(3,357)
(11,645)

$

NOTE 6—PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
The Company’s property, plant and equipment balances, by significant asset category, were as follows:
Estimated
Useful Lives

($ in thousands)

Buildings and improvements
Machinery and equipment
Furniture and fixtures
Construction-in-progress

December 31,
2019
2018

5 - 39 years $
3 - 12 years
2 - 10 years
—

Less accumulated depreciation
Property, plant and equipment, net

$

F-18

474 $
4,227
8,668
283
13,652
(13,379)
273 $

474
4,078
8,668
259
13,479
(13,144)
335
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Construction‑in‑progress primarily included building improvements and machinery and equipment as of December 31, 2019 and 2018.
Depreciation expense was $0.3 million and $0.9 million for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. No impairment charges
on property, plant and equipment were recognized for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018.
NOTE 7—GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS
The Company determines the fair value of its reporting unit using the income approach. For purposes of the income approach, fair value
is determined based on the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at an appropriate risk-adjusted rate. The Company uses its
internal forecasts to estimate future cash flows and includes an estimate of long-term future growth rates based on its most recent views of the
long-term outlook for the reporting unit, which falls within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.
As of each of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Company had $12.5 million of unamortizable indefinite-lived intangible assets related
to its Williams Industrial Services Group trade name. The Company did not incur any amortization expense for each of the years ended
December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. The Company determines the fair value of its trade name using the relief from royalty method. Under
that method, the fair value of the trade name is determined by calculating the present value of the after tax cost savings associated with owning the
asset and therefore not having to pay royalties for its use for the remainder of its estimated useful life. As a result of the Company’s annual
indefinite-lived intangible asset impairment analysis as of October 1, 2019 and 2018, the Company determined the fair value of its trade name
exceeded its book value; therefore, no impairment charge was recorded for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018.
As a result of the Company’s annual goodwill impairment analysis as of October 1, 2019 and 2018, the Company determined that the
fair value of its reporting unit exceeded its book value, and accordingly, no impairment charge was necessary for the years ended December 31,
2019 and 2018.
As of December 31, 2019, the Company’s accumulated impairment charges on its goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets were
$4.2 million, all of which were recognized in the statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2015. The Company did not incur any
impairment charges related to its goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets prior to 2015.
Estimating the fair value of reporting units and trade names requires the use of estimates and significant judgments that are based on a
number of factors including current and historical actual operating results, balance sheet carrying values, the Company’s most recent forecasts,
and other relevant quantitative and qualitative information. If current or expected conditions deteriorate, it is reasonably possible that the
judgments and estimates described above could change in future periods and result in impairment charges.
NOTE 8—FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Fair Value of Financial Instruments: ASC 820–Fair Value Measurement defines fair value as the exit price, which is the price that
would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in the principal or most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. ASC 820 also establishes a three-tier fair value hierarchy, which categorizes
the inputs used in measuring fair value. The hierarchy gives the highest priority to unadjusted quoted prices in the active markets for identical
assets and liabilities and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs.
The Company’s financial instruments as of December 31, 2019 and 2018 consisted primarily of cash and cash equivalents, restricted
cash, receivables, payables and debt instruments. The carrying values of these financial instruments approximate their respective fair values, as
they are either short-term in nature or carry interest rates that are periodically adjusted to market rates.
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NOTE 9—INCOME TAXES
Income (loss) before income taxes was as follows:
Year Ended December 31,
2019
2018

(in thousands)

Domestic
Foreign
Income (loss) from continuing operations
Loss from discontinued operations
Income (loss) before income tax expense (benefit)

$

2,075 $
(720)
1,355
(234)
1,121 $

$

(18,190)
—
(18,190)
(15,002)
(33,192)

The following table summarizes the income tax expense (benefit) by jurisdiction:
Year Ended December 31,
(in thousands)

2019

Current:
State
Foreign
Total current
Deferred:
Federal
State
Foreign
Total deferred
Income tax expense (benefit)

$

2018

61
(642)
(581)
(88)
(396)
—
(484)
(1,065)

$

$

(3)
(522)
(525)
(7,044)
(194)
6
(7,232)
(7,757)

$

Income tax expense (benefit) was allocated between continuing operations and discontinued operations as follows:
Year Ended December 31,
2019
2018

(in thousands)

Continuing operations
Discontinued operations
Income tax expense (benefit)

$
$

333 $
(1,398)
(1,065) $

(4,400)
(3,357)
(7,757)

Effective Tax Rate Reconciliation
The amount of the income tax expense (benefit) for continuing operations during the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 differs
from the statutory federal income tax rate of 21% as follows:
Year Ended December 31,
2019
(in thousands)

Amount

Tax expense (benefit) computed at the maximum U.S. statutory rate
Difference resulting from state income taxes, net of federal income tax
benefits
State tax rate difference
Non-deductible expenses, other
Change in net operating loss carryforward
Change in valuation allowance
Change in foreign tax credits
Bankruptcy reorg costs
Other, net
Total tax expense (benefit)

$

$
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2018
Percent

284

21.0 %

(348)
43
130
2,705
(1,534)
2,288
(2,533)
(702)
333

Amount

$

Percent

(3,820)

21.0 %

(25.7)%
3.2 %
9.6 %
199.6 %
(113.2)%
168.9 %
(187.0)%

(483)
—
136
(581)
(2,136)
1,811
—

2.7 %
—%
(0.7)%
3.2 %
11.7 %
(10.0)%
—%

(51.8)%
24.6 %

673
(4,400)

(3.7)%
24.2 %
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Deferred Taxes
The significant components of deferred income tax assets and liabilities for continuing operations consisted of the following:
December 31,
(in thousands)

2019

Assets:
Cost in excess of identifiable net assets of business acquired
Reserves and other accruals
Tax credit carryforwards
Accrued compensation and benefits
State net operating loss carryforwards
Federal net operating loss carryforwards
Gain/loss on assets held for sale
Other

$

Liabilities:
Indefinite life intangibles
Property and equipment
Net deferred tax assets
Valuation allowance for net deferred tax assets
Net deferred tax liability after valuation allowance

$

2018

5,904
4,058
5,289
1,940
12,815
47,679
1,434
4,978
84,097
(12,026)
(319)
71,752
(73,950)
(2,198)

$

$

6,633
4,328
7,819
1,946
10,843
47,382
1,393
782
81,126
(10,876)
(248)
70,002
(72,684)
(2,682)

Tax Cuts and Jobs Acts of 2017
On December 22, 2017, the Tax Act was signed into law, making significant changes to the Internal Revenue Code. Changes include,
but are not limited to, a U.S. federal corporate tax rate decrease from 35% to 21% effective for tax years beginning after December 31, 2017, the
transition of U.S. international taxation from a worldwide tax system to a territorial system, and a one-time transition tax on the mandatory
deemed repatriation of cumulative foreign earnings as of December 31, 2017. For the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company recognized
income tax expense of $0.3 million for a net increase in deferred tax liabilities related to an increase in indefinite-lived intangible deferred tax
liabilities, partially offset by indefinite-lived deferred tax assets created by the 2017 Tax Act.
The Tax Act reduced the federal statutory corporate tax rate for the Company’s tax years beginning in 2018, which resulted in the remeasurement of the federal portion of the Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities and related valuation allowances as of December 31,
2017. As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Company has a net deferred tax liability related to its continuing operations of $2.2 million and
$2.7 million, respectively. The net deferred tax liabilities for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 predominantly related to indefinitelived intangibles deferred tax liabilities that cannot be used to offset deferred tax assets subject to valuation allowances. A net increase in
valuation allowances related to continuing operations of $1.3 million as of December 31, 2019 was recorded against the gross deferred tax asset
balances as of December 31, 2019.
The Company recorded a provisional liability of the transition tax of $2.6 million based on analysis of the amount of post-1986 earnings
and profits of its foreign subsidiaries.
As of December 31, 2019, the Company would need to generate $287.1 million of future U.S. pre-tax income to realize its deferred tax
assets.
Net Operating Losses and Tax Credit Carryforwards
As of December 31, 2019, the Company has state operating loss carryforwards of $277.7 million expiring between 2020 and 2039. The
Company has $5.9 million of foreign operating loss carryforwards that will expire in 2039. The Company has $3.3 million in foreign tax credit
carryforwards expiring between 2020 and 2027.
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Under the Internal Revenue Code, the amount of and the benefits from NOL and tax credit carryforwards may be limited or permanently
impaired in certain circumstances. In addition, under the Tax Act, the amount of post 2017 NOLs that the Company is permitted to deduct in any
taxable year is limited to 80% of its taxable income in such year, where taxable income is determined without regard to the NOL deduction itself.
The Tax Act also generally eliminates the ability to carry back any NOL to prior taxable years, while allowing post 2017 unused NOLs to be
carried forward indefinitely.
Valuation Allowances
The Company reviews, at least annually, the components of its deferred tax assets. This review is to ascertain that, based upon all of the
information available at the time of the preparation of the financial statements, it is more likely than not, that the Company expects to utilize these
deferred tax assets in the future. If the Company determines that it is more likely than not that these deferred tax assets will not be utilized, a
valuation allowance is recorded, reducing the deferred tax asset to the amount expected to be realized. Many factors are considered in the
determination that the deferred tax assets are more likely than not will be realized, including recent cumulative earnings, expectations regarding
future taxable income, length of carryforward periods, and other relevant quantitative and qualitative factors. The recoverability of the deferred
tax assets is determined by assessing the adequacy of future expected taxable income from all sources, including reversal of taxable temporary
differences, forecasted operating earnings, and tax planning strategies.
As of December 31, 2019, the Company carries $12.0 million of deferred income tax liabilities related to indefinite-lived intangibles.
Because NOLs generated in taxable years beginning after December 31, 2017 can be carried forward indefinitely under the Tax Act, based upon
all of the information available at the time of the preparation of the financial statements, the Company concluded that it is more likely than not
that the reversal of taxable temporary differences related to indefinite-lived intangible assets can be used as a source of future taxable income
when assessing the realizability of these loss carryforwards that do not expire when they are in the same jurisdiction and of the same character.
The Company also determined that it is more likely than not that the reversal of taxable temporary differences related to indefinite-lived
intangible assets can be used as a source of future taxable income when assessing the realizability of deferred tax assets that upon reversal would
give rise to NOLs that do not expire. As a result, the Company recorded income tax expense from continuing operations of $0.3 million for the
year ended December 31, 2019, mainly attributable to the $1.2 million increase in the deferred tax liabilities related to the indefinite-lived
intangibles, partially offset by $0.9 million additional indefinite-lived deferred tax assets generated in 2019. Among the $0.9 million, $0.1 million
was related to the pre-tax losses generated by the Company’s U.S. business operations, specifically the indefinite-lived pre-tax losses generated
after 2017, and $0.8 million was related to the interest expense disallowed after 2017 that can be carried forward indefinitely. The Company
continues to have a full valuation allowance against its foreign deferred tax assets.
As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Company had valuation allowances for deferred tax assets related to its continuing operations
in the amount of $74.0 million and $72.7 million, respectively.
Unremitted Earnings
The Company’s foreign subsidiaries may generate earnings that are not subject to U.S. income taxes so long as they are permanently
reinvested in its operations outside of the U.S. Pursuant to ASC Topic No. 740-30, undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries that are no
longer permanently reinvested would become subject to deferred income taxes.
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Uncertain Tax Positions
A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of total unrecognized tax benefits is as follows (in thousands):
Year Ended December 31,
2019
2018

(in thousands)

Unrecognized tax benefits at January 1
Reductions to unrecognized tax benefits from lapse of statutes of limitations
Unrecognized tax benefits at December 31

$

Unrecognized tax benefits from discontinued operations at December 31
Unrecognized tax benefits from continuing operations at December 31

$

$

$

3,095
(197)
2,898

$

998
1,900
2,898

$

3,328
(233)
3,095

$

1,194
1,901
3,095

$

As of December 31, 2019, the Company provided for a liability of $2.9 million for unrecognized tax benefits related to various federal,
foreign and state income tax matters compared with a liability of $3.1 million for unrecognized tax benefits as of December 31, 2018. The
Company has elected to classify interest and penalties related to uncertain income tax positions in income tax expense. As of December 31, 2019,
the Company accrued $1.2 million for potential payment of interest and penalties, compared with $1.7 million accrued as of December 31, 2018.
As of each of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the total amount of unrecognized tax benefits that, if recognized, would affect the effective
tax rate was $0.4 million. In 2020, the Company anticipates it will release less than $0.7 million of accruals of uncertain tax positions as the
statute of limitations related to these liabilities will lapse in 2020.
The Company files a consolidated U.S. federal income tax return. Currently, the Company is not under examination for income tax
purposes by any taxing jurisdiction. A presentation of open tax years by jurisdiction is as follows:
Tax Jurisdiction

Examination in Progress

United States
Mexico
China
The Netherlands

Open Tax Years for Examination

None
None
None
None

2006 to Present
2014 to Present
2011 to 2017
2016 to 2018

NOTE 10—REVENUE
Disaggregation of Revenue
Disaggregated revenue by type of contract was as follows.
Year Ended December 31,
(in thousands)

2019

Cost-plus reimbursement contracts
Fixed-price contracts
Total

$

2018

210,538
35,249
245,787

$

$

158,278
30,640
188,918

$

Disaggregated revenue by the geographic area where the work was performed was as follows:
Year Ended December 31,
(in thousands)

United States
Canada
Total

2019

$

2018

228,820
16,967
245,787

$

F-23
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$

188,918
—
188,918
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Contract Balances
The Company enters into contracts that allow for periodic billings over the contract term that are dependent upon specific advance
billing terms, as services are provided, or as milestone billings based on completion of certain phases of work. Projects with performance
obligations recognized over time that have costs and estimated earnings recognized to date in excess of cumulative billings are reported in the
Company’s consolidated balance sheet as contract assets. Projects with performance obligations recognized over time that have cumulative
billings in excess of costs and estimated earnings recognized to date are reported in the Company’s consolidated balance sheet as contract
liabilities. At any point in time, each project in process could have either contract assets or contract liabilities.
The following table provides information about contract assets and contract liabilities from contracts with customers.
December 31,
2019
2018

(in thousands)

Costs incurred on uncompleted contracts
Earnings recognized on uncompleted contracts
Total
Less—billings to date
Net
Contract assets
Contract liabilities
Net

$

$
$
$

214,887
30,902
245,789
(241,263)
4,526
7,225
(2,699)
4,526

$

160,368
28,581
188,949
(184,009)
$
4,940
$
8,218
(3,278)
$
4,940

For the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company recognized revenue of approximately $2.9 million that was included in the
corresponding contract liability balance at December 31, 2018.
Remaining Performance Obligations
The following table includes estimated revenue expected to be recognized in the future related to performance obligations that are
unsatisfied (or partially unsatisfied) as of December 31, 2019.
(in thousands)

Remaining performance obligations

2020

$

2021

191,282
F-24

$

116,900

Thereafter

$

186,722

Total

$

494,904
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NOTE 11—DEBT
As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Company had the following debt, net of unamortized deferred financing costs:
December 31,
(in thousands)

2019

MidCap Facility
Current portion of New Centre Lane Facility
Current debt

$

2018

$

10,849
700
11,549

New Centre Lane Facility
Unamortized deferred financing costs
Long-term debt, net
Total debt, net

$
$

3,274
525
3,799

$

33,687
(1,029)
32,658

$

34,387
(1,409)
32,978

$

44,207

$

36,777

MidCap Facility
On October 11, 2018, the Company entered into a three-year, $15.0 million Credit and Security Agreement with MidCap Financial
Trust (“MidCap”), as agent and as a lender, and other lenders that may be added as a party thereto (as amended, the “MidCap Facility”). The
MidCap Facility is a secured asset-based revolving credit facility that provides borrowing availability against 85% of eligible accounts receivable
and the lesser of 80% of eligible contract assets and $1.0 million, after certain customary exclusions and reserves, and allows for up to $6.0
million of non-cash collateralized letters of credit. The Company can, if necessary, make daily borrowings under the MidCap Facility with same
day funding. The outstanding loan balance under the MidCap Facility is reduced through the daily automated sweeping of the Company’s
depository accounts to the lender’s account under the terms of deposit account control agreements. As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the
Company had $10.8 million and $3.3 million, respectively, outstanding under the MidCap Facility, which was included in short-term borrowings
on the consolidated balance sheets. At December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Company had $0.7 million and $4.7 million, respectively, in available
borrowing under the MidCap facility.
Borrowings under the MidCap Facility bear interest at the London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) plus 6.0% per year, subject to a
minimum LIBOR rate of 1.0%, and are payable in cash on a monthly basis.
The Company must pay a customary unused line fee equal to 0.5% per annum of the average unused portion of the commitments under
the MidCap Facility, certain other customary administration fees and a minimum balance fee. In addition, while any letters of credit are
outstanding under the MidCap Facility, the Company must pay a letter of credit fee equal to 6.0% per annum, in addition to any other customary
fees required by the issuer of the letter of credit.
The Company’s obligations under the MidCap Facility are secured by first priority liens on substantially all of its assets, other than the
Excluded Collateral (as defined in the MidCap Facility), subject to the terms of an intercreditor agreement, dated as of October 11, 2018 (as
amended, the “Intercreditor Agreement”), entered into by an affiliate of Centre Lane Partners, LLC (“Centre Lane”), as a lender under the New
Centre Lane Facility (as defined below), and MidCap, as agent, and to which the Company consented. The Intercreditor Agreement was entered
into as required by the MidCap Facility and the New Centre Lane Facility. The first priority liens previously granted by the Company and certain
of its wholly owned subsidiaries in favor of the Centre Lane affiliate in connection with the New Centre Lane Facility are also subject to the
Intercreditor Agreement, which, among other things, specifies the relative lien priorities of the secured parties under each of the MidCap Facility
and the New Centre Lane Facility in the relevant collateral. It contains customary provisions regarding, among other things, the rights of the
respective secured parties to take enforcement actions against the collateral and certain limitations on amending the documentation governing
each of the MidCap Facility and the New Centre Lane Facility. It additionally provides secured parties under each of the MidCap Facility and the
New Centre Lane Facility the option, in certain instances, to purchase all outstanding obligations of the Company under the other respective loan.
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The Company may from time to time voluntarily prepay outstanding amounts under the MidCap Facility, in whole or in part, in a
minimum amount of $0.1 million. If at any time the amount outstanding under the MidCap Facility exceeds the borrowing base in effect at such
time, the Company must repay the excess amount in cash, cash collateralize liabilities under letters of credit, or cause the cancellation of
outstanding letters of credit (or any combination of the foregoing), in an aggregate amount equal to such excess. The Company is also required to
repay certain amounts outstanding under the MidCap Facility upon the occurrence of certain events involving the assets upon which the
borrowing base is calculated, including receipt of payments or proceeds from the Company’s accounts receivable, certain casualty proceeds in
excess of $25,000, and receipt of proceeds following certain asset dispositions. The Company also has certain reimbursement obligations in the
event of payments by the agent or a lender against draws under outstanding letters of credit.
In the event the MidCap Facility is terminated (by reason of an event of default or otherwise) 90 days or more prior to the maturity date,
the Company will be required to pay a prepayment fee in an amount equal to the aggregate commitment under the MidCap Facility at the time of
termination, multiplied by 2.0% in the first two years following October 11, 2018, 1.5% in the third year, and 1.0% thereafter.
The MidCap Facility requires the Company to regularly provide financial information to the lenders, and, beginning on December 31,
2018, to maintain certain total leverage and fixed charge coverage ratios and meet minimum consolidated adjusted EBITDA and minimum
liquidity requirements (each of which as defined in the MidCap Facility). The Company determined that it was not in compliance with these
covenants (other than the minimum liquidity requirement) as of the last day of its third quarter, and accordingly, effective as of November 13,
2019, the Company entered into an amendment to the MidCap Facility that changed the required levels of both financial covenants so that the
Company was in compliance with the MidCap Facility as amended as of September 29, 2019. The Company’s expense related to this amendment
was $0.1 million, which is included in general and administrative expenses on the consolidated statement of operations for the year ended
December 31, 2019. As of December 31, 2019, the Company was in compliance with all three covenants.
The MidCap Facility also contains customary representations and warranties, as well as customary affirmative and negative covenants.
The MidCap Facility contains covenants that may, among other things, limit the Company’s ability to incur additional debt, incur liens, make
investments, engage in mergers, dispositions or sale-leasebacks, engage in new lines of business or certain transactions with affiliates and change
accounting policies or fiscal year.
Events of default under the MidCap Facility include, but are not limited to, failure to timely pay any amounts due and owing, a breach of
certain covenants or any representations or warranties, the commencement of any bankruptcy or other insolvency proceeding, judgments in
excess of certain acceptable amounts, certain events related to ERISA matters, impairment of security interests in collateral or invalidity of
guarantees or security documents, and a default or event of default under the New Centre Lane Facility or the Intercreditor Agreement.
Upon default, MidCap would have the right to declare all borrowings under the MidCap Facility to be immediately due and payable,
together with accrued interest and fees, and exercise remedies under the other Financing Documents (as defined in the MidCap Facility).
Centre Lane Facilities
In June 2017, the Company refinanced and replaced its then-existing debt with a 4.5-year senior secured term loan facility with an
affiliate of Centre Lane as Administrative Agent and Collateral Agent, and the other lenders from time to time party thereto (as amended, the
“Initial Centre Lane Facility”). The Initial Centre Lane Facility did not provide for working capital borrowings or access to additional letters of
credit. These restrictions were addressed when the Company refinanced and replaced the Initial Centre Lane Facility with a new Centre Lane
Facility and when it entered into the MidCap Facility discussed above.
On September 18, 2018, the Company refinanced and replaced its Initial Centre Lane Facility with a four-year $35.0 million senior
secured credit agreement with an affiliate of Centre Lane as Administrative Agent and Collateral Agent, and the other lenders from time to time
party thereto (the “New Centre Lane Facility”). The Company recorded a loss on extinguishment of debt of $1.1 million, which is included in
interest expense on the consolidated statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2018. After payment of the amounts outstanding
under the Initial Centre Lane Facility and fees associated with the New Centre Lane Facility, net cash proceeds were $1.0 million.
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The New Centre Lane Facility requires payment of an annual administration fee of $25,000. Borrowings under the New Centre Lane
Facility bear interest at LIBOR (with a minimum rate of 2.5%) plus 10.0% per year, payable monthly in cash. The Company must repay an
amount equal to 0.25% of the original aggregate principal amount of the New Centre Lane Facility in consecutive quarterly installments,
beginning on December 31, 2018 through June 30, 2019. The Company must repay an amount equal to 0.50% of the original aggregate principal
amount of the New Centre Lane Facility in consecutive quarterly installments, beginning on September 30, 2019.
The Company’s obligations under the New Centre Lane Facility are guaranteed by all of its wholly owned domestic subsidiaries, subject
to customary exceptions. The Company’s obligations are secured by first priority security interests on substantially all of its assets and those of its
wholly owned domestic subsidiaries. This includes 100% of the voting equity interests of the Company’s domestic subsidiaries and 65% of the
voting equity interests of other directly owned foreign subsidiaries, subject to customary exceptions.
Beginning on September 19, 2019, the Company may voluntarily prepay the New Centre Lane Facility at any time or from time to time,
in whole or in part, in a minimum amount of $1.0 million of the outstanding principal amount, plus any accrued but unpaid interest on the
aggregate principal amount being prepaid, plus a prepayment premium, to be calculated as follows (the “Prepayment Premium”):
Prepayment Premium as a
Percentage of Aggregate
Outstanding Principal Prepaid

Period

September 19, 2019 to September 18, 2021

1%

After September 18, 2021

0%

Subject to certain exceptions, the Company must prepay an aggregate principal amount equal to 75% of its Excess Cash Flow (as
defined in the New Centre Lane Facility), minus the sum of all voluntary prepayments, within five business days after the date that is 90 days
following the end of each fiscal year. The New Centre Lane Facility also requires mandatory prepayment of certain amounts in the event the
Company or its subsidiaries receive proceeds from certain events and activities, including, among others, asset sales, casualty events, the
issuance of indebtedness and equity interests not otherwise permitted under the New Centre Lane Facility and the receipt of tax refunds or
extraordinary receipts in excess of $500,000, plus, in certain instances, the applicable Prepayment Premium, calculated as set forth above.
The New Centre Lane Facility contains customary representations and warranties, as well as customary affirmative and negative
covenants. The New Centre Lane Facility contains covenants that may, among other things, limit the Company’s ability to incur additional debt,
incur liens, make investments or capital expenditures, declare or pay dividends, engage in mergers, acquisitions and dispositions, engage in new
lines of business or certain transactions with affiliates and change accounting policies or fiscal year.
The New Centre Lane Facility requires the Company to regularly provide financial information to the lenders, and, beginning on
December 31, 2018, to maintain certain total leverage and fixed charge coverage ratios and meet minimum consolidated adjusted EBITDA and
minimum liquidity requirements (each of which as defined in the New Centre Lane Facility). The Company determined that it was not in
compliance with certain of these covenants as of the last day of its third quarter, and accordingly, on November 13, 2019, the Company entered
into an amendment to the New Centre Lane Facility that changed the required levels of both the leverage ratio and the minimum consolidated
adjusted EBITDA so that the Company was in compliance with the New Centre Lane Facility as amended as of September 29, 2019. The
Company’s expense related to this amendment was $0.3 million, which is included in general and administrative expenses on the consolidated
statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2019. As of December 31, 2019, the Company was in compliance with these covenants.
Events of default under the New Centre Lane Facility include, but are not limited to, a breach of any of the financial covenants or any
representations or warranties, failure to timely pay any amounts due and owing, the commencement of any bankruptcy or other insolvency
proceeding, judgments in excess of certain acceptable amounts, the occurrence of a change in control, certain events related to ERISA matters and
impairment of security interests in collateral or invalidity of guarantees or security documents.
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Upon a default under the New Centre Lane Facility, the Company’s senior secured lenders would have the right to accelerate the thenoutstanding amounts under such facility and to exercise their rights and remedies to collect such amounts, which would include foreclosing on
collateral constituting substantially all of the Company’s assets and those of its subsidiaries. However, in October 2018, the Company entered
into the MidCap Facility, which provides for a secured asset-based revolving credit facility that provides borrowing availability against 85% of
eligible accounts receivable and the lesser of 80% of eligible contract assets and $1.0 million; as such, the lenders under the MidCap Facility hold
a first priority lien on the Company’s accounts receivable and contract assets.
The scheduled maturities of the New Centre Lane Facility are as follows:
December 31,

(in thousands)

2020
2021
2022
Thereafter
Total

$

700
700
32,987
—
34,387

$

The Company’s borrowing rate under the New Centre Lane Facility at December 31, 2019 was 12.5%.
Letters of Credit and Bonds
In line with industry practice, the Company is often required to provide letters of credit and payment and performance surety bonds to
customers. These letters of credit and bonds provide credit support and security for the customer if the Company fails to perform its obligations
under the applicable contract with such customer.
The MidCap Facility allows for up to $6.0 million of non-cash collateralized letters of credit at 6.0% interest, of which the Company had
$1.8 million and $2.7 million outstanding as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. There were no amounts drawn upon these letters of
credit.
In addition, as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Company had outstanding payment and performance surety bonds of $59.3 million
and $51.1 million, respectively.
Deferred Financing Costs
Deferred financing costs are amortized over the terms of the related debt facilities using the effective yield method. The following table
summarizes the amortization of deferred financing costs related to the Company's debt facilities and recognized in interest expense on the
consolidated statements of operations:
December 31,
(in thousands)

2019

2018

Initial Centre Lane Facility*
$
—
$
1,460
New Centre Lane Facility
380
111
MidCap Facility
235
52
Total
$
615
$
1,623
* 2018 includes accelerated amortization of deferred financing costs of $0.6 million associated with the fourth amendment to the Initial
Centre Lane Facility entered into in April 2018.
The following table summarizes unamortized deferred financing costs on the Company's consolidated balance sheets:
December 31,
(in thousands)

Location

New Centre Lane Facility
MidCap Facility
Total

Long-term debt, net
Other long-term assets

2019

$
$
F-28
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1,029
419
1,448

$
$

1,409
654
2,063
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NOTE 12—EARNINGS PER SHARE
As of December 31, 2019, the Company’s 19,057,195 shares outstanding included 282,059 shares of contingently issued but unvested
restricted stock. As of December 31, 2018, the Company’s 18,660,218 shares outstanding included 193,589 shares of contingently issued but
unvested restricted stock. Restricted stock is excluded from the calculation of basic weighted average shares outstanding, but its impact, if
dilutive, is included in the calculation of diluted weighted average shares outstanding.
Basic earnings per common share are calculated by dividing net income by the weighted average common shares outstanding during the
period. Diluted earnings per common share are based on the weighted average common shares outstanding during the period, adjusted for the
potential dilutive effect of common shares that would be issued upon the vesting and release of restricted stock awards and units.
Basic and diluted loss per common share from continuing operations were calculated as follows:
Year Ended December 31,
2019
2018

(in thousands, except share data)

Income (loss) from continuing operations

$

Basic income (loss) per common share:
Weighted average common shares outstanding

1,022

$

18,700,107

Basic income (loss) per common share

$

Diluted income (loss) per common share:
Weighted average common shares outstanding
Diluted effect:
Unvested portion of restricted stock units and awards
Weighted average diluted common shares outstanding
Diluted income (loss) per common share

$

0.05

(13,790)
18,207,661

$

(0.76)

18,700,107

18,207,661

221,905
18,922,012

—
18,207,661

0.05

$

(0.76)

The weighted-average number of shares outstanding used in the computation of basic and diluted earnings per share does not include the
effect of the following potential outstanding common stock. The effects of these potentially outstanding shares were not included in the
calculation of diluted earnings per share because the effect would have been anti-dilutive:
Year Ended December 31,
2019
2018

Unvested service-based restricted stock awards
Unvested performance- and market-based restricted stock awards
Stock options

422,486
892,814
122,000

1,515
620,457
122,000

NOTE 13—STOCK‑BASED COMPENSATION
Description of the Plans
The Company has one equity incentive plan: the 2015 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended and restated on June 10, 2019, (the “2015
Plan”). The 2015 Plan allows for the issuance of up to 1,000,000 shares of stock awards to the Company’s employees and directors in the form of
a variety of instruments, including stock options, restricted stock, restricted share units, stock appreciation rights and other share-based awards.
The 2015 Plan also allows for cash-based awards. Generally, all participants who voluntarily terminate their employment with the Company
forfeit 100% of all unvested equity awards. Persons who are terminated without cause, or in some cases leave for good reason, are entitled to
proportionate vesting. Time-based proportionate vested shares are accelerated and distributed upon their termination date. Proportionate marketbased and performance-based restricted shares remain categorized as unvested pending final conclusion on the achievement of the related awards.
As of December 31, 2019, the Company had approximately 973,335 shares available for grant under the 2015 Plan.
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During 2019 and 2018, the Company granted 143,000 and 967,029 restricted stock units, respectively, to certain employees outside of
the 2015 Plan. All amounts and units described below include these awards.
Total stock‑based compensation expense during the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 was $1.6 million and $1.2 million,
respectively, with no related excess tax benefit recognized, and was included in general and administrative expenses on the Company’s
consolidated statements of operations. As of December 31, 2019, total unrecognized compensation expense related to all unvested restricted
stock and restricted stock unit awards for which terms and conditions are known totaled $1.9 million, which is expected to be recognized over a
weighted average period of 1.9 years. The fair value of shares that vested during 2019 and 2018 based on the stock price at the applicable vesting
date was $0.7 million and $1.7 million, respectively. The weighted average grant date fair value of the Company’s restricted stock units was
$2.29 and $2.07 for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.
Service-Based Restricted Stock and Unit Awards: During 2019, the Company granted 358,613 service-based restricted stock units
under the 2015 Plan at a grant date fair value of $2.35 per share. These service-based restricted stock units vest ratably over a three-year period
beginning on March 31, 2020. The fair value of service-based restricted stock units represents the closing price of the Company’s common stock
on the date of grant.
Additionally, during 2019, service-based restricted stock units of 21,500 and 100,000 were granted to certain employees outside of the
2015 Plan at a grant date fair value of $2.60 per share and $1.95 per share, respectively. These service-based restricted stock units generally vest
over a period of three years and will be settled with treasury stock. The Company also granted 149,639 service-based restricted stock awards out
of treasury stock to its five non-employee directors at a grant date fair value of $2.45 per share. The service-based restricted stock awards vest
ratably over a four- year period beginning on January 22, 2020. The fair value of service-based restricted stock units and restricted stock awards
represents the closing price of the Company’s common stock on the date of grant. These restricted stock units and restricted stock awards are
accounted for as equity awards and are included in the table below.
During 2019 and 2018, certain service-based restricted stock units (the “modified service awards”) that were previously accounted for
as liabilities totaling 62,962 and 210,668, respectively, vested. These awards were modified and settled, partially, with shares from the 2015 Plan
and the remaining out of the Company’s treasury stock, which resulted in accounting for these awards under the equity method. The fair value of
the modified service awards was based on the closing price of the Company’s stock on the modification date. The modification of these awards
resulted in a $0.2 million and $0.3 million reduction in stock compensation expense for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018,
respectively.
Information for service-based restricted stock and restricted stock units, excluding those accounted for as liability awards, is as follows:
Weighted-Average
Grant Date
Fair Value per Share

Shares

Unvested restricted stock and restricted stock units at December 31, 2018
Granted
Vested
Modified
Forfeited
Unvested restricted stock and restricted stock units at December 31, 2019

634,754
654,857
(375,515)
62,962
(54,556)
922,502

$

2.65
2.32
3.04
4.30
2.50
2.41

Market-Based Restricted Stock Unit Awards: During 2019, market-based restricted stock units of 21,500 were granted to certain
employees outside of the 2015 Plan and will be settled with treasury stock. The 2019 units contain a market condition based on a stock price goal.
The stock price goal will be met if the Company’s common stock price per share equals or exceeds $5.00 for any period of 30 consecutive trading
days during a three-year period ending on March 31, 2021. These restricted stock units will vest ratably over a period of three years if the stock
price goal is met on or before March 31, 2019. However, if the stock price goal is achieved after March 31, 2019 and on or prior to March 31,
2020, the restricted stock units will vest in three installments, with one-third vesting on the date the stock price goal is met, one-third vesting on
March 31, 2020 and one-third vesting on March 31, 2021. Further, if the stock price goal is achieved after March 31, 2020 and on or prior to
March 31, 2021, the restricted stock units will vest in two installments, with two-thirds vesting on the date the stock price
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goal is met and one-third vesting on March 31, 2021. If the stock price goal is met after March 31, 2021 and during the three-year implied service
period, the restricted stock units will vest in full on the date that the stock price goal is met.
Information for market-based restricted stock units is as follows:
Weighted-Average
Grant Date
Fair Value per Share

Shares

Unvested restricted stock units at December 31, 2018
Granted
Vested
Modified
Forfeited
Unvested restricted stock units at December 31, 2019

620,457
21,500
—
—
(21,808)
620,149

$

1.72
0.75
—
—
0.94
1.79

$

The Company estimates the fair value of its market‑based restricted stock unit awards on the date of grant using a Monte Carlo
simulation valuation model. This pricing model uses multiple simulations to evaluate the likelihood of achieving the market conditions set forth
in the award agreements. Expense is only recorded for the number of market‑based restricted stock unit awards granted. The assumptions used to
estimate the fair value of market‑based restricted stock unit awards granted during 2019 and accounted for under the equity method were as
follows:
Expected term (years)
Expected volatility
Expected dividend yield
Risk-free interest rate
Weighted-average grant date fair value

$

2.46
37.0 %
0.00 %
2.52 %
0.75

Performance-based awards: During 2019, the Company granted cash-based performance awards under the 2015 Plan valued at $1.7
million. At the Company’s discretion, these performance-based restricted stock awards can be settled in cash or shares. The performance
objectives associated with these awards are established by the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors (the “Compensation
Committee”) on an annual basis. For the 2019 performance period, the performance objective is based on the Company’s backlog performance
target as of December 31, 2019. Performance objectives for the two succeeding years will be established by the Compensation Committee in the
respective performance period. Award payouts range from a threshold of 50% to a maximum of 200% for each respective annual performance
period. Because the Company intends to settle the cash-based performance awards that are scheduled vest on March 31, 2020 with shares, the fair
value of the cash-based performance awards with an established 2019 performance objective represents the closing price of the Company’s
common stock on the date of grant. The fair value of the cash-based performance awards that are scheduled to vest on March 31, 2021 and 2022
will be measured in the year that the respective performance objective is established and approved by the Compensation Committee. The
Company recognizes stock-based compensation expense related to its cash-based performance awards based on its determination of the
likelihood of achieving the performance objective. The Company reassesses the likelihood of meeting the specified performance objective at the
end of each reporting period and adjusts compensation expense, as necessary, based on the likelihood of achieving the performance objective.
Cash-based awards: During 2017, cash-based awards totaling $0.9 million were awarded to employees. The cash-based awards granted
to employees generally vest over a period of two years and are accounted for as liability awards. As of December 31, 2018, the Company had a
$0.2 million liability related to this award which was included in other current liabilities on the consolidated balance sheet. No cash-based awards
were granted in 2019 or 2018.
Stock Options: During 2015, the Company granted a stock option to purchase 122,000 shares of its common stock to its former chief
executive officer at an exercise price of $13.85 per share. The option provides for immediate vesting of 32,000 shares, with the remaining 90,000
vesting ratably over a ten month period beginning in June 2015 and has a five year term. This is the only stock option grant the Company has
made to date.
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The following table summarizes stock option activity for the year ended December 31, 2019:
Weighted-Average
Exercise Price

Options

Outstanding at December 31, 2018
Outstanding at December 31, 2019
Exercisable at December 31, 2019

122,000
122,000
122,000

$
$
$

13.85
13.85
13.85

Weighted-Average
Remaining Contract Term

2.625 years
2.625 years

The weighted average fair value of the stock option on the date of the grant was $2.58. The fair value of each stock option is estimated
on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The exercise price of the options is based on the fair market value of the
common shares on the date of grant.
Cash flows resulting from excess tax benefits are classified as part of cash flows from financing activities. Excess tax benefits are
realized tax benefits from tax deductions for vested restricted stock and restricted stock unit awards, and exercised options in excess of the
deferred tax asset attributable to stock compensation costs for such equity awards. The Company realized no excess tax benefits for the years
ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 due to the use of NOL carryforwards.
NOTE 14—EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS
Defined Contribution Plan: The Company maintains a 401(k) plan covering substantially all of its U.S. employees. Expense for the
Company’s 401(k) plan during the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 was $0.8 million and $0.6 million, respectively.
Multiemployer Pension Plans: During 2019, the Company contributed to approximately 70 multiemployer pension plans throughout
the U.S. and, historically, it has contributed to over 150 union sponsored multiemployer pension plans throughout the U.S. under the terms of
collective‑bargaining agreements that cover the Company’s union‑represented employees. The risks of participating in these multiemployer
pension plans are different from single‑employer pension plans primarily in the following aspects:
1.

Assets contributed to the multiemployer pension plan by one employer may be used to provide benefits to employees of other
participating employers.

2.

If a participating employer stops contributing to the multiemployer pension plan, the unfunded obligations of the multiemployer
pension plan may be borne by the remaining participating employers.

3.

If the Company chooses to stop participating in some of its multiemployer pension plans, it may be required to pay those plans an
amount based on the underfunded status of the multiemployer pension plan, referred to as a withdrawal liability.

The Company’s participation in these multiemployer pension plans during the year ended December 31, 2019 is outlined in the
following table. All information in the tables is as of December 31, of the relevant year, or 2019, unless otherwise stated. The “EIN/Pension Plan
Number” column provides the Employer Identification Number (“EIN”) and the three‑digit plan number, if applicable. Unless otherwise noted,
the most recent Pension Protection Act zone status available during 2019 and 2018 is for the respective plan’s fiscal year‑end as of 2019 and
2018, respectively. The zone status is based on information that the Company received from the plan and is certified by the plan’s actuary.
Among other factors, plans in the green zone are at least 80 percent funded. If a plan is critical and declining, the plan sponsor may file an
application with the Secretary of the Treasury requesting a temporary or permanent reduction of benefits to keep the plan from running out of
money. If a fund is in critical status, adjustable benefits may be reduced and no lump sum distributions in excess of $5,000 can be made. Plans
that are in critical and endangered status are required to adopt a plan aimed at restoring the financial health of the benefit plan. The “Rehab Plan
Status Pending/Implemented” column indicates plans for which a financial improvement plan or a rehabilitation plan is either pending or has
been implemented. The nest to last column lists the expiration date of the collective‑bargaining agreement to which the plans are subject.
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Certain plans have been aggregated in the “All Others” line in the following table, as the contributions to each of these individual plans
are not material.
Pension

Pension Fund

Boilermaker-Blacksmith National Pension Trust
Central Pension Fund of the IUOE and Participating
Employers
Central States, Southeast, and Southwest Pension
Fund

EIN/Pension
Plan
Number
48-6168020
001
36-6052390
001

Excavators Union Local 731 Pension Fund

36-6044243
001
13-1809825
001

IBEW Local 1579 Pension Plan
Iron Workers District Council of Tennessee Valley &
Vicinity Pension Plan

58-1254974
001
62-6098036
001

Protection Act
Zone Status
2019

2018

Critical

Critical

Green

Green

Critical &
Declining

Critical &
Declining

Green

Green

Endangered

Seriously
Endangered

Green

Green

IUPAT Industry Pension Plan

52-6073909
001

Seriously
Endangered

Seriously
Endangered

Laborers National Pension Fund

75-1280827
001

Critical

Critical

Endangered

Critical

Green

Green

National Asbestos Workers Pension Plan
National Electrical Benefits Fund

Plumbers & Pipefitters National Pension Fund
Plumbers & Steamfitters Local Union No. 43 Pension
Fund

Sheet Metal Workers' National Pension Fund
Southern Ironworkers Pension Plan
Tri-State Carpenters & Joiners Pension Trust Fund
Washington State Plumbing & Pipefitting Industry
Pension Plan
Washington-Idaho Laborers-Employers Pension Trust

Washington-Idaho-Montana Carpenters-Employers
Retirement Fund

52-6038497
001
53-0181657
001

52-6152779
001
62-6101288
001

52-6112463
001
59-6227091
001
62-0976048
001
91-6029141
001
91-6123988
001

91-6123987
001

Expiration
Date of

($ in thousands)
Rehab Plan
status
Pending/

Endangered

Endangered

Green

Green

Implemented
Rehabilitation
Plan Adopted
05/28/17

Rehabilitation
Plan Adopted
2008

Funding
Improvement
Plan Adopted
08/11/17

Funding
Improvement
Plan Updated
2017
Rehabilitation
Plan Adopted
2017
Rehabilitation
Plan Updated
12/2010

Funding
Improvement
Plan Adopted
04/05/10

Funding
Improvement
Plan Updated
01/01/17

Contributions by
the Company

Surcharge

Collective
Bargaining

2018

Imposed

Agreement

Notes

2,139

2,117

No (7)

Multiple Agreements

1, 5

280

105

Multiple Agreements

5

2019

70

65

303

385

No (7)

385

123

250

128

Varies through
07/31/20
Annual AgreementsAutomatic Renewal

1,853

2,061

Multiple Agreements

5

176

111

Multiple Agreements

5

1,288

1,315

Multiple Agreements

5

308

203

Multiple Agreements

5

284

244
117

Multiple Agreements
Annual AgreementsAutomatic Renewal

5

162

204

354

5

260

111

322

238

No (8)

Multiple Agreements

5

04/30/22

10

Endangered

Endangered

Green
Seriously
Endangered

Green
Endangered

Green

Green

99

69

Green

Green

153

74

Multiple Agreements
Varies through
07/31/20
Annual AgreementsAutomatic Renewal
Annual AgreementsAutomatic Renewal
Annual AgreementsAutomatic Renewal

287

77

Annual AgreementsAutomatic Renewal

1,399

1,335

10,221

9,233

Endangered

Endangered

Rehabilitation
Plan Adopted

Funding
Improvement
Plan Adopted
03/05/12

All Others

No (8)

2
3

3

2
3
4
4

4

(1) Defined Benefit Plans for Unions employed through the GPPMA agreement for Fitzpatrick Nuclear Plant. The GPPMA Agreements are annual agreements that
automatically renew each year.
(2) Defined Benefit Plans for Unions employed through the Southern Company Power Maintenance & Modification Agreement. The Southern Company SCMMA
expires 07/31/2020 and renews each year unless terminated. The individual Union CBA range from 1 to 3 years in duration.
(3) Defined Benefit Plans for Unions employed through the TVA PMMA and Other Agreements. The TVA Labor Agreements are annual agreements that
automatically renew each year.
(4) Defined Benefit Plans for Unions employed through the GPPMA agreement for Columbia Generating Station. The GPPMA Agreements are annual agreements that
automatically renew each year.
(5) Regional and National Defined Benefit Funds for multiple unions employed under different labor agreements.
(6) Defined Benefit Plan for Union employed at Con Ed sites.
(7) No Surcharge required if proper Rehabilitation Plan adopted in labor agreement
(8) No Surcharge required if Plan is not in Critical or Critical & Declining Status
(9) Defined Benefit Plans for Unions employed through the GPPMA agreement for San Onofre, Oyster Creek, Pilgrim, Waterford III, Calvert Cliffs Nuclear Plants
(Holtec).
(10) Defined Benefit Plans for Unions employed through the Nuclear Power Constructtion Agreement. The Nuclear Power Construction Agreement is for new work at
Vogtle and runs through the duration of the project.

Employees covered by multiemployer pension plans are hired for project‑based building and construction purposes. The Company’s
participation level in these plans varies as a result.
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The Company believes that its responsibility for potential withdrawal liabilities associated with participating in multiemployer plans is
limited because the building and construction trades exemption should apply to the substantial majority of the Company’s plan contributions.
However, pursuant to the Pension Protection Act of 2006 and other applicable laws, the Company is also exposed to other potential liabilities
associated with plans that are underfunded. As of December 31, 2019, the Company had been notified that certain pension plans were in critical
funding status. Currently, certain plans are developing, or have developed, a rehabilitation plan that may call for a reduction in participant
benefits or an increase in future employer contributions. Therefore, in the future, the Company could be responsible for potential surcharges,
excise taxes and/or additional contributions related to these plans. Additionally, market conditions and the number of participating employers
remaining in each plan may result in a reorganization, insolvency or mass withdrawal that could materially affect the funded status of
multiemployer plans and the Company’s potential withdrawal liability, if applicable. The Company continues to actively monitor, assess and take
steps to limit its potential exposure to any surcharges, excise taxes, additional contributions and/or withdrawal liabilities. However, the Company
cannot, at this time, estimate the full amount, or even the range, of this potential exposure.
NOTE 15—COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Litigation and Claims: The Company is from time to time party to various lawsuits, claims and other proceedings that arise in the
ordinary course of its business. With respect to all such lawsuits, claims and proceedings, the Company records a reserve when it is probable that
a liability has been incurred and the amount of loss can be reasonably estimated. The Company does not believe that the resolution of any
currently pending lawsuits, claims and proceedings, either individually or in the aggregate, will have a material adverse effect on its financial
position, results of operations or liquidity. However, the outcomes of any currently pending lawsuits, claims and proceedings cannot be predicted,
and therefore, there can be no assurance that this will be the case.
The Company completed a bankruptcy filing of its Koontz-Wagner subsidiary in July 11, 2018. This could require the Company to
incur legal fees and other expenses related to liabilities from this bankruptcy filing. These liabilities could have a material adverse effect on its
results of operations, cash flows and financial position. The filing was for Koontz-Wagner only, not for the Company as a whole, and was
completely separate and distinct from the Williams business and operations. For additional information, please refer to “Note 5—Changes in
Business” to the consolidated financial statements.
The Company prevailed in a putative shareholder class action, which was captioned Budde v. Global Power Equipment Group Inc. and
filed in the U.S. District Court for the Northern District of Texas naming the Company and certain former officers as defendants. This action and
another action were filed on May 13, 2015 and June 23, 2015, respectively and, on July 29, 2015, the court consolidated the two actions and
appointed a lead plaintiff following the District Court’s dismissal with prejudice on September 11, 2018, Plaintiffs appealed the decision to the
United States Court of Appeals for the Fifth Circuit. The Fifth Circuit held oral arguments on August 5, 2019. On August 23, 2019, the Fifth
Circuit issued a per curiam decision affirming the District Court’s dismissal. Plaintiffs have until November 21, 2019, to petition for certiorari
review by the Supreme Court of the United States, but did not do so. The matter is now concluded.
In previous periods, the Company reported that a former operating unit of the Company had been named as a defendant in a limited
number of asbestos personal injury lawsuits. Neither the Company nor its predecessors ever mined, manufactured, produced or distributed
asbestos fiber, the material that allegedly caused the injury underlying these actions. As of April 2019, all pending asbestos-related litigation
against such former operating unit had been dismissed, and there are no longer any such claims outstanding against the unit. Such litigation did
not have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial position, results of operations or liquidity.
Insurance: The Company maintains insurance coverage for most insurable aspects of its business and operations. The Company’s
insurance programs, including, but not limited to, health, general liability and workers’ compensation, have varying coverage limits depending
upon the type of insurance. For the year ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, insurance expense, including insurance premiums related to the
excess claim coverage and claims incurred for continuing operations, was $2.8 million and $2.1 million, respectively.
The Company’s consolidated balance sheets include amounts representing its probable estimated liability related to insurance-related
claims that are known and have been asserted against the Company, and for insurance-related claims that are believed to have been incurred, but
had not yet been reported as of December 31, 2019 and 2018. As of December 31, 2019
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and 2018, the Company provided $0.8 million and $1.1 million, respectively in letters of credit and provided cash collateral of $0.2 million and
$0.3 million, respectively, as security for possible workers’ compensation claims.
Executive Severance: At December 31, 2019, the Company had outstanding severance arrangements with officers and senior
management. The Company’s maximum commitment under all such arrangements, which would apply if the employees covered by these
arrangements were each terminated without cause, was $3.0 million at December 31, 2019.
NOTE 16—MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND CONCENTRATION OF CREDIT RISK
The Company has certain customers that represent more than 10 percent of its consolidated accounts receivable. The balance for these
customers as a percentage of the consolidated accounts receivable is as follows:
December 31,
Customer

2019

Southern Nuclear Operating Company
Tennessee Valley Authority
Energy Northwest

2018

45%
*
*

34%
11%
10%

*Less than 10%
The Company has certain customers that represent more than 10 percent of consolidated revenue. The revenue for these customers as a
percentage of the consolidated revenue is as follows:
Year Ended December 31,
2019
2018

Customer

Southern Nuclear Operating Company
Tennessee Valley Authority
Richmond County Constructors, LLC ("RCC")
Energy Northwest
All others
Total

26%
22%
14%
10%
28%
100%

25%
26%
18%
*
31%
100%

*Less than 10%
NOTE 17—OTHER SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION
Other current assets consist of the following:
December 31,
(in thousands)

2019

Equity method investment in RCC
Right-of-use lease assets
Other long-term assets
Total

$

2018

2,265
5,743
541
8,549

$

$

785
—
865
1,650

$

Other current liabilities consist of the following:
December 31,
(in thousands)

2019

Accrued workers compensation
Accrued job cost
Accrued legal and professional fees
Restructuring reserve
Short-term lease liability
Other accrued expenses
Total

$

$
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604
1,320
36
—
2,985
1,463
6,408

$

$

699
1,385
691
367
—
2,376
5,518
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Other long-term liabilities consist of the following:
December 31,
(in thousands)

2019

Long-term lease liability
Liability for uncertain tax positions
Other long-term liabilities
Total

2018

2,939
1,030
59
4,028

$

—
967
429
1,396

$

NOTE 18—SELECTED QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED)
A summary of the quarterly operating results during 2019 and 2018 follows:
(in thousands, except per share data)
Year Ended December 31, 2019

Revenue
Gross profit
Income (loss) from continuing operations
Income (loss) per common share from continuing operations:
Basic
Diluted

First
Quarter

Third
Quarter

Fourth
Quarter

2019
Total

$

50,652
6,682
395

$

71,466
9,192
1,286

$

56,862 $
5,956
(363)

66,807 $
9,070
(296)

245,787
30,900
1,022

$
$

0.02
0.02

$
$

0.07
0.07

$
$

(0.02) $
(0.02) $

(0.02) $
(0.02) $

0.05
0.05

(in thousands, except per share data)
Year Ended December 31, 2018

Revenue
Gross profit
Income (loss) from continuing operations
Income (loss) per common share from continuing operations:
Basic
Diluted

Second
Quarter

First
Quarter

Second
Quarter

Third
Quarter

Fourth
Quarter

2018
Total

$

43,121 $
6,450
(2,238)

47,975 $
6,747
(6,024)

53,467 $
10,212
(2,840)

44,355 $
5,332
(2,688)

188,918
28,741
(13,790)

$
$

(0.12) $
(0.12) $

(0.33) $
(0.33) $

(0.16) $
(0.16) $

(0.15) $
(0.15) $

(0.76)
(0.76)
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NOTE 19—SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
On January 13, 2020, the Company entered into a Third Amendment to the New Centre Lane Facility that, among other things, redefined and
changed the minimum leverage ratio requirement and changed the minimum consolidated Adjusted EBITDA and minimum liquidity
requirements. In addition, the New Centre Lane Agreement increased the Prepayment Premium to 2% beginning on January 13, 2020 and to 1%
beginning January 14, 2021 and thereafter. The New Centre Lane Agreement also waived the requirement to prepay future cash proceeds
generated from the Company’s Rights Offering (as defined below) and any event of default that would otherwise result from failure to pay such
amounts. The Company’s expense related to the New Centre Lane Agreement was $0.2 million and will be included in general and administrative
expenses on the consolidated statement of operations for the three months ended March 31, 2020.
On January 13, 2020, the Company entered into a Third Amendment to the MidCap Facility that, among other things, increased the
maximum principal amount from $15.0 million to $25.0 million and extended the maturity date to October 11, 2022. In addition, the MidCap
Agreement redefinded and changed the minimum leverage ratio requirement and changed the minimum consolidated Adjusted EBITDA and
minimum liquidity requirements. Further, beginning on January 13, 2020 the MidCap Agreement changed the terms of the origination fee to
2.0% in the first two years, 1.5% for the third year, and 1.0% in the first nine months of the fourth year. The Company’s expense related to the
MidCap Agreement was $0.2 million and will be included in general and administrative expenses on the consolidated statement of operations for
the three months ended March 31, 2020.
In addition to the above, both the Centre Lane Agreement and the MidCap Agreement require certain Canadian subsidiaries of the
Company to become guarantors under the respective credit agreement and to grant liens on their assets to secure such guarantees. The Company
was also required to complete its Rights Offering on or before March 13, 2020. The New Centre Lane Agreement and the MidCap Agreement
both waive the requirement to prepay future cash proceeds generated from the Company’s recent Rights Offering and any event of default that
would otherwise result from failure to pay such amounts. – check this last sentence for accuracy against the MidCap Agreement.
On March 6, 2020, the Company announced the results of its fully backstopped $7.0 million registered offering of subscription rights to
purchase shares of the Company’s common stock to existing holders of the Company’s common stock (the “Rights Offering”) following the
expiration of the subscription period on March 2, 2020. The Rights Offering, in which 5,384,615 shares of common stock were available for
subscription at a price of $1.30 per share, was oversubscribed by 2,960,021 shares. The Rights Offering was backstopped by a commitment from
Wynnefield Capital, Inc. to purchase any unsubscribed shares of common stock. However, the backstop was not utilized due to demand from
other shareholders participating in the offering and oversubscription. The distribution of all new shares took place on March 6, 2020.
The Company’s business could be adversely affected by the effects of widespread outbreak of contagious disease, including the recent
outbreak of respiratory illness caused by COVID-19, novel coronavirus first identified in Wuhan, Hubei Province, China. Any outbreak of
contagious diseases and other adverse public health developments could have a material and adverse effect on the Company’s business
operations. These could include disruptions or restrictions on the Company and its employees’ ability to travel or to distribute services and
materials, as well as temporary closures of the facilities of its suppliers or customers. Any disruption of the Company’s suppliers or customers
would likely impact its sales and operating results. In addition, a significant outbreak of contagious diseases in the human population could result
in a widespread health crisis that could adversely affect both the U.S. and global economy and financial markets, resulting in an economic
downturn that could impact the Company’s operating results. For instance, COVID-19 has caused volatility in the global financial markets and
threatened a slowdown in the global economy. While it is not possible at this time to estimate the impact that COVID-19 could have on the
Company’s operations, the continued spread of COVID-19, the measures taken by the governments of countries affected, actions taken to protect
employees, and the impact of the pandemic on various business activities in affected states and countries could adversely affect the Company’s
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.
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DESCRIPTION OF THE COMMON STOCK OF
WILLIAMS INDUSTRIAL SERVICES GROUP INC.
The following summarizes the terms and provisions of the common stock of Williams Industrial Services Group Inc., a
Delaware corporation (the “Company”). The following summary does not purport to be complete and is qualified in its
entirety by reference to the Company’s Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation, as amended (the
“Certificate of Incorporation”), and Fourth Amended and Restated By-Laws (the “By-Laws”), which the Company has
previously filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission, and applicable Delaware law.
Authorized Capital
The Company’s authorized capital stock consists of 170,000,000 shares of common stock, $0.01 par value per share
(the “Common Stock”).
Under Delaware law, stockholders generally are not personally liable for a corporation’s acts or debts.
Exchange and Trading Symbol
The Common Stock is quoted on the OTCQX® Best Market under the trading symbol “WLMS.”
Voting Rights, Dividends, Rights and Preferences
Holders of Common Stock are entitled to one vote per share on all matters upon which the stockholders are entitled to
vote, including the election of directors. The Company is not authorized to issue any nonvoting Common Stock. In the
election of directors, holders of Common Stock do not have cumulative voting rights. The holders of Common Stock have no
preemptive right to purchase any of the Company’s securities or any securities that are convertible into or exchangeable for
any of the Company’s securities. The Common Stock is not subject to any provisions relating to redemption. The Common
Stock is not by its terms subject to any restrictions on alienation. The Common Stock has no conversion rights and is not
subject to further calls or assessments by the Company. All outstanding shares of Common Stock are fully paid and
nonassessable.
Holders of the Common Stock have equal rights to receive dividends as and when they may be declared by the
Company’s Board of Directors out of funds legally available for the payment of dividends. In the event of the Company’s
liquidation, dissolution or other voluntary or involuntary winding up, holders of the Common Stock are entitled to share
ratably in all assets of the Company remaining after payment of liabilities. The Company currently has no class of preferred
stock authorized or outstanding. To increase the authorized number of shares of Common Stock or create a class of preferred
stock, the affirmative vote of the holders of at least a majority of the Common Stock outstanding would be required.

Amendment of the Certificate of Incorporation and By-Laws
Pursuant to the Certificate of Incorporation, the Company may amend the Certificate of Incorporation without
stockholder approval when permitted under the Delaware General Corporation Law. Generally, under the Delaware General
Corporation Law, the affirmative vote of the holders of at least a majority of the Common Stock outstanding would be
required to amend the Certificate of Incorporation, subject to certain limited exceptions. With limited exceptions, the By-Laws
may be amended by the Company’s Board of Directors by a majority vote of the directors then in office. The stockholders
may also amend the By-Laws by the vote of the holders of at least a majority of the Common Stock outstanding.
Voting at Stockholder Meetings
The By-Laws provide that elections of nominees to the Board of Directors will be determined by a plurality of the
votes cast at the meeting at which a quorum is present and, except as otherwise provided by law, the Certificate of
Incorporation or the By-Laws, all other actions will be determined by the holders of a majority of the votes cast at the
meeting.
Anti-Takeover Effects of Delaware Law and Provisions of the Certificate of Incorporation and By-Laws
Delaware law, the Certificate of Incorporation and the By-Laws contain provisions that might have an anti-takeover
effect. These provisions, which are summarized below, may have the effect of delaying, deterring or preventing a change in
control of the Company. They could also impede a transaction in which the Company’s stockholders might receive a premium
over the then-current market price of the Common Stock and stockholders’ ability to approve transactions that they consider to
be in their best interests.
Business Combinations
The Company has elected in the Certificate of Incorporation to be governed by the provisions of Section 203 of the
Delaware General Corporation Law, also known as the Delaware Merger Moratorium Statute. In general, Section 203, subject
to specific exceptions, prohibits a publicly-held Delaware corporation from engaging in any “business combination” with any
“interested stockholder” for a period of three years following the date that the stockholder became an interested stockholder,
unless:
·

prior to that date, the board of directors approved either the business combination or the transaction that resulted in
the stockholder becoming an interested stockholder;

·

upon consummation of the transaction that resulted in the stockholder becoming an interested stockholder, the
interested stockholder owned at least 85% of the voting stock of the corporation outstanding at the time the
transaction commenced, excluding for purposes of determining the number of shares outstanding those shares
owned by directors, officers and specific employee stock plans; or

·

on or after that date, the business combination is approved by the board of directors and authorized at an annual or
special meeting of stockholders, and not by written
2

consent, by the affirmative vote of the holders of at least 66 2/3% of the outstanding voting stock that is not owned
by the interested stockholder.
Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law defines “business combination” to include, among other things:
·

any merger or consolidation involving the corporation and the “interested stockholder”;

·

any sale, lease, exchange, mortgage, transfer, pledge or other disposition involving the “interested stockholder” of
10% or more of the assets of the corporation;

·

subject to limited exceptions, any transaction that results in the issuance or transfer by the corporation of any stock
of the corporation to the “interested stockholder”;

·

any transaction involving the corporation that has the effect of increasing the proportionate share of the
corporation’s stock of any class or series beneficially owned by the “interested stockholder”; and

·

the receipt by the “interested stockholder” of the benefit of any loans, advances, guarantees, pledges or other
financial benefits provided by or through the corporation.

In general, Section 203 defines “interested stockholder” as an entity or person beneficially owning 15% or more of the
outstanding voting stock of the corporation and any entity or person affiliated with or controlling or controlled by such entity
or person.
The provisions of Section 203 may encourage companies interested in acquiring the Company to negotiate in advance
with the Board of Directors since the stockholder approval requirement would be avoided if the Board of Directors approves
either the business combination or the transaction that results in the stockholder becoming an interested stockholder. These
provisions also may have the effect of preventing changes in the Company’s management or may make it more difficult to
accomplish transactions that stockholders may otherwise deem to be in their best interests. The Company believes that the
benefits of increased protection of its ability to negotiate with an unsolicited acquirer outweigh the disadvantages of
discouraging such proposals because, among other reasons, the negotiation of such proposals could result in an improvement
of their terms.
Authorized but Unissued Shares
The authorized but unissued shares of Common Stock are available for future issuance without stockholder approval.
These additional shares may be used for a variety of corporate purposes, including public offerings to raise additional capital,
corporate acquisitions and employee benefit plans. The existence of authorized but unissued and unreserved Common Stock
could also render more difficult or discourage an attempt to obtain control of the Company by means of a proxy contest, tender
offer, merger or otherwise.
3

Stockholder Meetings
The By-Laws provide that the stockholders may call a special meeting of stockholders only upon the request of at least
25% of the holders of issued and outstanding Common Stock entitled to vote. This provision could delay a stockholder vote
on certain matters, such as a business combination or removal of directors, and could have the effect of deterring a change in
control of the Company. Stockholders may take any action required or permitted to be taken at any special meeting of
stockholders by written consent without a stockholder meeting.
Requirements for Advance Notice of Stockholder Proposals and Nominations at Meetings
The By-Laws contain advance notice requirements that the Company’s stockholders must meet before submitting
proposals or director nominations to be considered at stockholder meetings. As more fully described in the By-Laws, only
such business may be conducted at a stockholder meeting as has been brought before the meeting by, or at the direction of, the
Board of Directors or by a stockholder who has given the Company’s Secretary timely written notice, in proper form, of the
stockholder’s intention to bring that business before the meeting. In addition, only persons who are nominated by, or at the
direction of, the Board of Directors or who are nominated by a stockholder who has given timely written notice, in proper
form, to the Company’s Secretary prior to a meeting at which directors are to be elected will be eligible for election to the
Board of Directors. To be timely, a stockholder’s notice regarding a proposal or director nomination to be brought before an
annual meeting must generally be delivered to the Company’s Secretary not later than the close of business on the 90th day
and not earlier than the close of business on the 120th day prior to the first anniversary of the preceding year’s annual
meeting. If the Company calls a special meeting of stockholders for the purpose of director elections, or if the date of the
annual meeting is advanced by, or delayed by, more than 30 days from the date of the preceding year’s annual meeting, a
stockholder’s notice of director nominations will be considered timely if the stockholder delivers the notice to the Company’s
Secretary not later than the close of business on the later of the 90th day prior to the special meeting and the tenth day
following the day on which the notice is first given to the stockholder of the date of the special meeting and of the nominees
proposed by the Board of Directors, and not earlier than the close of business on the 120th day prior to the meeting. The ByLaws also specify requirements as to the content of a stockholder’s notice. In some instances, these provisions may preclude
the Company’s stockholders from bringing proposals or making nominations for directors at stockholder meetings.
4

Exhibit 10.17
FIRST AMENDMENT TO
SENIOR SECURED CREDIT AGREEMENT
This FIRST AMENDMENT TO SENIOR SECURED CREDIT AGREEMENT, dated as of October 9, 2019 (this
“First Amendment”), is entered into by and among Williams Industrial Services Group, Inc. (“Borrower”), each financial
institution from time to time party hereto as lender (each, a “Lender” and collectively, the “ Lenders”), and CENTRE LANE
PARTNERS MASTER CREDIT FUND II, L.P. , a Delaware limited partnership, as administrative agent for the Lenders (in
such capacity, and together with its successors and assigns, the “Administrative Agent”) and as collateral agent for the Lenders
(in such capacity, and together with its successors and assigns, the “Collateral Agent”).
RECITALS
WHEREAS, the Borrower, the Lenders identified on signatures pages thereto, the Administrative Agent and the
Collateral Agent are parties to that certain Senior Secured Credit Agreement, dated as of September 18, 2018 (the “ Existing
Credit Agreement”; the Existing Credit Agreement, as amended by this First Amendment, the “Credit Agreement”); and
WHEREAS, the Borrower, the Lenders, the Administrative Agent and the Collateral Agent desire to amend certain
provisions of the Existing Credit Agreement in the manner and on the terms and conditions provided for herein.
NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and the mutual covenants and the agreements herein set forth,
and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto,
intending to be legally bound, agree as follows:
ARTICLE I
Definitions
Section 1.1. Certain Definitions. Capitalized terms used herein but not otherwise defined herein shall have the
meanings ascribed thereto in the Credit Agreement.
ARTICLE II
Amendment
Section 2.1. Amendment to Credit Agreement. Upon satisfaction of the conditions set forth in Section 4 hereof, the
Existing Credit Agreement is hereby amended as follows:
( a )
Article I of the Existing Credit Agreement is hereby amended by adding the following new definition in
appropriate alphabetical order:
“First Amendment” means that certain First Amendment to Senior Secured Credit Agreement dated as of
October 9, 2019 by and among the Borrower, the Lenders party thereto, the Administrative Agent and the Collateral
Agent, and acknowledged by the Guarantors.

(b)
Article VI of the Existing Credit Agreement is hereby amended by adding a new Section 6.18 at the conclusion
thereof as follows:
“Section 6.18 First Amendment Post-Closing Obligations. Take all such actions set forth in Article V of the
First Amendment within the time periods set forth therein.”
(c)

Section 7.02(b)(iii) of the Existing Credit Agreement is hereby amended and restated in its entirety as follows:
“(iii) Investments made after the Closing Date in any Foreign Subsidiary in an amount not to exceed $3,000,000
at any time outstanding;”

( d )
Section 8.01(b) of the Existing Credit Agreement is hereby amended by adding “, Section 6.18” after the
reference to “Section 6.16”.
ARTICLE III
Representations and Warranties
Section 3.1. Representations and Warranties. In order to induce the Agents and the Lenders to enter into this First
Amendment, each Loan Party hereby represents and warrants to the Agents and each Lender as follows:
(a)
After giving effect to this First Amendment, the representations and warranties of the Borrower and each other
Loan Party contained in Article V of the Existing Credit Agreement or any other Loan Document shall be true and correct in
all material respects on and as of the date hereof; provided that to the extent that such representations and warranties
specifically refer to an earlier date, they shall be true and correct in all material respects as of such earlier date; provided
further that any representation and warranty that is qualified as to “materiality”, “Material Adverse Effect” or similar language
shall be true and correct (after giving effect to any qualification therein) in all respects on such respective dates.
(b)
The execution, delivery and performance of this First Amendment have been duly authorized by all necessary
action on the part of, and duly executed and delivered by each of the Loan Parties.
(c)

The Loan Parties are in full compliance with each of the Loan Documents.

(d)

No Material Adverse Effect has occurred since the Closing Date.

(e)
No Default or Event of Default currently exists or shall be in existence immediately after giving effect to this
First Amendment.
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ARTICLE IV
Effectiveness
Section 4.1. Effectiveness. This First Amendment shall become effective as of the date set forth above on which
each of the following conditions is satisfied:
(a)
The Administrative Agent shall have received duly executed signature pages to this First Amendment signed
by each Loan Party, the Administrative Agent and the Lenders.
(b)
The Borrower shall have paid to Chapman and Cutler LLP, counsel to the Administrative Agent, all reasonable
and documented out-of-pocket legal fees and expenses incurred in connection with this First Amendment and any outstanding
invoices in respect of reasonable legal fees and expenses of the Administrative Agent incurred in connection with the Loan
Documents.
ARTICLE V
Post-Closing Obligations
Section 5.1.

Canadian Guarantee and Security Agreements.

( a )
Within ten (10) Business Days (or such later time as the Collateral Agent may agree in its reasonable
discretion) of the earlier of (i) the cessation by the Borrower of the refinancing process being undertaken by the Borrower as
of the date hereof and (ii) November 25, 2019, the Borrower shall:
( i )
cause each of WISG Canada Ltd., a British Columbia, Canada corporation, WISG Nuclear Ltd. , a
British Columbia, Canada corporation and WISG Electrical Ltd., a British Columbia, Canada corporation (collectively,
the “Canadian Subsidiaries” and each, a “Canadian Subsidiary”) to become Guarantors under the Credit Agreement and
to execute and deliver to the Collateral Agent, a guaranty, in form and substance reasonably acceptable to the Collateral
Agent, jointly and severally guaranteeing the Obligations of the other Loan Parties under the Loan Documents;
(ii)
furnish to the Collateral Agent a description of the Material Owned Properties and material personal
properties of each Canadian Subsidiary, in each case, in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Collateral
Agent;
(iii)
cause each Canadian Subsidiary to execute and deliver such assignments, pledges and security
agreements as specified by, and in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Collateral Agent, in each case,
securing the payment of all Obligations of such Canadian Subsidiaries under the Loan Documents and granting Liens on
all properties of such Canadian Subsidiary provided, however, that no security interest in fee‑owned real property other
than Material Owned Property shall be required;
(iv)
take and cause each Canadian Subsidiary to take or cause to be taken, whatever action (including,
without limitation, the filing of Personal Property Security Act (Ontario) financing statements, the giving of notices and
the endorsement of notices on title documents) may be necessary or advisable in the reasonable opinion of the Collateral
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Agent to vest in the Collateral Agent (or in any representative of the Collateral Agent designated by it) valid, perfected
Liens on the properties purported to be subject to the pledges, assignments and security agreements delivered pursuant
to this Section 5.1(a), enforceable against all third parties in accordance with their terms, subject to Permitted Liens;
( v )
cause Williams Industrial Services Group, L.L.C. to execute and deliver to the Collateral Agent, a
supplement to the relevant Collateral Document (or another pledge agreement in substantially identical form, if needed)
pledging 100% of the Equity Interests held by Williams Industrial Services Group, L.L.C. in WISG Canada Ltd. and
with all documents delivered pursuant to this Section 5.1(a)(v) to be in form, scope and substance reasonably satisfactory
to the Collateral Agent;
( v i )
do, execute, acknowledge, deliver, record, file and register any and all such further acts, deeds,
conveyances, pledge agreements, deeds of trust, trust deeds, assignments, financing statements, notices of assignment,
transfers, certificates, collateral access agreements, assurances and other instruments as the Collateral Agent may
reasonably require from in order to carry out more effectively the purposes of this Section 5.1(a), and cause each of the
Canadian Subsidiaries to do so.
ARTICLE VI
Miscellaneous
Section 6.1.

Reference to and Effect on the Loan Documents.

( a )
On and after the date hereof, each reference in the Credit Agreement to “this Agreement”, “hereunder”,
“hereof”, “herein” or words of like import referring to the Credit Agreement, and each reference in the other Loan Documents
to the “Credit Agreement”, “thereunder”, “thereof” or words of like import referring to the Credit Agreement shall mean and
be a reference to the Existing Credit Agreement after giving effect to this First Amendment.
(b)
Except as specifically set forth in this First Amendment, the Credit Agreement and the other Loan Documents
shall remain in full force and effect and are hereby ratified and confirmed.
(c)
Except as specifically set forth in this First Amendment, the execution, delivery and performance of this First
Amendment shall not constitute a waiver of any provision of, or operate as a waiver of any right, power or remedy of the
Administrative Agent, the Collateral Agent or any Lender under the Existing Credit Agreement or any of the other Loan
Documents.
Section 6.2. Release. As a material part of the consideration for the Administrative Agent, the Collateral
Agent and the Lenders entering into this First Amendment, the Borrower and each other Loan Party (collectively, the
“Releasors”) agree as follows (the “Release Provision”):
(a)
Other than with respect to the agreements of the Lenders specifically set forth herein, the Releasors,
jointly and severally, hereby release and forever discharge the Administrative Agent, the Collateral Agent, each
Lender and the Administrative Agent’s,
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the Collateral Agent’s and each Lender’s predecessors, successors, assigns, participants, officers, managers, directors,
shareholders, partners, employees, agents, attorneys and other professionals, representatives, parent corporations,
subsidiaries, and affiliates (hereinafter all of the above collectively referred to as the “Lender Group”), from any and
all claims, counterclaims, demands, damages, debts, agreements, covenants, suits, contracts, obligations, liabilities,
accounts, offsets, rights, actions, and causes of action of any nature whatsoever and whether arising at law or in equity,
presently possessed, whether known or unknown, whether liability be direct or indirect, liquidated or unliquidated,
presently accrued, whether absolute or contingent, foreseen or unforeseen, and whether or not heretofore asserted
arising out of, arising under or related to the Loan Documents (collectively, the “Claims”), that Releasors may have or
allege to have against any or all of the Lender Group and that arise from events occurring before the date hereof.
(b)
The Releasors agree not to sue any of the Lender Group nor in any way assist any other person or entity
in suing the Lender Group with respect to any of the Claims released herein. The Release Provision may be pleaded as
a full and complete defense to, and may be used as the basis for an injunction against, any action, suit, or other
proceeding which may be instituted, prosecuted, or attempted in breach of the release contained herein.
(c)

The Releasors acknowledge, warrant, and represent to Lender Group that:

(i)
The Releasors have read and understand the effect of the Release Provision. The Releasors have
had the assistance of independent counsel of their own choice, or have had the opportunity to retain such
independent counsel, in reviewing, discussing, and considering all the terms of the Release Provision; and if
counsel was retained, counsel for Releasors has read and considered the Release Provision and advised Releasors
with respect to the same. Before execution of this First Amendment, the Releasors have had adequate
opportunity to make whatever investigation or inquiry they may deem necessary or desirable in connection with
the subject matter of the Release Provision.
(ii)
The Releasors are not acting in reliance on any representation, understanding, or agreement not
expressly set forth herein. The Releasors acknowledge that Lender Group has not made any representation with
respect to the Release Provision except as expressly set forth herein.
(iii)
The Releasors have executed this First Amendment and the Release Provision thereof as a free and
voluntary act, without any duress, coercion, or undue influence exerted by or on behalf of any person or entity.
(iv)
The Releasors are the sole owners of the Claims released by the Release Provision, and the
Releasors have not heretofore conveyed or assigned any interest in any such Claims to any other person or entity.
(d)
The Releasors understand that the Release Provision was a material consideration in the agreement of
the Administrative Agent, the Collateral Agent and each Lender to enter into this First Amendment.
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(e)
It is the express intent of the Releasors that the release and discharge set forth in the Release Provision
be construed as broadly as possible in favor of Lender Group so as to foreclose forever the assertion by the Releasors of
any Claims released hereby against Lender Group.
(f)
If any term, provision, covenant, or condition of the Release Provision is held by a court of competent
jurisdiction to be invalid, illegal, or unenforceable, the remainder of the provisions shall remain in full force and effect.
(g)
The Releasors acknowledge that they may hereafter discover facts in addition to or different from those
that they now know or believe with respect to the Claims released herein, but the Releasors expressly shall have and
intend to fully, finally and forever have released and discharged any and all such Claims. The Releasors expressly
waive any provision of statutory or decisional law to the effect that a general release does not extend to Claims that the
releasing party does not know or suspect to exist in such party’s favor at the time of executing the release.
Section 6.3. Guarantor’s Acknowledgement and Agreement . By signing below, each Guarantor (a) acknowledges,
consents and agrees to this First Amendment, (b) acknowledges and agrees that its obligations in respect of the Guarantee, the
Security Agreement and the other Collateral Documents are not released, diminished, waived, modified or impaired in any
manner by this First Amendment or any of the provisions contemplated herein, (c) ratifies and confirms its obligations under
the Guarantee, the Security Agreement and the other Collateral Documents, and (d) acknowledges and agrees that it has no
claims or offsets against, or defenses or counterclaims to, the Guarantee, the Security Agreement, any other Collateral
Documents or any other Loan Documents or Obligations.
Section 6.4. Fees. The Borrower hereby affirms its obligation under the Credit Agreement to reimburse the
Administrative Agent, the Collateral Agent and the Lenders for all reasonable and documented out‑of‑pocket costs and
expenses incurred in connection with the preparation, negotiation, execution and delivery of this First Amendment, including
but not limited to all Attorney Costs.
Section 6.5. Headings. The headings in this First Amendment are included for convenience of reference only and
will not affect in any way the meaning or interpretation of this First Amendment.
Section 6.6. Governing Law. This First Amendment, and all claims, disputes and matters arising hereunder or
thereunder or related hereto or thereto, will be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of the State of New
York applicable to contracts executed in and to be performed entirely within that state.
Section 6.7. Counterparts. This First Amendment may be executed in any number of counterparts and by different
parties on separate counterparts, each of which, when executed and delivered, shall be deemed to be an original, and all of
which, when taken together, shall constitute but one and the same First Amendment. Delivery of an executed counterpart of
this First
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Amendment by facsimile or a scanned copy by electronic mail shall be equally as effective as delivery of an original executed
counterpart of this First Amendment.
Section 6.8. Severability. If any term or other provision of this First Amendment is invalid, illegal or incapable of
being enforced by any rule of law, or public policy, all other conditions and provisions of this First Amendment will
nevertheless remain in full force and effect so long as the economic or legal substance of the transactions contemplated hereby
is not affected in any manner adverse to any party. Upon such determination that any term or other provision is invalid, illegal
or incapable of being enforced, the parties hereto will negotiate in good faith to modify this First Amendment so as to effect
the original intent of the parties as closely as possible in an acceptable manner to the end that the transactions contemplated
hereby are fulfilled to the extent possible.
Section 6.9. Binding Effect. This First Amendment will be binding upon and inure to the benefit of and is
enforceable by the respective successors and permitted assigns of the parties hereto.
[Remainder of page intentionally left blank; signatures on following pages.]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this First Amendment to be duly executed and delivered by
their respective officers thereunto duly authorized as of the date first written above.
WILLIAMS INDUSTRIAL SERVICES GROUP, INC.,
as Borrower
By:
/s/ Tracy D. Pagliara
Name: Tracy D. Pagliara
President and Chief Executive Officer
Acknowledged and agreed:
GLOBAL POWER PROFESSIONAL SERVICES INC.
WILLIAMS INDUSTRIAL SERVICES GROUP, L.L.C.
WILLIAMS INDUSTRIAL SERVICES, LLC
WILLIAMS SPECIALTY SERVICES, LLC
WILLIAMS PLANT SERVICES, LLC
WILLIAMS GLOBAL SERVICES, INC.
CONSTRUCTION & MAINTENANCE PROFESSIONALS, LLC
BRADEN HOLDINGS, LLC
STEAM ENTERPRISES LLC
GPEG, LLC, each as Guarantor
By:
/s Tracy D. Pagliara
Name: Tracy D. Pagliara
Title: Vice President

SIGNATURE PAGE
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CENTRE LANE PARTNERS MASTER CREDIT
FUND II, L.P., as Administrative Agent and
Collateral Agent, and as a Lender
By:
/s/ Luke Gosselin
Name: Luke Gosselin
Title: Managing Director
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BTC HOLDINGS FUND I, LLC, as a Lender
By:

Blue Torch Credit Opportunities Fund I LP, its sole
member

By:

Blue Torch Credit Opportunities GP LLC, its general
partner

By:
/s/ Kevin Genda
Name: Kevin Genda
Title: Managing Member

SIGNATURE PAGE
FIRST AMENDMENT TO SENIOR SECURED CREDIT AGREEMENT

BTC HOLDINGS SC FUND LLC, as a Lender
By:

Blue Torch Credit Opportunities SC Master Fund LP, its
sole member

By:

Blue Torch Credit Opportunities SC GP LLC, its General
Partner

By:
/s/ Kevin Genda
Name: Kevin Genda
Title: Managing Member

SIGNATURE PAGE
FIRST AMENDMENT TO SENIOR SECURED CREDIT AGREEMENT

Exhibit 10.18
SECOND AMENDMENT TO
SENIOR SECURED CREDIT AGREEMENT
This SECOND AMENDMENT TO SENIOR SECURED CREDIT AGREEMENT, dated as of November 13, 2019
(this “Second Amendment”), is entered into by and among Williams Industrial Services Group, Inc. (“Borrower”), each
financial institution from time to time party hereto as lender (each, a “Lender” and collectively, the “ Lenders”), and CENTRE
LANE PARTNERS MASTER CREDIT FUND II, L.P. , a Delaware limited partnership, as administrative agent for the
Lenders (in such capacity, and together with its successors and assigns, the “Administrative Agent”) and as collateral agent for
the Lenders (in such capacity, and together with its successors and assigns, the “Collateral Agent”).
RECITALS
WHEREAS, the Borrower, the Lenders identified on signatures pages thereto, the Administrative Agent and the
Collateral Agent are parties to that certain Senior Secured Credit Agreement, dated as of September 18, 2018 (as amended by
the First Amendment, the “Existing Credit Agreement”; the Existing Credit Agreement, as amended by this Second
Amendment, the “Credit Agreement”); and
WHEREAS, the Borrower, the Lenders, the Administrative Agent and the Collateral Agent desire to amend certain
provisions of the Existing Credit Agreement in the manner and on the terms and conditions provided for herein.
NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and the mutual covenants and the agreements herein set forth,
and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto,
intending to be legally bound, agree as follows:
ARTICLE I
Definitions
Section 1.1. Certain Definitions. Capitalized terms used herein but not otherwise defined herein shall have the
meanings ascribed thereto in the Credit Agreement.
ARTICLE II
Amendment
Section 2.1. Amendment to Credit Agreement. Upon satisfaction of the conditions set forth in Section 4 hereof, the
Existing Credit Agreement is hereby amended as follows:
(a)
Section 1.01 of the Existing Credit Agreement is hereby amended to add the following new definition in the
appropriate alphabetical order:
“Second Amendment” means the Second Amendment to Senior Secured Credit Agreement, dated as of November 13,
2019, among the Borrower, the other Loan Parties party thereto, the Administrative Agent and the Lenders party
thereto.

“Second Amendment Effective Date” means the date all the conditions precedent to effectiveness of the Second
Amendment as set forth therein are satisfied or waived in accordance therewith.
“Second Amendment Fee” means $250,000.
(b)
clause (b).

Section 2.05 of the Existing Credit Agreement is hereby amended to insert a new clause (c) after the end of

“(c)
On the Second Amendment Effective Date, as consideration for the Lenders’ and the Agents’ consent to the
Second Amendment, the Borrower shall pay to the Administrative Agent for distribution to the Lenders in accordance
with each Lender’s Pro Rata Share the Second Amendment Fee, which shall be fully earned in all respects on the Second
Amendment Effective Date.”
(c)
The table contained in Section 7.12(a) of the Existing Credit Agreement is hereby amended to replace the Total
Leverage Ratio corresponding to each of the Fiscal Quarters ending September 30, 2019 and December 31, 2019 with
“4.25:1.00”.
(d)
The table contained in Section 7.12(b) of the Existing Credit Agreement is hereby amended to replace the
Minimum Adjusted Consolidated EBITDA corresponding to each of the Fiscal Quarters ending September 30, 2019 and
December 31, 2019 with “$9,000,000”.
ARTICLE III
Representations and Warranties
Section 3.1. Representations and Warranties. In order to induce the Agents and the Lenders to enter into this Second
Amendment, each Loan Party hereby represents and warrants to the Agents and each Lender as follows:
(a)
After giving effect to this Second Amendment, the representations and warranties of the Borrower and each
other Loan Party contained in Article V of the Existing Credit Agreement or any other Loan Document shall be true and
correct in all material respects on and as of the date hereof; provided that to the extent that such representations and warranties
specifically refer to an earlier date, they shall be true and correct in all material respects as of such earlier date; provided
further that any representation and warranty that is qualified as to “materiality”, “Material Adverse Effect” or similar language
shall be true and correct (after giving effect to any qualification therein) in all respects on such respective dates.
( b )
The execution, delivery and performance of this Second Amendment have been duly authorized by all
necessary action on the part of, and duly executed and delivered by each of the Loan Parties.
(c)

The Loan Parties are in full compliance with each of the Loan Documents.

(d)

No Material Adverse Effect has occurred since the Closing Date.
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(e)
No Default or Event of Default currently exists or shall be in existence immediately after giving effect to this
Second Amendment.
ARTICLE IV
Effectiveness
Section 4.1. Effectiveness. This Second Amendment shall become effective as of the date set forth above on which
each of the following conditions is satisfied:
(a)
The Administrative Agent shall have received duly executed signature pages to this Second Amendment signed
by each Loan Party, the Administrative Agent and the Lenders.
(b)
Lenders.

The Borrower shall have paid the Second Amendment Fee to the Administrative Agent for the benefit of the

(c)
The Borrower shall have paid to Chapman and Cutler LLP, counsel to the Administrative Agent, all reasonable
and documented out-of-pocket legal fees and expenses incurred in connection with this Second Amendment and any
outstanding invoices in respect of reasonable legal fees and expenses of the Administrative Agent incurred in connection with
the Loan Documents.
ARTICLE V
Miscellaneous
Section 5.1.

Reference to and Effect on the Loan Documents.

( a )
On and after the date hereof, each reference in the Credit Agreement to “this Agreement”, “hereunder”,
“hereof”, “herein” or words of like import referring to the Credit Agreement, and each reference in the other Loan Documents
to the “Credit Agreement”, “thereunder”, “thereof” or words of like import referring to the Credit Agreement shall mean and
be a reference to the Existing Credit Agreement after giving effect to this Second Amendment.
( b )
Except as specifically set forth in this Second Amendment, the Credit Agreement and the other Loan
Documents shall remain in full force and effect and are hereby ratified and confirmed.
(c)
Except as specifically set forth in this Second Amendment, the execution, delivery and performance of this
Second Amendment shall not constitute a waiver of any provision of, or operate as a waiver of any right, power or remedy of
the Administrative Agent, the Collateral Agent or any Lender under the Existing Credit Agreement or any of the other Loan
Documents.
Section 5.2. Release. As a material part of the consideration for the Administrative Agent, the Collateral
Agent and the Lenders entering into this Second Amendment, the Borrower and each other Loan Party (collectively,
the “Releasors”) agree as follows (the “Release Provision”):
(a)
Other than with respect to the agreements of the Lenders specifically set forth herein, the Releasors,
jointly and severally, hereby release and forever discharge the
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Administrative Agent, the Collateral Agent, each Lender and the Administrative Agent’s, the Collateral Agent’s and
each Lender’s predecessors, successors, assigns, participants, officers, managers, directors, shareholders, partners,
employees, agents, attorneys and other professionals, representatives, parent corporations, subsidiaries, and affiliates
(hereinafter all of the above collectively referred to as the “Lender Group”), from any and all claims, counterclaims,
demands, damages, debts, agreements, covenants, suits, contracts, obligations, liabilities, accounts, offsets, rights,
actions, and causes of action of any nature whatsoever and whether arising at law or in equity, presently possessed,
whether known or unknown, whether liability be direct or indirect, liquidated or unliquidated, presently accrued,
whether absolute or contingent, foreseen or unforeseen, and whether or not heretofore asserted arising out of, arising
under or related to the Loan Documents (collectively, the “Claims”), that Releasors may have or allege to have against
any or all of the Lender Group and that arise from events occurring before the date hereof.
(b)
The Releasors agree not to sue any of the Lender Group nor in any way assist any other person or entity
in suing the Lender Group with respect to any of the Claims released herein. The Release Provision may be pleaded as
a full and complete defense to, and may be used as the basis for an injunction against, any action, suit, or other
proceeding which may be instituted, prosecuted, or attempted in breach of the release contained herein.
(c)

The Releasors acknowledge, warrant, and represent to Lender Group that:

(i)
The Releasors have read and understand the effect of the Release Provision. The Releasors have
had the assistance of independent counsel of their own choice, or have had the opportunity to retain such
independent counsel, in reviewing, discussing, and considering all the terms of the Release Provision; and if
counsel was retained, counsel for Releasors has read and considered the Release Provision and advised Releasors
with respect to the same. Before execution of this Second Amendment, the Releasors have had adequate
opportunity to make whatever investigation or inquiry they may deem necessary or desirable in connection with
the subject matter of the Release Provision.
(ii)
The Releasors are not acting in reliance on any representation, understanding, or agreement not
expressly set forth herein. The Releasors acknowledge that Lender Group has not made any representation with
respect to the Release Provision except as expressly set forth herein.
(iii)
The Releasors have executed this Second Amendment and the Release Provision thereof as a free
and voluntary act, without any duress, coercion, or undue influence exerted by or on behalf of any person or
entity.
(iv)
The Releasors are the sole owners of the Claims released by the Release Provision, and the
Releasors have not heretofore conveyed or assigned any interest in any such Claims to any other person or entity.
4

(d)
The Releasors understand that the Release Provision was a material consideration in the agreement of
the Administrative Agent, the Collateral Agent and each Lender to enter into this Second Amendment.
(e)
It is the express intent of the Releasors that the release and discharge set forth in the Release Provision
be construed as broadly as possible in favor of Lender Group so as to foreclose forever the assertion by the Releasors of
any Claims released hereby against Lender Group.
(f)
If any term, provision, covenant, or condition of the Release Provision is held by a court of competent
jurisdiction to be invalid, illegal, or unenforceable, the remainder of the provisions shall remain in full force and effect.
(g)
The Releasors acknowledge that they may hereafter discover facts in addition to or different from those
that they now know or believe with respect to the Claims released herein, but the Releasors expressly shall have and
intend to fully, finally and forever have released and discharged any and all such Claims. The Releasors expressly
waive any provision of statutory or decisional law to the effect that a general release does not extend to Claims that the
releasing party does not know or suspect to exist in such party’s favor at the time of executing the release.
Section 5.3. Guarantor’s Acknowledgement and Agreement . By signing below, each Guarantor (a) acknowledges,
consents and agrees to this Second Amendment, (b) acknowledges and agrees that its obligations in respect of the Guarantee,
the Security Agreement and the other Collateral Documents are not released, diminished, waived, modified or impaired in any
manner by this Second Amendment or any of the provisions contemplated herein, (c) ratifies and confirms its obligations
under the Guarantee, the Security Agreement and the other Collateral Documents, and (d) acknowledges and agrees that it has
no claims or offsets against, or defenses or counterclaims to, the Guarantee, the Security Agreement, any other Collateral
Documents or any other Loan Documents or Obligations.
Section 5.4. Fees. The Borrower hereby affirms its obligation under the Credit Agreement to reimburse the
Administrative Agent, the Collateral Agent and the Lenders for all reasonable and documented out‑of‑pocket costs and
expenses incurred in connection with the preparation, negotiation, execution and delivery of this Second Amendment,
including but not limited to all Attorney Costs.
Section 5.5. Headings. The headings in this Second Amendment are included for convenience of reference only and
will not affect in any way the meaning or interpretation of this Second Amendment.
Section 5.6. Governing Law. This Second Amendment, and all claims, disputes and matters arising hereunder or
thereunder or related hereto or thereto, will be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of the State of New
York applicable to contracts executed in and to be performed entirely within that state.
Section 5.7. Counterparts. This Second Amendment may be executed in any number of counterparts and by
different parties on separate counterparts, each of which, when executed and
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delivered, shall be deemed to be an original, and all of which, when taken together, shall constitute but one and the same
Second Amendment. Delivery of an executed counterpart of this Second Amendment by facsimile or a scanned copy by
electronic mail shall be equally as effective as delivery of an original executed counterpart of this Second Amendment.
Section 5.8. Severability. If any term or other provision of this Second Amendment is invalid, illegal or incapable of
being enforced by any rule of law, or public policy, all other conditions and provisions of this Second Amendment will
nevertheless remain in full force and effect so long as the economic or legal substance of the transactions contemplated hereby
is not affected in any manner adverse to any party. Upon such determination that any term or other provision is invalid, illegal
or incapable of being enforced, the parties hereto will negotiate in good faith to modify this Second Amendment so as to effect
the original intent of the parties as closely as possible in an acceptable manner to the end that the transactions contemplated
hereby are fulfilled to the extent possible.
Section 5.9. Binding Effect. This Second Amendment will be binding upon and inure to the benefit of and is
enforceable by the respective successors and permitted assigns of the parties hereto.
[Remainder of page intentionally left blank; signatures on following pages.]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Second Amendment to be duly executed and delivered
by their respective officers thereunto duly authorized as of the date first written above.
WILLIAMS INDUSTRIAL SERVICES GROUP, INC.,
as Borrower
By: /s/ Randall Robert Lay
Name: Randall Robert Lay
Title: Chief Financial Officer
Acknowledged and agreed:
GLOBAL POWER PROFESSIONAL SERVICES INC.
WILLIAMS INDUSTRIAL SERVICES GROUP, L.L.C.
WILLIAMS INDUSTRIAL SERVICES, LLC
WILLIAMS SPECIALTY SERVICES, LLC
WILLIAMS PLANT SERVICES, LLC
WILLIAMS GLOBAL SERVICES, INC.
CONSTRUCTION & MAINTENANCE PROFESSIONALS,
LLC
BRADEN HOLDINGS, LLC
STEAM ENTERPRISES LLC
GPEG, LLC, each as Guarantor
By: /s/ Randall Robert Lay
Name: Randall Robert Lay
Title: Chief Financial Officer
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CENTRE LANE PARTNERS MASTER CREDIT FUND II,
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Exhibit 10.19
THIRD AMENDMENT TO
SENIOR SECURED CREDIT AGREEMENT
This THIRD AMENDMENT TO SENIOR SECURED CREDIT AGREEMENT, dated as of January 13, 2020 (this
“Third Amendment”), is entered into by and among Williams Industrial Services Group, Inc. (“Borrower”), each financial
institution from time to time party hereto as lender (each, a “Lender” and collectively, the “ Lenders”), and CENTRE LANE
PARTNERS MASTER CREDIT FUND II, L.P. , a Delaware limited partnership, as administrative agent for the Lenders (in
such capacity, and together with its successors and assigns, the “Administrative Agent”) and as collateral agent for the Lenders
(in such capacity, and together with its successors and assigns, the “Collateral Agent”).
RECITALS
WHEREAS, the Borrower, the Lenders identified on signatures pages thereto, the Administrative Agent and the
Collateral Agent are parties to that certain Senior Secured Credit Agreement, dated as of September 18, 2018, as amended by
that certain First Amendment to Senior Secured Credit Agreement, dated as of October 9, 2019 ant that certain Second
Amendment to Senior Secured Credit Agreement, dated as of November 13, 2019 (the “Existing Credit Agreement”; the
Existing Credit Agreement, as amended by this Third Amendment, the “Credit Agreement”); and
WHEREAS, the Borrower, the Lenders, the Administrative Agent and the Collateral Agent desire to amend certain
provisions of the Existing Credit Agreement in the manner and on the terms and conditions provided for herein.
NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and the mutual covenants and the agreements herein set forth,
and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto,
intending to be legally bound, agree as follows:
ARTICLE I
Definitions
Section 1.1. Certain Definitions. Capitalized terms used herein but not otherwise defined herein shall have the
meanings ascribed thereto in the Credit Agreement.
ARTICLE II
Amendment
Section 2.1. Amendment to Credit Agreement. Upon satisfaction of the conditions set forth in Section 4 hereof, the
Existing Credit Agreement is hereby amended as follows:
(a)
Section 1.01 of the Existing Credit Agreement is hereby amended by adding the following new definition in
appropriate alphabetical order:

“Third Amendment” means that certain Third Amendment to Senior Secured Credit Agreement dated as of
January 13, 2020 by and among the Borrower, the Lenders party thereto, the Administrative Agent and the Collateral
Agent, and acknowledged by the Guarantors.
“Third Amendment Effective Date ” means the date all the conditions precedent to effectiveness of the Third
Amendment as set forth therein are satisfied or waived in accordance therewith.
“Total Net Leverage Ratio” means, with respect to any Test Period, the ratio of (a) Total Debt as of the last day
of such Test Period minus Unrestricted Cash in excess of $2,500,000 as of the last day of such Test Period to
(b) Consolidated Adjusted EBITDA of the borrower and its Subsidiaries for such Test Period.
“Unrestricted Cash” means the balance of unencumbered cash and Cash Equivalent Investments (which for
greater certainty shall not include any undrawn credit lines), in each case, to the extent held in a deposit account in the
United States subject to an account control agreement reasonably satisfactory to the Collateral Agent.
(b)
Section 1.01 of the Existing Credit Agreement is hereby amended by deleting the definition of “ Corporate
Adjusted EBITDA”, “Operating Subsidiaries Consolidated Adjusted EBITDA” and “Total Leverage Ratio” therefrom.
( c )
Section 1.01 of the Existing Credit Agreement is hereby amended by amending and restating clause a(v),
clause (a)(vii) and clause (d) of the definition of “Consolidated Adjusted EBITDA”, to be effective beginning with the Test
Period ending December 31, 2019, as follows:
“(a)(v) any extraordinary losses and unusual or non‑recurring charges, including, without limitation, any
severance, integration, facilities closing or relocation costs and curtailments or modifications to pension and
post‑retirement employee benefit plans in an aggregate amount not to exceed (1) $3,000,000 in Fiscal Year 2019, (2)
$500,000 in Fiscal Year 2020 and (3) $500,000 in any Fiscal Year thereafter;
(a)(vii) one-time, non-recurring customary and documented costs and expenses deducted from net income during
such period in connection with (A) the negotiation, execution and delivery of the Third Amendment and all documents
contemplated thereby and the consummation of the transactions contemplated therein and (B) the negotiation, execution
and delivery of the amendment to the documents evidencing the ABL Indebtedness and all other documents
contemplated thereby and the consummation of the transactions contemplated therein, in an aggregate amount with
respect to clauses (A) and (B) not to exceed $500,000;
(d)
without duplication and to the extent included in determining such Consolidated Net Income of Borrower
and its Subsidiaries, any extraordinary or non-recurring non‑cash gains (or plus extraordinary non‑cash losses) for such
period and any gains (or plus losses) realized in connection with any Disposition by the Borrower and its Subsidiaries
during such period (other than any non-cash gains received from the
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settlement with Innova Global Inc. in connection with the Disposition of Braden Manufacturing, L.L.C.), all determined
on a consolidated basis in accordance with GAAP.”
(d)
The definition of “Excess Cash Flow” contained in Section 1.01 of the Existing Credit Agreement is hereby
amended by deleting the word “and” at the end of clause (e) thereof, renumbering clause (f) as clause (g) and inserting a new
clause (f) as follows:
“(f) all amounts received (1) from the settlement with Innova Global Inc. in connection with the Disposition of
Braden Manufacturing, L.L.C. not to exceed $638,940 and (2) in connection with the arbitration/litigation
proceedings (whether pursuant to settlement or otherwise) against BDO USA, LLP; and”
(e)
Section 1.01 of the Existing Credit Agreement is hereby amended by adding a new section at the end thereof as
Section 1.09.
“Section 1.09 Divisions. For all purposes under the Loan Documents, in connection with any division or plan of
division under Delaware law (or any comparable event under a different jurisdiction’s laws): (a) if any asset,
right, obligation or liability of any Person becomes the asset, right, obligation or liability of a different Person,
then it shall be deemed to have been transferred from the original Person to the subsequent Person and (b) if any
new Person comes into existence, such new Person shall be deemed to have been organized on the first date of
its existence by the holders of its Equity Interests at such time.”
(f)

Section 2.02(a)(ii) of the Existing Credit Agreement is hereby amended and restated in entirety as follows:
“If the Redemption Date occurs:

(A)
on or prior to the first anniversary of the Third Amendment Effective Date, the Prepayment Premium
shall be an amount equal to two percent (2%) of the aggregate outstanding principal amount of the Loans being prepaid
on such Redemption Date;
(B)
after the first anniversary of the Third Amendment Effective Date but on or prior to the second
anniversary of the Third Amendment Effective Date, the Prepayment Premium shall be an amount equal to one percent
(1%) of the aggregate outstanding principal amount of the Loans being prepaid on such Redemption Date; and
(C)
after the second anniversary of the Third Amendment Effective Date and at any time thereafter, the
Prepayment Premium shall be zero.”
(g)

Section 2.02(b)(v) of the Existing Credit Agreement shall be amended to revise the proviso therein as follows:
“provided that for purposes of this Section, “extraordinary receipts” shall exclude the receipt of cash (A) released
from escrow established in connection with the sale of Hetsco Holdings, Inc. and its Subsidiary in 2017 in an
aggregate amount not to exceed $1,500,000, (B) returned after being held as cash collateral or on deposit for
3

any obligations of the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries, including, without limitation, any letter of credit,
including the Existing Letters of Credit, and (C) from the Loan Parties’ arbitration/litigation proceedings against
BDO USA LLP.”
(h)
thereof:

Section 2.04 of the Existing Credit Agreement is hereby amended by adding new clauses (d) and (e) at the end
“(d)
If on or before the day on which LIBO Rate is to be determined, the Required Lenders determine that (i)
LIBO Rate cannot be determined for any reason, (ii) LIBO Rate will not adequately and fairly reflect the cost of
maintaining the Loans or (iii) Dollar deposits in the principal amount of the Loans are not available in the
London interbank market, the Required Lenders shall, as soon as practicable thereafter, give written notice of
such determination to the Borrower and the Administrative Agent. Upon any such determination, LIBO Rate
shall be LIBO Rate as of the end of the Interest Period immediately preceding such determination and shall at all
times thereafter until the Required Lenders give written notice to the Borrower and the Administrative Agent
that such circumstances no longer exist, bear interest at LIBO Rate as of the end of such immediately preceding
Interest Period. Each determination by the Required Lenders hereunder shall be conclusive and binding absent
manifest error.
(e)
If at any time the Administrative Agent determines (which determination shall be conclusive absent
manifest error) that (i) the circumstances set forth in clause (d)(i) of this Section have arisen and such
circumstances are unlikely to be temporary or (ii) the circumstances set forth in clause (d)(i) of this Section have
not arisen but the supervisor for the administrator of LIBO Rate has made a public statement identifying a
specific date after which LIBO Rate shall no longer be used for determining interest rates for loans, then the
Administrative Agent and the Borrower shall endeavor to establish an alternate rate of interest to LIBO Rate that
gives due consideration to the then-prevailing market convention for determining a rate of interest for syndicated
loans in the United States at such time, and shall enter into an amendment to this Agreement to reflect such
alternate rate of interest and such other related changes to this Agreement as may be applicable; provided that, if
such alternate rate of interest shall be less than 2.50%, such rate shall be deemed to be 2.50% for the purposes of
this Agreement. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in Section 10.01, such amendment shall become
effective without any further action or consent of any other party to this Agreement so long as the Administrative
Agent shall not have received, within five Business Days of the date notice of such alternate rate of interest is
provided to the Lenders, a written notice from the Required Lenders stating that such Lenders object to such
amendment.”
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(i)
Section 6.01 of the Existing Credit Agreement is hereby amended is hereby amended by adding new clause (i)
at the end thereof:
“(i)
Simultaneously with the delivery of each set of financial statements referred to in Section 6.01(c), the
Borrower shall provide to the Administrative Agent a monthly report of (i) margin calculations by contract, (ii) backlog
by contract and (iii) conversion rates for backlog by contract, in each case in such form as the Administrative Agent may
reasonably request.”
(j)

Section 6.18 of the Existing Credit Agreement is hereby amended and restated in its entirety as follows:

“Section 6.18 Third Amendment Post-Closing Obligations. Take all such actions set forth in Article V of the
Third Amendment within the time periods set forth therein.”
(k)

Section 7.02(h) of the Existing Credit Agreement is hereby amended and restated in its entirety as follows:
“(h)
non-cash Investments consisting of (i) Permitted Servicing Joint Ventures existing on the Closing Date as
set forth on Schedule 7.02(g) and (ii) entry into Permitted Servicing Joint Ventures by any Loan Party or a
Subsidiary of a Loan Party, provided that, with respect to clauses (i) and (ii), the Loan Parties and the
Subsidiaries of the Loan Parties shall not be party to more than seven (7) Permitted Servicing Joint Ventures at
any time;”

( l )
Section 7.03(j) of the Existing Credit Agreement is hereby amended by replacing “$15,000,000” with
“$25,000,000” therein.
(m)

Section 7.12 of the Existing Credit Agreement is hereby amended and restated in its entirety as follows:

(a)
Total Net Leverage Ratio. Commencing on December 31, 2019, permit the Total Net Leverage Ratio for
the Borrower and its Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis for any Test Period ending on and as of the last day of a fiscal
quarter set forth below to be greater than the ratio set forth opposite such Test Period below:
Fiscal Quarter Ending

Total Net Leverage Ratio

December 31, 2019

4.50:1.00

March 31, 2020

4.50:1.00

June 30, 2020

4.50:1.00

September 30, 2020

4.50:1.00

December 31, 2020

4.00:1.00
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Fiscal Quarter Ending

Total Net Leverage Ratio

March 31, 2021

4.00:1.00

June 30, 2021

3.50:1.00

September 30, 2021

3.50:1.00

December 31, 2021

3.25:1.00

March 31, 2022

3.00:1.00

June 30, 2022

3.00:1.00

September 30, 2022

2.75:1.00

December 31, 2022

2.75:1.00

( b )
Minimum Consolidated Adjusted EBITDA. Commencing on December 31, 2019, permit the
Consolidated Adjusted EBITDA for the Borrower and its Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis for any Test Period
ending on and as of the last day of a fiscal quarter set forth below to be less than the ratio set forth opposite such Test
Period below:
Fiscal Quarter Ending

Minimum Consolidated Adjusted
EBITDA

December 31, 2019

$9,500,000

March 31, 2020

$9,500,000

June 30, 2020

$9,750,000

September 30, 2020

$9,750,000

December 31, 2020

$10,000,000

March 31, 2021

$10,500,000

June 30, 2021

$11,000,000

September 30, 2021

$12,000,000

December 31, 2021

$12,500,000

March 31, 2022

$13,000,000

June 30, 2022

$13,500,000

September 30, 2022

$14,000,000
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Fiscal Quarter Ending

Minimum Consolidated Adjusted
EBITDA

December 31, 2022

$14,500,000

(c)
Minimum Liquidity. Permit Liquidity reflected on the balance sheet of the Borrower and its Domestic
Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis, as of the last day of each month to be less than $1,500,000.”
ARTICLE III
Representations and Warranties
Section 3.1. Representations and Warranties. In order to induce the Agents and the Lenders to enter into this Third
Amendment, each Loan Party hereby represents and warrants to the Agents and each Lender as follows:
(a)
After giving effect to this Third Amendment, the representations and warranties of the Borrower and each
other Loan Party contained in Article V of the Existing Credit Agreement or any other Loan Document shall be true and
correct in all material respects on and as of the date hereof; provided that to the extent that such representations and warranties
specifically refer to an earlier date, they shall be true and correct in all material respects as of such earlier date; provided
further that any representation and warranty that is qualified as to “materiality”, “Material Adverse Effect” or similar language
shall be true and correct (after giving effect to any qualification therein) in all respects on such respective dates.
(b)
The execution, delivery and performance of this Third Amendment have been duly authorized by all necessary
action on the part of, and duly executed and delivered by each of the Loan Parties.
(c)

The Loan Parties are in full compliance with each of the Loan Documents.

(d)

No Material Adverse Effect has occurred since the Closing Date.

(e)
No Default or Event of Default currently exists or shall be in existence immediately after giving effect to this
Third Amendment.
ARTICLE IV
Effectiveness
Section 4.1. Effectiveness. This Third Amendment shall become effective as of the date set forth above on which
each of the following conditions is satisfied:
(a)
The Administrative Agent shall have received duly executed signature pages to this Third Amendment signed
by each Loan Party, the Administrative Agent and the Lenders.
( b )
$175,000.

The Borrower shall have paid to the Administrative Agent, for the benefit of the Lenders, a fee equal to
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(c)
The Borrower shall have paid to Chapman and Cutler LLP, counsel to the Administrative Agent, all reasonable
and documented out-of-pocket legal fees and expenses incurred in connection with this Third Amendment and any
outstanding invoices in respect of reasonable legal fees and expenses of the Administrative Agent incurred in connection with
the Loan Documents prior to the date hereof.
ARTICLE V
Post-Closing Obligations
Section 5.1.

Canadian Guarantee and Security Agreements.

(a)
Within sixty (60) days (or such later time as the Collateral Agent may agree in its reasonable discretion) after
the date hereof, the Borrower shall:
( i )
cause each of WISG Canada Ltd., a British Columbia, Canada corporation, WISG Nuclear Ltd. , a
British Columbia, Canada corporation and WISG Electrical Ltd., a British Columbia, Canada corporation (collectively,
the “Canadian Subsidiaries” and each, a “Canadian Subsidiary”) to become Guarantors under the Credit Agreement and
to execute and deliver to the Collateral Agent, a guaranty, in form and substance reasonably acceptable to the Collateral
Agent, jointly and severally guaranteeing the Obligations of the other Loan Parties under the Loan Documents;
(ii)
furnish to the Collateral Agent a description of the Material Owned Properties and material personal
properties of each Canadian Subsidiary, in each case, in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Collateral
Agent;
(iii)
cause each Canadian Subsidiary to execute and deliver such assignments, pledges and security
agreements as specified by, and in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Collateral Agent, in each case,
securing the payment of all Obligations of such Canadian Subsidiaries under the Loan Documents and granting Liens on
all properties of such Canadian Subsidiary provided, however, that no security interest in fee‑owned real property other
than Material Owned Property shall be required;
(iv)
take and cause each Canadian Subsidiary to take or cause to be taken, whatever action (including,
without limitation, the filing of Personal Property Security Act (Ontario) financing statements, the giving of notices and
the endorsement of notices on title documents) may be necessary or advisable in the reasonable opinion of the Collateral
Agent to vest in the Collateral Agent (or in any representative of the Collateral Agent designated by it) valid, perfected
Liens on the properties purported to be subject to the pledges, assignments and security agreements delivered pursuant
to this Section 5.1(a), enforceable against all third parties in accordance with their terms, subject to Permitted Liens;
( v )
cause Williams Industrial Services Group, L.L.C. to execute and deliver to the Collateral Agent, a
supplement to the relevant Collateral Document (or another pledge agreement in substantially identical form, if needed)
pledging 100% of the Equity Interests held by Williams Industrial Services Group, L.L.C. in WISG Canada Ltd. and
with all
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documents delivered pursuant to this Section 5.1(a)(v) to be in form, scope and substance reasonably satisfactory to the
Collateral Agent;
( v i )
do, execute, acknowledge, deliver, record, file and register any and all such further acts, deeds,
conveyances, pledge agreements, deeds of trust, trust deeds, assignments, financing statements, notices of assignment,
transfers, certificates, collateral access agreements, assurances and other instruments as the Collateral Agent may
reasonably require from in order to carry out more effectively the purposes of this Section 5.1(a), and cause each of the
Canadian Subsidiaries to do so.
Section 5.2.

Equity Rights Offering.

(a)
On or before March 13, 2020, the Borrower shall have completed that certain offering of subscription rights to
shareholders of the Borrower to purchase shares of the Borrower’s common stock in an amount not less than $7,000,000 as
more fully described in the Borrower’s registration statement filed with the SEC on or about November 14, 2019 (the “Rights
Offering”). Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in Section 2.02(b)(vi) of the Credit Agreement, the Borrower shall not
be required to prepay the Loans with the Net Cash Proceeds of the Rights Offering.
ARTICLE VI
Miscellaneous
Section 6.1.

Reference to and Effect on the Loan Documents.

( a )
On and after the date hereof, each reference in the Credit Agreement to “this Agreement”, “hereunder”,
“hereof”, “herein” or words of like import referring to the Credit Agreement, and each reference in the other Loan Documents
to the “Credit Agreement”, “thereunder”, “thereof” or words of like import referring to the Credit Agreement shall mean and
be a reference to the Existing Credit Agreement after giving effect to this Third Amendment.
(b)
Except as specifically set forth in this Third Amendment, the Credit Agreement and the other Loan Documents
shall remain in full force and effect and are hereby ratified and confirmed.
(c)
Except as specifically set forth in this Third Amendment, the execution, delivery and performance of this Third
Amendment shall not constitute a waiver of any provision of, or operate as a waiver of any right, power or remedy of the
Administrative Agent, the Collateral Agent or any Lender under the Existing Credit Agreement or any of the other Loan
Documents.
Section 6.2. Release. As a material part of the consideration for the Administrative Agent, the Collateral
Agent and the Lenders entering into this Third Amendment, the Borrower and each other Loan Party (collectively, the
“Releasors”) agree as follows (the “Release Provision”):
(a)
Other than with respect to the agreements of the Lenders specifically set forth herein, the Releasors,
jointly and severally, hereby release and forever discharge the Administrative Agent, the Collateral Agent, each
Lender and the Administrative Agent’s,
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the Collateral Agent’s and each Lender’s predecessors, successors, assigns, participants, officers, managers, directors,
shareholders, partners, employees, agents, attorneys and other professionals, representatives, parent corporations,
subsidiaries, and affiliates (hereinafter all of the above collectively referred to as the “Lender Group”), from any and
all claims, counterclaims, demands, damages, debts, agreements, covenants, suits, contracts, obligations, liabilities,
accounts, offsets, rights, actions, and causes of action of any nature whatsoever and whether arising at law or in equity,
presently possessed, whether known or unknown, whether liability be direct or indirect, liquidated or unliquidated,
presently accrued, whether absolute or contingent, foreseen or unforeseen, and whether or not heretofore asserted
arising out of, arising under or related to the Loan Documents (collectively, the “Claims”), that Releasors may have or
allege to have against any or all of the Lender Group and that arise from events occurring before the date hereof.
(b)
The Releasors agree not to sue any of the Lender Group nor in any way assist any other person or entity
in suing the Lender Group with respect to any of the Claims released herein. The Release Provision may be pleaded as
a full and complete defense to, and may be used as the basis for an injunction against, any action, suit, or other
proceeding which may be instituted, prosecuted, or attempted in breach of the release contained herein.
(c)

The Releasors acknowledge, warrant, and represent to Lender Group that:

(i)
The Releasors have read and understand the effect of the Release Provision. The Releasors have
had the assistance of independent counsel of their own choice, or have had the opportunity to retain such
independent counsel, in reviewing, discussing, and considering all the terms of the Release Provision; and if
counsel was retained, counsel for Releasors has read and considered the Release Provision and advised Releasors
with respect to the same. Before execution of this Third Amendment, the Releasors have had adequate
opportunity to make whatever investigation or inquiry they may deem necessary or desirable in connection with
the subject matter of the Release Provision.
(ii)
The Releasors are not acting in reliance on any representation, understanding, or agreement not
expressly set forth herein. The Releasors acknowledge that Lender Group has not made any representation with
respect to the Release Provision except as expressly set forth herein.
(iii)
The Releasors have executed this Third Amendment and the Release Provision thereof as a free
and voluntary act, without any duress, coercion, or undue influence exerted by or on behalf of any person or
entity.
(iv)
The Releasors are the sole owners of the Claims released by the Release Provision, and the
Releasors have not heretofore conveyed or assigned any interest in any such Claims to any other person or entity.
(d)
The Releasors understand that the Release Provision was a material consideration in the agreement of
the Administrative Agent, the Collateral Agent and each Lender to enter into this Third Amendment.
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(e)
It is the express intent of the Releasors that the release and discharge set forth in the Release Provision
be construed as broadly as possible in favor of Lender Group so as to foreclose forever the assertion by the Releasors of
any Claims released hereby against Lender Group.
(f)
If any term, provision, covenant, or condition of the Release Provision is held by a court of competent
jurisdiction to be invalid, illegal, or unenforceable, the remainder of the provisions shall remain in full force and effect.
(g)
The Releasors acknowledge that they may hereafter discover facts in addition to or different from those
that they now know or believe with respect to the Claims released herein, but the Releasors expressly shall have and
intend to fully, finally and forever have released and discharged any and all such Claims. The Releasors expressly
waive any provision of statutory or decisional law to the effect that a general release does not extend to Claims that the
releasing party does not know or suspect to exist in such party’s favor at the time of executing the release.
Section 6.3. Guarantor’s Acknowledgement and Agreement . By signing below, each Guarantor (a) acknowledges,
consents and agrees to this Third Amendment, (b) acknowledges and agrees that its obligations in respect of the Guarantee, the
Security Agreement and the other Collateral Documents are not released, diminished, waived, modified or impaired in any
manner by this Third Amendment or any of the provisions contemplated herein, (c) ratifies and confirms its obligations under
the Guarantee, the Security Agreement and the other Collateral Documents, and (d) acknowledges and agrees that it has no
claims or offsets against, or defenses or counterclaims to, the Guarantee, the Security Agreement, any other Collateral
Documents or any other Loan Documents or Obligations.
Section 6.4. Fees. The Borrower hereby affirms its obligation under the Credit Agreement to reimburse the
Administrative Agent, the Collateral Agent and the Lenders for all reasonable and documented out‑of‑pocket costs and
expenses incurred in connection with the preparation, negotiation, execution and delivery of this Third Amendment, including
but not limited to all Attorney Costs.
Section 6.5. Headings. The headings in this Third Amendment are included for convenience of reference only and
will not affect in any way the meaning or interpretation of this Third Amendment.
Section 6.6. Governing Law. This Third Amendment, and all claims, disputes and matters arising hereunder or
thereunder or related hereto or thereto, will be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of the State of New
York applicable to contracts executed in and to be performed entirely within that state.
Section 6.7. Counterparts. This Third Amendment may be executed in any number of counterparts and by different
parties on separate counterparts, each of which, when executed and delivered, shall be deemed to be an original, and all of
which, when taken together, shall constitute but one and the same Third Amendment. Delivery of an executed counterpart of
this Third
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Amendment by facsimile or a scanned copy by electronic mail shall be equally as effective as delivery of an original executed
counterpart of this Third Amendment.
Section 6.8. Severability. If any term or other provision of this Third Amendment is invalid, illegal or incapable of
being enforced by any rule of law, or public policy, all other conditions and provisions of this Third Amendment will
nevertheless remain in full force and effect so long as the economic or legal substance of the transactions contemplated hereby
is not affected in any manner adverse to any party. Upon such determination that any term or other provision is invalid, illegal
or incapable of being enforced, the parties hereto will negotiate in good faith to modify this Third Amendment so as to effect
the original intent of the parties as closely as possible in an acceptable manner to the end that the transactions contemplated
hereby are fulfilled to the extent possible.
Section 6.9. Binding Effect. This Third Amendment will be binding upon and inure to the benefit of and is
enforceable by the respective successors and permitted assigns of the parties hereto.
[Remainder of page intentionally left blank; signatures on following pages.]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Third Amendment to be duly executed and delivered by
their respective officers thereunto duly authorized as of the date first written above.
WILLIAMS INDUSTRIAL SERVICES GROUP, INC.,
as Borrower
By: /s/ Randall R. Lay
Randall R. Lay
Chief Financial Officer
Acknowledged and agreed:
GLOBAL POWER PROFESSIONAL SERVICES INC.
WILLIAMS INDUSTRIAL SERVICES GROUP, L.L.C.
WILLIAMS INDUSTRIAL SERVICES, LLC
WILLIAMS SPECIALTY SERVICES, LLC
WILLIAMS PLANT SERVICES, LLC
WILLIAMS GLOBAL SERVICES, INC.
CONSTRUCTION & MAINTENANCE PROFESSIONALS,
LLC
BRADEN HOLDINGS, LLC
STEAM ENTERPRISES LLC
GPEG, LLC, each as Guarantor
By: /s/ Randall R. Lay
Randall R. Lay
Chief Financial Officer
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CENTRE LANE PARTNERS MASTER CREDIT FUND II,
L.P., as Administrative Agent and Collateral Agent, and as a
Lender
By: /s/ Luke Gosselin
Name: Luke Gosselin
Title: Managing Director
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Exhibit 10.21
AMENDMENT NO. 1 TO CREDIT AND SECURITY AGREEMENT
This AMENDMENT NO. 1 TO CREDIT AND SECURITY AGREEMENT (this “ Agreement”) is made as of October 16,
2019 (the “First Amendment Closing Date ”), by and among WILLIAMS INDUSTRIAL SERVICES GROUP INC., a Delaware
corporation (the “Company”), each of its direct and indirect Subsidiaries set forth on the signature pages hereto as a “Borrower”
(together with the Company, collectively, the “ Borrowers” and each individually, a “ Borrower”), MidCap Funding IV Trust, a
Delaware statutory trust, individually as a Lender and as Agent (in such capacity, together with its successors and assigns, “ Agent”)
and the other financial institutions or other entities from time to time parties to the Credit Agreement referenced below, each as a
Lender.
RECITALS
A.
Agent, Lenders and Borrower have entered into that certain Credit and Security Agreement, dated as of October 11,
2018 (the “Original Credit Agreement ” and as amended hereby and as it may be further amended, modified, supplemented and
restated from time to time, the “Credit Agreement”), pursuant to which the Lenders have agreed to make certain advances of money
and to extend certain financial accommodations to Borrowers in the amounts and manner set forth in the Credit Agreement.
B.
Borrower has requested, and Agent and all Lenders have agreed, to amend certain provisions of the Original Credit
Agreement, all in accordance with the terms and subject to the conditions set forth herein.
AGREEMENT
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing, the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement, and other good
and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, Agent, Lenders and Borrower hereby agree
as follows:
1 .
Recitals. This Agreement shall constitute a Financing Document and the Recitals and each reference to the Credit
Agreement, unless otherwise expressly noted, will be deemed to reference the Original Credit Agreement as amended hereby. The
Recitals set forth above shall be construed as part of this Agreement as if set forth fully in the body of this Agreement and capitalized
terms used but not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings ascribed to them in the Credit Agreement (including those
capitalized terms used in the Recitals hereto).
2 .
Amendments to Original Credit Agreement . Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, including,
without limitation, the conditions to effectiveness set forth in Section 4 below, the Original Credit Agreement is hereby amended as
follows:
(a)
The definition of “Borrowing Base” in Section 1.1 of the Original Credit Agreement is hereby amended and
restated in its entirety as follows:
“"Borrowing Base" means:
(i)
the product of (i) eighty-five percent (85%) multiplied by (ii) the aggregate net amount at such time of
the Eligible Accounts; plus

(ii)
the lesser of (i) $1,000,000 and (ii) the product of (1) eighty percent (80%) multiplied by (2) the
aggregate net amount at such time of the Eligible Costs in Excess of Billings; minus
(c)
the amount of the Dilution Reserve (if any), the Liquidity Reserve and any other reserves and/or adjustments
determined by Agent in its Permitted Discretion.”
(b)
The definition of “Liquidity” in Section 1.1 of the Original Credit Agreement is hereby amended and restated
in its entirety as follows:
“Liquidity” means, as of any date of calculation, unrestricted cash and cash equivalents permitted in accordance with
GAAP, plus any Revolving Loan Availability, plus if Revolving Loan Availability has been calculated on the basis of
clause (b) of the definition of “Revolving Loan Limit”, the Liquidity Reserve.
( c )

The following definition of “Amendment No. 1” is hereby added to Section 1.1 of the Original Credit

Agreement:
“’Amendment No. 1’ means that certain Amendment No. 1 to Credit and Security Agreement, dated as of October 16,
2019, by and among the Borrowers, the Agent and the Lenders.”
( d )

The following definition of “Liquidity Reserve” is hereby added to Section 1.1 of the Original Credit

Agreement:
“’Liquidity Reserve’ means $500,000.”
(e)
The definition of “Foreign Subsidiary Cash Trigger Date” in Section 1.1 of the Original Credit Agreement is
hereby amended to replace the reference to “$2,000,000” therein with “$5,000,000”.
( f )
Clause (j) of the definition of “Permitted Investments” in Section 1.1 of the Original Credit Agreement is
hereby amended and restated in its entirety as follows:
“(j) Investments of cash and cash equivalents by a Credit Party in an Excluded Foreign Subsidiary made prior to the
Foreign Subsidiary Cash Trigger Date, but solely to the extent that the aggregate amount of such Investments made with
respect to all Excluded Foreign Subsidiaries does not, at any time, exceed $3,000,000 at any time outstanding; provided
that for the avoidance of doubt, no such Investments shall be permitted on and after the Foreign Subsidiary Cash Trigger
Date;”
( g )
thereof as follows:

Article IV in the Original Credit Agreement is hereby amended by adding a new Section 4.16 at the end

“Section 4.16 Amendment No. 1 Post-Closing Conditions . The Borrowers shall take all such actions set forth in
Section 5 of Amendment No. 1 within the time periods set forth therein.”
(h)
Section 5.17(a) in the Original Credit Agreement is hereby amended to replace the reference to “$2,000,000”
therein with “$5,000,000”.

(i)
Section 10.1(a)(ii) in the Original Credit Agreement is hereby amended by adding “, Section 4.16” after the
reference to “Section 4.6”.
(j)
The calculation of Minimum Liquidity in Attachment 3 to Exhibit B (Compliance Certificate) of the Original
Credit Agreement is hereby amended and restated in its entirety as follows:
“unrestricted cash and Cash Equivalents permitted in accordance with GAAP and reflected on the balance sheet of the
Borrowers and their Domestic Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis, plus any Revolving Loan Availability, plus the
Liquidity Reserve, in each case as of the last day of each month”
(k)
Exhibit C to the Original Credit Agreement is hereby replaced in its entirety with the Form of Borrowing Base
Certificate attached hereto as Exhibit A.
3.
Representations and Warranties; Reaffirmation of Security Interest . Each Borrower hereby confirms that all of
the representations and warranties set forth in the Credit Agreement are true and correct in all material respects (without duplication of
any materiality qualifier in the text of such representation or warranty) with respect to such Borrower as of the date hereof except to the
extent that any such representation or warranty relates to a specific date in which case such representation or warranty shall be true and
correct in all material respects (or, in the case of any representation or warranty that is, by its terms, qualified by materiality, in all
respects) as of such earlier date. Nothing herein is intended to impair or limit the validity, priority or extent of Agent’s security
interests in and Liens on the Collateral. Each Borrower acknowledges and agrees that the Credit Agreement, the other Financing
Documents and this Agreement constitute the legal, valid and binding obligation of such Borrower, and are enforceable against such
Borrower in accordance with its terms, except as the enforceability thereof may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency or other similar
laws relating to the enforcement of creditors’ rights generally and by general equitable principles.
4.
Conditions to Effectiveness. This Agreement shall become effective as of the date on which each of the following
conditions have been satisfied, as determined by Agent in its sole discretion:
(a)

each Borrower shall have delivered to Agent this Agreement, executed by an authorized officer of such

Borrower;
(b)
each Borrower shall have delivered to Agent a duly executed copy of an amendment to the Term Loan Credit
Agreement, in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to Agent;
(c)
all representations and warranties of Borrowers contained herein shall be true and correct in all material
respects (without duplication of any materiality qualifier in the text of such representation or warranty) as of the date hereof except to
the extent that any such representation or warranty relates to a specific date in which case such representation or warranty shall be true
and correct in all material respects (or, in the case of any representation or warranty that is, by its terms, qualified by materiality, in all
respects)as of such earlier date (and such parties’ delivery of their respective signatures hereto shall be deemed to be its certification
thereof); and
(d)
prior to and after giving effect to the agreements set forth herein, no Default or Event of Default shall exist
under any of the Financing Documents.

5 .
Post-Closing Obligations. Within ten (10) Business Days (or such later time as the Agent may agree in its
reasonable discretion) of the earlier of (i) the cessation by the Company of

the refinancing process being undertaken by the Company as of the date hereof and (ii) November 25, 2019, the Company
shall:
(a)
cause each of WISG Canada Ltd., a British Columbia, Canada corporation, WISG Nuclear Ltd., a
British Columbia, Canada corporation and WISG Electrical Ltd., a British Columbia, Canada corporation (collectively, the
“Canadian Subsidiaries” and each, a “Canadian Subsidiary”) to become Guarantors under the Original Credit Agreement and
to execute and deliver to the Agent, a Guarantee, in form and substance reasonably acceptable to the Agent, jointly and
severally guaranteeing the Obligations of the other Credit Parties under the Financing Documents;
(b)
cause each Canadian Subsidiary to execute and deliver such assignments, pledges and security
agreements as specified by, and in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Agent, in each case, securing the payment
of all Obligations of such Canadian Subsidiaries under the Financing Documents and granting Liens on all personal properties
of such Canadian Subsidiary;
(c)
take and cause each Canadian Subsidiary to take or cause to be taken, whatever action (including,
without limitation, the filing of Personal Property Security Act (Ontario) financing statements, the giving of notices and the
endorsement of notices on title documents) may be necessary or advisable in the reasonable opinion of the Agent to vest in the
Agent (or in any representative of the Agent designated by it) valid, perfected Liens on the properties purported to be subject
to the pledges, assignments and security agreements delivered pursuant to Section 5(b), enforceable against all third parties in
accordance with their terms, subject to Permitted Liens;
(d)
cause Williams Industrial Services Group, L.L.C. to execute and deliver to the Agent, a supplement to
the relevant Financing Document (or another pledge agreement in substantially identical form, if needed) pledging 100% of
the Equity Interests held by Williams Industrial Services Group, L.L.C. in WISG Canada Ltd. and with all documents
delivered pursuant to this Section 5(d) to be in form, scope and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Collateral Agent;
(e)
do, execute, acknowledge, deliver, record, file and register any and all such further acts, deeds,
conveyances, pledge agreements, deeds of trust, trust deeds, assignments, financing statements, notices of assignment,
transfers, certificates, collateral access agreements, assurances and other instruments as the Agent may reasonably require
from in order to carry out more effectively the purposes of this Section 5, and cause each of the Canadian Subsidiaries to do
so.
6 .
Fees. In consideration of Agent’s agreement to enter into this Agreement, Borrower agrees to pay Agent, for the
benefit of all Revolving Lenders in accordance with their Pro Rata Share of the Revolving Loan Commitments, an amendment fee in
the amount of $5,000 (the “Amendment Fee”). Such Amendment Fee shall be due and payable on the First Amendment Closing Date
and, once paid, is non-refundable. Borrowers hereby authorize Agent to deduct the Amendment Fee from the proceeds of one or more
Revolving Loans made under the Credit Agreement.

7.
Release. In consideration of the agreements of Agent and Lenders contained herein and for other good and valuable
consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, other than with respect to the agreements of the Lenders
specifically set forth herein, each Borrower, voluntarily, knowingly, unconditionally and irrevocably, with specific and express intent,
does hereby fully and completely release, acquit and forever discharge each of Agent, Lenders, and each their respective parents,
subsidiaries, affiliates, members, managers, shareholders, directors, officers and employees, and each of their respective predecessors,
successors, heirs, and assigns (individually and collectively, the “Released Parties”), of and from any and all actions, causes of action,
suits, debts, disputes, damages, claims, obligations, liabilities, costs, expenses and demands of any kind whatsoever, at law or in equity,
whether matured or unmatured, liquidated or unliquidated, vested or contingent, choate or inchoate, known or unknown, arising out of,
arising under or related to the Financing Documents that such Borrower has against the Released Parties or any of them (whether
directly or indirectly)and that arise from events occurring before the date hereof. Borrower acknowledges that the foregoing release is
a material inducement to Agent’s and each Lender’s decision to enter into this Agreement and agree to the modifications contemplated
hereunder, and has been relied upon by Agent and Lenders in connection therewith.
8.
No Waiver or Novation. The execution, delivery and effectiveness of this Agreement shall not, except as expressly
provided in this Agreement, operate as a waiver of any right, power or remedy of Agent, nor constitute a waiver of any provision of the
Original Credit Agreement, the other Financing Documents or any other documents, instruments and agreements executed or delivered
in connection with any of the foregoing. Nothing herein is intended or shall be construed as a waiver of any existing Defaults or
Events of Default under the Credit Agreement or the other Financing Documents or any of Agent’s rights and remedies in respect of
such Defaults or Events of Default. This Agreement (together with any other document executed in connection herewith) is not
intended to be, nor shall it be construed as, a novation of the Credit Agreement.
9.
Affirmation. Except as specifically amended pursuant to the terms hereof, each Borrower hereby acknowledges and
agrees that the Original Credit Agreement and all other Financing Documents (and all covenants, terms, conditions and agreements
therein) shall remain in full force and effect, and are hereby ratified and confirmed in all respects by such Borrower. Each Borrower
covenants and agrees to comply with all of the terms, covenants and conditions of the Original Credit Agreement and the other
Financing Documents, notwithstanding any prior course of conduct, waivers, releases or other actions or inactions on Agent’s or any
Lender’s part which might otherwise constitute or be construed as a waiver of or amendment to such terms, covenants and conditions.
10.

Miscellaneous.

(a)
Reference to the Effect on the Credit Agreement . Upon the effectiveness of this Agreement, each reference in
the Original Credit Agreement to “this Agreement,” “hereunder,” “hereof,” “herein,” or words of similar import shall mean and be a
reference to the Original Credit Agreement, as amended by this Agreement. Except as specifically amended above, the Original Credit
Agreement, and all other Financing Documents (and all covenants, terms, conditions and agreements therein), shall remain in full force
and effect, and are hereby ratified and confirmed in all respects by each Borrower.
( b )
Governing Law. THIS AGREEMENT AND ALL DISPUTES AND OTHER MATTERS RELATING
HERETO OR ARISING THEREFROM (WHETHER SOUNDING IN CONTRACT LAW, TORT LAW OR OTHERWISE), SHALL
BE GOVERNED BY, AND SHALL BE CONSTRUED AND ENFORCED IN ACCORDANCE WITH, THE LAWS OF THE
STATE OF NEW

YORK, WITHOUT REGARD TO CONFLICTS OF LAWS PRINCIPLES (OTHER THAN SECTIONS 5-1401 AND 5-1402 OF
THE NEW YORK GENERAL OBLIGATIONS LAW).
(c)
Incorporation of Credit Agreement Provisions . The provisions contained in Section 11.6 (Indemnification),
Section 12.8(b) (Submission to Jurisdiction) and Section 12.9 (Waiver of Jury Trial) of the Credit Agreement are incorporated herein
by reference to the same extent as if reproduced herein in their entirety.
(d)
Headings. Section headings in this Agreement are included for convenience of reference only and shall not
constitute a part of this Agreement for any other purpose.
(e)
Counterparts. This Agreement may be signed in any number of counterparts, each of which shall be deemed
an original and all of which when taken together shall constitute one and the same instrument. Delivery of an executed counterpart of
this Agreement by facsimile or by electronic mail delivery of an electronic version (e.g., .pdf or .tif file) of an executed signature
page shall be effective as delivery of an original executed counterpart hereof and shall bind the parties hereto.
(f)
Entire Agreement.
This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement and understanding among the parties
hereto and supersedes any and all prior agreements and understandings, oral or written, relating to the subject matter hereof.
( g )
Severability. In case any provision of or obligation under this Agreement shall be invalid, illegal or
unenforceable in any applicable jurisdiction, the validity, legality and enforceability of the remaining provisions or obligations, or of
such provision or obligation in any other jurisdiction, shall not in any way be affected or impaired thereby.
( h )
Successors/Assigns. This Agreement shall bind, and the rights hereunder shall inure to, the respective
successors and assigns of the parties hereto, subject to the provisions of the Credit Agreement and the other Financing Documents.
[SIGNATURES APPEAR ON FOLLOWING PAGES]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, intending to be legally bound, and intending that this document constitute an agreement executed
under seal, the undersigned have executed this Agreement under seal as of the day and year first hereinabove set forth.
AGENT:

MIDCAP FUNDING IV TRUST,
as Agent
By:
Apollo Capital Management, L.P.,
its investment manager
By:
Apollo Capital Management GP, LLC,
its general partner
By: /s/ Maurice Amsellem
Name: Maurice Amsellem
Title: Authorized Signatory

LENDER:

MIDCAP FUNDING IV TRUST,
as a Lender
By:
Apollo Capital Management, L.P.,
its investment manager
By:
Apollo Capital Management GP, LLC,
its general partner
By: /s/ Maurice Amsellem
Name: Maurice Amsellem
Title: Authorized Signatory
[Signatures Continue on Following Page]

BORROWERS:

WILLIAMS INDUSTRIAL SERVICES GROUP INC.
By: /s/ Tracy D. Pagliara
Name: Tracy D. Pagliara
Title: President and Chief Executive Officer
GLOBAL POWER PROFESSIONAL SERVICES INC.
By: /s/ Tracy D. Pagliara
Name: Tracy D. Pagliara
Title: Vice President
WILLIAMS INDUSTRIAL SERVICES GROUP, L.L.C.
By: /s/ Tracy D. Pagliara
Name: Tracy D. Pagliara
Title: Vice President
WILLIAMS INDUSTRIAL SERVICES, LLC
By: /s/ Tracy D. Pagliara
Name: Tracy D. Pagliara
Title: Vice President
WILLIAMS SPECIALTY SERVICES, LLC
By: /s/ Tracy D. Pagliara
Name: Tracy D. Pagliara
Title: Vice President
WILLIAMS PLANT SERVICES, LLC
By: /s/ Tracy D. Pagliara
Name: Tracy D. Pagliara
Title: Vice President
WILLIAMS GLOBAL SERVICES, INC.
By: /s/ Tracy D. Pagliara
Name: Tracy D. Pagliara
Title: Vice President

CONSTRUCTION & MAINTENANCE PROFESSIONALS,
LLC
By: /s/ Tracy D. Pagliara
Name: Tracy D. Pagliara
Title: Vice President
BRADEN HOLDINGS, LLC
By: /s/ Tracy D. Pagliara
Name: Tracy D. Pagliara
Title: Vice President
STEAM ENTERPRISES, LLC
By: /s/ Tracy D. Pagliara
Name: Tracy D. Pagliara
Title: Vice President
GPEG, LLC
By: /s/ Tracy D. Pagliara
Name: Tracy D. Pagliara
Title: Vice President

Exhibit 10.22
AMENDMENT NO. 2 TO CREDIT AND SECURITY AGREEMENT
This AMENDMENT NO. 2 TO CREDIT AND SECURITY AGREEMENT (this “ Agreement”) is made as of November 14,
2019 (the “Second Amendment Closing Date ”) and effective as of November 13, 2019, by and among WILLIAMS INDUSTRIAL
SERVICES GROUP INC., a Delaware corporation (the “ Company”), each of its direct and indirect Subsidiaries set forth on the
signature pages hereto as a “Borrower” (together with the Company, collectively, the “ Borrowers” and each individually, a
“Borrower”), MidCap Funding IV Trust, a Delaware statutory trust, individually as a Lender and as Agent (in such capacity, together
with its successors and assigns, “Agent”) and the other financial institutions or other entities from time to time parties to the Credit
Agreement referenced below, each as a Lender.
RECITALS
A.
Agent, Lenders and Borrower have entered into that certain Credit and Security Agreement, dated as of October 11,
2018 (as amended by that certain Amendment No. 1 to Credit and Security Agreement dated as of October 16, 2019, the “ Original
Credit Agreement” and as amended hereby and as it may be further amended, modified, supplemented and restated from time to time,
the “Credit Agreement ”), pursuant to which the Lenders have agreed to make certain advances of money and to extend certain
financial accommodations to Borrowers in the amounts and manner set forth in the Credit Agreement.
B.
Borrower has requested, and Agent and all Lenders have agreed, to amend certain provisions of the Original Credit
Agreement, all in accordance with the terms and subject to the conditions set forth herein.
AGREEMENT
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing, the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement, and other good
and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, Agent, Lenders and Borrower hereby agree
as follows:
1 .
Recitals. This Agreement shall constitute a Financing Document and the Recitals and each reference to the Credit
Agreement, unless otherwise expressly noted, will be deemed to reference the Original Credit Agreement as amended hereby. The
Recitals set forth above shall be construed as part of this Agreement as if set forth fully in the body of this Agreement and capitalized
terms used but not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings ascribed to them in the Credit Agreement (including those
capitalized terms used in the Recitals hereto).
2 .
Amendments to Original Credit Agreement . Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, including,
without limitation, the conditions to effectiveness set forth in Section 4 below, the Original Credit Agreement is hereby amended as
follows:
(a)
The table contained in Section 6.2 in the Original Credit Agreement is hereby amended to replace the Total
Leverage Ratio corresponding to each of the Fiscal Quarters ending September 30, 2019 and December 31, 2019 with “4.25:1.00”.
( b )
The table contained in Section 6.2 in the Original Credit Agreement is hereby amended to replace the
Minimum Consolidated Adjusted EBITDA corresponding to each of the Fiscal Quarters ending September 30, 2019 and December 31,
2019 with “$9,000,000”.

3.
Representations and Warranties; Reaffirmation of Security Interest . Each Borrower hereby confirms that all of
the representations and warranties set forth in the Credit Agreement are true and correct in all material respects (without duplication of
any materiality qualifier in the text of such representation or warranty) with respect to such Borrower as of the date hereof except to the
extent that any such representation or warranty relates to a specific date in which case such representation or warranty shall be true and
correct in all material respects (or, in the case of any representation or warranty that is, by its terms, qualified by materiality, in all
respects) as of such earlier date. Nothing herein is intended to impair or limit the validity, priority or extent of Agent’s security
interests in and Liens on the Collateral. Each Borrower acknowledges and agrees that the Credit Agreement, the other Financing
Documents and this Agreement constitute the legal, valid and binding obligation of such Borrower, and are enforceable against such
Borrower in accordance with its terms, except as the enforceability thereof may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency or other similar
laws relating to the enforcement of creditors’ rights generally and by general equitable principles.
4.
Conditions to Effectiveness. This Agreement shall become effective as of the date on which each of the following
conditions have been satisfied, as determined by Agent in its sole discretion:
(a)

each Borrower shall have delivered to Agent this Agreement, executed by an authorized officer of such

Borrower;
(b)
each Borrower shall have delivered to Agent a duly executed copy of an amendment to the Term Loan Credit
Agreement, in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to Agent;
(c)
all representations and warranties of Borrowers contained herein shall be true and correct in all material
respects (without duplication of any materiality qualifier in the text of such representation or warranty) as of the date hereof except to
the extent that any such representation or warranty relates to a specific date in which case such representation or warranty shall be true
and correct in all material respects (or, in the case of any representation or warranty that is, by its terms, qualified by materiality, in all
respects)as of such earlier date (and such parties’ delivery of their respective signatures hereto shall be deemed to be its certification
thereof); and
(d)
prior to and after giving effect to the agreements set forth herein, no Default or Event of Default shall exist
under any of the Financing Documents.
5 .
Fees. In consideration of Agent’s agreement to enter into this Agreement, Borrower agrees to pay Agent, for the
benefit of all Revolving Lenders in accordance with their Pro Rata Share of the Revolving Loan Commitments, an amendment fee in
the amount of $100,000 (the “Amendment Fee”). Such Amendment Fee shall be fully earned on the Second Amendment Closing
Date, due and payable on the earlier of (x) the Termination Date and (y) December 31, 2019 and, once paid, is nonrefundable. Borrowers hereby authorize Agent to deduct the Amendment Fee from the proceeds of one or more Revolving Loans
made under the Credit Agreement.
6.
Release. In consideration of the agreements of Agent and Lenders contained herein and for other good and valuable
consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, other than with respect to the agreements of the Lenders
specifically set forth herein, each Borrower, voluntarily, knowingly, unconditionally and irrevocably, with specific and express intent,
does hereby fully and completely release, acquit and forever discharge each of Agent, Lenders, and each their respective parents,
subsidiaries, affiliates, members, managers, shareholders, directors, officers and employees, and each of their respective predecessors,
successors, heirs, and assigns (individually and collectively, the “Released Parties”), of and from any and all actions, causes of action,
suits, debts, disputes, damages, claims, obligations, liabilities, costs, expenses and demands of any kind whatsoever, at law or in equity,

whether matured or unmatured, liquidated or unliquidated, vested or contingent, choate or inchoate, known or unknown, arising out of,
arising under or related to the Financing Documents that such Borrower has against the Released Parties or any of them (whether
directly or indirectly)and that arise from events occurring before the date hereof. Borrower acknowledges that the foregoing release is
a material inducement to Agent’s and each Lender’s decision to enter into this Agreement and agree to the modifications contemplated
hereunder, and has been relied upon by Agent and Lenders in connection therewith.
7.
No Waiver or Novation. The execution, delivery and effectiveness of this Agreement shall not, except as expressly
provided in this Agreement, operate as a waiver of any right, power or remedy of Agent, nor constitute a waiver of any provision of the
Original Credit Agreement, the other Financing Documents or any other documents, instruments and agreements executed or delivered
in connection with any of the foregoing. Nothing herein is intended or shall be construed as a waiver of any existing Defaults or
Events of Default under the Credit Agreement or the other Financing Documents or any of Agent’s rights and remedies in respect of
such Defaults or Events of Default. This Agreement (together with any other document executed in connection herewith) is not
intended to be, nor shall it be construed as, a novation of the Credit Agreement.
8.
Affirmation. Except as specifically amended pursuant to the terms hereof, each Borrower hereby acknowledges and
agrees that the Original Credit Agreement and all other Financing Documents (and all covenants, terms, conditions and agreements
therein) shall remain in full force and effect, and are hereby ratified and confirmed in all respects by such Borrower. Each Borrower
covenants and agrees to comply with all of the terms, covenants and conditions of the Original Credit Agreement and the other
Financing Documents, notwithstanding any prior course of conduct, waivers, releases or other actions or inactions on Agent’s or any
Lender’s part which might otherwise constitute or be construed as a waiver of or amendment to such terms, covenants and conditions.
9.

Miscellaneous.

(a)
Reference to the Effect on the Credit Agreement . Upon the effectiveness of this Agreement, each reference in
the Original Credit Agreement to “this Agreement,” “hereunder,” “hereof,” “herein,” or words of similar import shall mean and be a
reference to the Original Credit Agreement, as amended by this Agreement. Except as specifically amended above, the Original Credit
Agreement, and all other Financing Documents (and all covenants, terms, conditions and agreements therein), shall remain in full force
and effect, and are hereby ratified and confirmed in all respects by each Borrower.
( b )
Governing Law. THIS AGREEMENT AND ALL DISPUTES AND OTHER MATTERS RELATING
HERETO OR ARISING THEREFROM (WHETHER SOUNDING IN CONTRACT LAW, TORT LAW OR OTHERWISE), SHALL
BE GOVERNED BY, AND SHALL BE CONSTRUED AND ENFORCED IN ACCORDANCE WITH, THE LAWS OF THE
STATE OF NEW YORK, WITHOUT REGARD TO CONFLICTS OF LAWS PRINCIPLES (OTHER THAN SECTIONS 5-1401
AND 5-1402 OF THE NEW YORK GENERAL OBLIGATIONS LAW).
(c)
Incorporation of Credit Agreement Provisions . The provisions contained in Section 11.6 (Indemnification),
Section 12.8(b) (Submission to Jurisdiction) and Section 12.9 (Waiver of Jury Trial) of the Credit Agreement are incorporated herein
by reference to the same extent as if reproduced herein in their entirety.
(d)
Headings. Section headings in this Agreement are included for convenience of reference only and shall not
constitute a part of this Agreement for any other purpose.

(e)
Counterparts. This Agreement may be signed in any number of counterparts, each of which shall be deemed
an original and all of which when taken together shall constitute one and the same instrument. Delivery of an executed counterpart of
this Agreement by facsimile or by electronic mail delivery of an electronic version (e.g., .pdf or .tif file) of an executed signature
page shall be effective as delivery of an original executed counterpart hereof and shall bind the parties hereto.
(f)
Entire Agreement.
This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement and understanding among the parties
hereto and supersedes any and all prior agreements and understandings, oral or written, relating to the subject matter hereof.
( g )
Severability. In case any provision of or obligation under this Agreement shall be invalid, illegal or
unenforceable in any applicable jurisdiction, the validity, legality and enforceability of the remaining provisions or obligations, or of
such provision or obligation in any other jurisdiction, shall not in any way be affected or impaired thereby.
( h )
Successors/Assigns. This Agreement shall bind, and the rights hereunder shall inure to, the respective
successors and assigns of the parties hereto, subject to the provisions of the Credit Agreement and the other Financing Documents.
[SIGNATURES APPEAR ON FOLLOWING PAGES]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, intending to be legally bound, and intending that this document constitute an agreement executed
under seal, the undersigned have executed this Agreement under seal as of the day and year first hereinabove set forth.
AGENT:

MIDCAP FUNDING IV TRUST,
as Agent
By:
Apollo Capital Management, L.P.,
its investment manager
By:
Apollo Capital Management GP, LLC,
its general partner
By:
/s/ Maurice Amsellem
Name: Maurice Amsellem
Title: Authorized Signatory

LENDER:

MIDCAP FUNDING IV TRUST,
as a Lender
By:
Apollo Capital Management, L.P.,
its investment manager
By:
Apollo Capital Management GP, LLC,
its general partner
By:
/s/ Maurice Amsellem
Name: Maurice Amsellem
Title: Authorized Signatory
[Signatures Continue on Following Page]

BORROWERS:
WILLIAMS INDUSTRIAL SERVICES GROUP INC.
By:
/s/ Randall Robert Lay
Name: Randall Robert Lay
Title: Chief Financial Officer
GLOBAL POWER PROFESSIONAL SERVICES INC.
By:
/s/ Randall Robert Lay
Name: Randall Robert Lay
Title: Chief Financial Officer
WILLIAMS INDUSTRIAL SERVICES GROUP, L.L.C.
By:
/s/ Randall Robert Lay
Name: Randall Robert Lay
Title: Chief Financial Officer
WILLIAMS INDUSTRIAL SERVICES, LLC
By:
/s/ Randall Robert Lay
Name: Randall Robert Lay
Title: Chief Financial Officer
WILLIAMS SPECIALTY SERVICES, LLC
By:
/s/ Randall Robert Lay
Name: Randall Robert Lay
Title: Chief Financial Officer
WILLIAMS PLANT SERVICES, LLC
By:

/s/ Randall Robert Lay

Name: Randall Robert Lay
Title: Chief Financial Officer
WILLIAMS GLOBAL SERVICES, INC.
By:
/s/ Randall Robert Lay
Name: Randall Robert Lay
Title: Chief Financial Officer

CONSTRUCTION & MAINTENANCE PROFESSIONALS,
LLC
By:
/s/ Randall Robert Lay
Name: Randall Robert Lay
Title: Chief Financial Officer
BRADEN HOLDINGS, LLC
By:
/s/ Randall Robert Lay
Name: Randall Robert Lay
Title: Chief Financial Officer
STEAM ENTERPRISES, LLC
By:
/s/ Randall Robert Lay
Name: Randall Robert Lay
Title: Chief Financial Officer
GPEG, LLC
By:
/s/ Randall Robert Lay
Name: Randall Robert Lay
Title: Chief Financial Officer

Exhibit 10.23
AMENDMENT NO. 3 TO CREDIT AND SECURITY AGREEMENT
This AMENDMENT NO. 3 TO CREDIT AND SECURITY AGREEMENT (this “ Agreement”) is dated as of January 13,
2020 (the “Third Amendment Closing Date”), by and among WILLIAMS INDUSTRIAL SERVICES GROUP INC., a Delaware
corporation (the “Company”), each of its direct and indirect Subsidiaries set forth on the signature pages hereto as a “Borrower”
(together with the Company, collectively, the “ Borrowers” and each individually, a “ Borrower”), MidCap Funding IV Trust, a
Delaware statutory trust, individually as a Lender and as Agent (in such capacity, together with its successors and assigns, “ Agent”)
and the other financial institutions or other entities from time to time parties to the Credit Agreement referenced below, each as a
Lender.
RECITALS
A.
Agent, Lenders and Borrower have entered into that certain Credit and Security Agreement, dated as of October 11,
2018 (as amended by that certain Amendment No. 1 to Credit and Security Agreement dated as of October 16, 2019, and Amendment
No. 2 to Credit and Security Agreement dated as of November 14, 2019 and effective as of November 13, 2019, the “Original Credit
Agreement” and as amended hereby and as it may be further amended, modified, supplemented and restated from time to time, the
“Credit Agreement”), pursuant to which the Lenders have agreed to make certain advances of money and to extend certain financial
accommodations to Borrowers in the amounts and manner set forth in the Credit Agreement.
B.
Borrower has requested, and Agent and all Lenders have agreed, to amend certain provisions of the Original Credit
Agreement, all in accordance with the terms and subject to the conditions set forth herein.
AGREEMENT
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing, the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement, and other good
and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, Agent, Lenders and Borrower hereby agree
as follows:
1 .
Recitals. This Agreement shall constitute a Financing Document and the Recitals and each reference to the Credit
Agreement, unless otherwise expressly noted, will be deemed to reference the Original Credit Agreement as amended hereby. The
Recitals set forth above shall be construed as part of this Agreement as if set forth fully in the body of this Agreement and capitalized
terms used but not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings ascribed to them in the Credit Agreement (including those
capitalized terms used in the Recitals hereto).
2 .
Amendments to Original Credit Agreement . Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, including,
without limitation, the conditions to effectiveness set forth in Section 4 below, the Original Credit Agreement is hereby amended as
follows:
(a)
alphabetical order:

The following defined terms are hereby added to Section 1.1 of the Original Credit Agreement in appropriate

“Third Amendment” means that certain Amendment No. 3 to Credit Agreement, dated as of the Third Amendment
Effective Date, by and among the Borrower, Agent and Lenders.
MidCap / Williams / Amendment No. 3 to Credit Agreement

“Third Amendment Effective Date ” means the date all the conditions precedent to effectiveness of the Third

Amendment as set forth therein are satisfied or waived in accordance therewith.
“Total Net Leverage Ratio” means, with respect to any Test Period, the ratio of (a) Total Debt as of the last day of such
Test Period minus Unrestricted Cash in excess of $2,500,000 as of the last day of such Test Period to (b) Consolidated
Adjusted EBITDA of the borrower and its Subsidiaries for such Test Period.
“Unrestricted Cash” means the balance of unencumbered cash and Cash Equivalent Investments (as defined in the
Term Loan Credit Agreement and which for greater certainty shall not include any undrawn credit lines), in each case, to
the extent held in a deposit account in the United States subject to an account control agreement reasonably satisfactory
to the Agent.
(b)
Section 1.01 of the Existing Credit Agreement is hereby amended by deleting the definition of “ Total
Leverage Ratio” therefrom.
(c)
The following defined terms contained in Section 1.1 of the Original Credit Agreement are hereby amended
and restated in their entirety as follows:
“Commitment Expiry Date” means the date that is four (4) years following the Closing Date.
“Liquidity Reserve” means $1,000,000.
(d)
The definition of “Consolidated Adjusted EBITDA” in Section 1.1 of the Original Credit Agreement is hereby
amended, to be effective beginning with the Test Period ending December 31, 2019, as follows:
(i)

Clause (v) thereof is hereby amended and restated in its entirety as follows:

“(v) any extraordinary losses and unusual or non-recurring charges, including, without limitation, any severance,
integration, facilities closing or relocation costs and curtailments or modifications to pension and post retirement employee benefit
plans in an aggregate amount not to exceed (1) $2,500,000 in fiscal year 2018, (2) $1,500,000 (plus an additional $400,000 in respect
of severance costs, $300,000 in respect of legal costs, $200,000 in respect of consulting costs and $600,000 in respect of restructuring
costs, in each case, if and to the extent described on Exhibit A to the Third Amendment) in fiscal year 2019 and (3) $500,000 in any
fiscal year thereafter;”
(ii)

Clause (xii) thereof is hereby amended and restated in its entirety as follows:

“(xii) one-time, non-recurring customary and documented costs and expenses deducted from net income during such
period in connection with (A) the making of the Loans and the negotiation, execution and delivery of the Financing Documents, (B)
the negotiation, execution and delivery of the Term
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Loan Financing Documents and the consummation of the transactions contemplated thereunder, in an aggregate amount with respect to
clauses (A) and (B) not to exceed $350,000 and (C) the negotiation, execution and delivery of the Third Amendment and the related
amendment to the Term Loan Credit Agreement, in an aggregate amount with respect to this clause (C) not to exceed $500,000; and”
(iii)

Clause (d) thereof is hereby amended and restated in its entirety as follows:

“(d)
without duplication and to the extent included in determining such Consolidated Net Income of the Company
and its Subsidiaries, any extraordinary or non-recurring non‑cash gains (or plus extraordinary non‑cash losses) for such period and any
gains (or plus losses) realized in connection with any Asset Disposition by the Company and its Subsidiaries during such period (other
than gains in an amount not to exceed $638,940 received from the settlement with Innova Global Inc. in connection with the Asset
Disposition of Braden Manufacturing, L.L.C.), all determined on a consolidated basis in accordance with GAAP.”
(e)
amended as follows:

The definition of “Corporate Adjusted EBITDA” in Section 1.1 of the Original Credit Agreement is hereby
(i)

Clause (v) thereof is hereby amended and restated in its entirety as follows:

“(v) any extraordinary losses and unusual or non-recurring charges, including, without limitation, any severance,
integration, facilities closing or relocation costs and curtailments or modifications to pension and post retirement employee benefit
plans in an aggregate amount not to exceed, together with the amounts added back pursuant to clause (a)(v) of the definition of
Operating Subsidiaries Consolidated Adjusted EBITDA, (1) $2,500,000 in fiscal year 2018, (2) $1,500,000 (plus an additional
$400,000 in respect of severance costs, $300,000 in respect of legal costs, $200,000 in respect of consulting costs and $600,000 in
respect of restructuring costs, in each case, if and to the extent described on Exhibit A to the Third Amendment) in fiscal year 2019 and
(3) $500,000 in any fiscal year thereafter;”
(ii)

Clause (xii) thereof is hereby amended and restated in its entirety as follows:

“(xii) one-time, non-recurring customary and documented costs and expenses deducted from net income during such
period in connection with (A) the making of the Loans and the negotiation, execution and delivery of the Financing Documents, (B)
the negotiation, execution and delivery of the Term Loan Financing Documents and the consummation of the transactions
contemplated thereunder, in an aggregate amount with respect to clauses (A) and (B) not to exceed $350,000 and (C) the negotiation,
execution and delivery of the Third Amendment and the related amendment to the Term Loan Credit Agreement, in an aggregate
amount with respect to this clause (C) not to exceed $500,000; and”
(iii)

Clause (d) thereof is hereby amended and restated in its entirety as follows:

“(d)
without duplication and to the extent included in determining such Net Income of the Company, any
extraordinary or non-recurring non‑cash gains (or plus extraordinary non‑cash losses) for such period and any gains (or plus losses)
realized in connection with any Asset Disposition by the
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Company during such period (other than gains in an amount not to exceed $638,940 received from the settlement with Innova Global
Inc. in connection with the Asset Disposition of Braden Manufacturing, L.L.C.), all determined on a consolidated basis in accordance
with GAAP.”
( f )
The definition of “Operating Subsidiaries Consolidated Adjusted EBITDA” in Section 1.1 of the Original
Credit Agreement is hereby amended as follows:
(i)

Clause (v) thereof is hereby amended and restated in its entirety as follows:

“(v) any extraordinary losses and unusual or non-recurring charges, including, without limitation, any severance,
integration, facilities closing or relocation costs and curtailments or modifications to pension and post retirement employee benefit
plans in an aggregate amount not to exceed, together with the amounts added back pursuant to clause (a)(v) of the definition of
Corporate Adjusted EBITDA, (1) $2,500,000 in fiscal year 2018, (2) $1,500,000 (plus an additional $400,000 in respect of severance
costs, $300,000 in respect of legal costs, $200,000 in respect of consulting costs and $600,000 in respect of restructuring costs, in each
case, if and to the extent described on Exhibit A to the Third Amendment) in fiscal year 2019 and (3) $500,000 in any fiscal year
thereafter;”
(ii)

Clause (d) thereof is hereby amended and restated in its entirety as follows:

(g)
“(d)
without duplication and to the extent included in determining such Consolidated Net Income of the
Company, any extraordinary or non-recurring non‑cash gains (or plus extraordinary non‑cash losses) for such period and any gains (or
plus losses) realized in connection with any Asset Disposition by the Operating Subsidiaries during such period (other than gains in an
amount not to exceed $638,940 received from the settlement with Innova Global Inc. in connection with the Asset Disposition of
Braden Manufacturing, L.L.C.), all determined on a consolidated basis in accordance with GAAP.”
(h)
The definition of “Permitted Investments” in Section 1.1 of the Original Credit Agreement is hereby amended
by amending and restating clause (k) thereof as follows:
“(k)
non-cash Investments consisting solely of the entry into Permitted Servicing Joint Ventures by the services
division of any Credit Party or a Subsidiary of a Credit Party provided that the Credit Parties and the Subsidiaries of the Credit Parties
shall not be party to more than seven (7) Permitted Servicing Joint Ventures at any given time in addition to the Permitted Servicing
Joint Ventures existing on the Closing Date;”
(i)

Section 2.2(d) of the Original Credit Agreement is hereby amended and restated in its entirety as follows:
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“Collateral Management Fee. From and following the Third Amendment Effective Date, Borrowers shall pay Agent
on the first day of each month, for its own account and not for the benefit of any other Lenders, a fee in an amount equal to $4,000.
The collateral management fee shall be deemed fully earned when due and payable and, once paid, shall be non-refundable.”
(j)

Section 2.2(f) of the Original Credit Agreement is hereby amended and restated in its entirety as follows:

“Deferred Revolving Loan Origination Fee. If Lenders’ funding obligations in respect of the Revolving Loan
Commitment under this Agreement terminate for any reason (whether by voluntary termination by Borrowers, by reason of the
occurrence of an Event of Default or otherwise) prior to the Commitment Expiry Date, Borrowers shall pay to Agent, for the benefit of
all Lenders committed to make Revolving Loans on the Closing Date, a fee as compensation for the costs of such Lenders being
prepared to make funds available to Borrowers under this Agreement, equal to an amount determined by multiplying the Revolving
Loan Commitment by the following applicable percentage amount: 2.00% for the first two years following the Closing Date, 1.50%
for the third year following the Closing Date, and 1.00% thereafter; provided that no such fee shall be payable within 90 days of the
Commitment Expiry Date. All fees payable pursuant to this paragraph shall be deemed fully earned and non-refundable as of the
Closing Date.”
(k)
at the end thereof:

Section 4.1 of the Existing Credit Agreement is hereby amended is hereby amended by adding new clause (i)

“(i)
Simultaneously with the delivery of each set of financial statements referred to in Section 4.1(a), the Borrower
shall provide to the Agent a monthly report of (i) margin calculations by contract, (ii) backlog by contract and (iii) conversion rates for
backlog by contract, in each case in such form as the Agent may reasonably request.”
(l)

Section 6.2 of the Original Credit Agreement is hereby amended and restated in its entirety to read as follows:

“Section 6.2 Total Net Leverage Ratio. Subject to Section 6.5 below, commencing with the fiscal quarter
ended December 31, 2018, Credit Parties will not permit the Total Net Leverage Ratio for the Credit Parties on a consolidated
basis for any Defined Period ending on and as of the last day of a fiscal quarter set forth below to be greater than the ratio set
forth opposite such Defined Period below:

Fiscal Quarter Ending

Total Net Leverage Ratio

December 31, 2018

4.00:1.00

March 31, 2019

4.00:1.00

June 30, 2019

4.00:1.00

September 30, 2019

4.00:1.00

December 31, 2019

4.50:1.00
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Fiscal Quarter Ending

Total Net Leverage Ratio

March 31, 2020

4.50:1.00

June 30, 2020

4.50:1.00

September 30, 2020

4.50:1.00

December 31, 2020

4.00:1.00

March 31, 2021

4.00:1.00

June 30, 2021

3.50:1.00

September 30, 2021

3.50:1.00

December 31, 2021

3.25:1.00

March 31, 2022

3.00:1.00

June 30, 2022

3.00:1.00

September 30, 2022

2.75:1.00”

(m)
The table contained in Section 6.3 of the Original Credit Agreement is hereby amended and restated in its
entirety to read as follows:

Fiscal Quarter Ending

Minimum Consolidated
Adjusted EBITDA

December 31, 2018

$9,250,000

March 31, 2019

$9,250,000

June 30, 2019

$9,500,000

September 30, 2019

$9,500,000

December 30, 2019

$9,500,000

March 31, 2020

$9,500,000

June 30, 2020

$9,750,000

September 30, 2020

$9,750,000

December 30, 2020

$10,000,000
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Fiscal Quarter Ending

Minimum Consolidated
Adjusted EBITDA

March 31, 2021

$10,500,000

June 30, 2021

$11,000,000

September 30, 2021

$12,000,000

December 31, 2021

$12,500,000

March 31, 2022

$13,000,000

June 30, 2022

$13,500,000

September 30, 2022

$14,000,000

(n)
The proviso to Section 6.5 of the Original Credit Agreement is hereby amended by replacing (i) the words
“Total Leverage Ratio” contained therein with the words “Total Net Leverage Ratio” and (ii) the references to “December 31, 2019”
contained therein with “September 30, 2019”.
( o )
Annex A (Commitment Annex) to the Original Credit Agreement is hereby replaced in its entirety with
Exhibit B attached hereto.
(p)
Footnotes 3 and 5 in the Attachments to Exhibit B (Compliance Certificate) to the Original Credit Agreement
are hereby amended by replacing the references to “December 31, 2019” contained therein with “September 30, 2019”.
(q)
Attachments 1(A), 1(B) and 1(C) to Exhibit B (Compliance Certificate) to the Original Credit Agreement are
hereby replaced in their entirety with Exhibit C attached hereto.
3.
Representations and Warranties; Reaffirmation of Security Interest . Each Borrower hereby confirms that all of
the representations and warranties set forth in the Credit Agreement are true and correct in all material respects (without duplication of
any materiality qualifier in the text of such representation or warranty) with respect to such Borrower as of the date hereof except to the
extent that any such representation or warranty relates to a specific date in which case such representation or warranty shall be true and
correct in all material respects (or, in the case of any representation or warranty that is, by its terms, qualified by materiality, in all
respects) as of such earlier date. Nothing herein is intended to impair or limit the validity, priority or extent of Agent’s security
interests in and Liens on the Collateral. Each Borrower acknowledges and agrees that the Credit Agreement, the other Financing
Documents and this Agreement constitute the legal, valid and binding obligation of such Borrower, and are enforceable against such
Borrower in accordance with its terms, except as the enforceability thereof may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency or other similar
laws relating to the enforcement of creditors’ rights generally and by general equitable principles.
4.
Conditions to Effectiveness. This Agreement shall become effective as of the date on which each of the following
conditions have been satisfied, as determined by Agent in its sole discretion:
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(a)

each Borrower shall have delivered to Agent this Agreement, executed by an authorized officer of such

Borrower;
(b)
each Borrower shall have delivered to Agent a duly executed copy of an amendment to the Term Loan Credit
Agreement, in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to Agent;
(c)
Agent shall have received a duly executed copy of a consent of the Term Loan Agent under the Intercreditor
Agreement, in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to Agent;
(d)
all representations and warranties of Borrowers contained herein shall be true and correct in all material
respects (without duplication of any materiality qualifier in the text of such representation or warranty) as of the date hereof except to
the extent that any such representation or warranty relates to a specific date in which case such representation or warranty shall be true
and correct in all material respects (or, in the case of any representation or warranty that is, by its terms, qualified by materiality, in all
respects)as of such earlier date (and such parties’ delivery of their respective signatures hereto shall be deemed to be its certification
thereof); and
(e)
prior to and after giving effect to the agreements set forth herein, no Default or Event of Default shall exist
under any of the Financing Documents.
5.

Post-Closing Obligations.

(a)
Canadian Guarantee and Security Agreements . Within sixty (60) days (or such later time as Agent may agree
in its reasonable discretion) after the date hereof, Borrowers shall:
(i)
cause each of WISG Canada Ltd., a British Columbia, Canada corporation, WISG Nuclear Ltd., a
British Columbia, Canada corporation and WISG Electrical Ltd., a British Columbia, Canada corporation (collectively, the
“Canadian Subsidiaries” and each, a “ Canadian Subsidiary”) to become Guarantors under the Credit Agreement and to
execute and deliver to Agent, a guaranty, in form and substance reasonably acceptable to Agent, jointly and severally
guaranteeing the Obligations of the other Credit Parties under the Financing Documents;
(ii)
furnish to Agent a description of the material real and personal properties of each Canadian Subsidiary,
in each case, in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to Agent;
(iii)
cause each Canadian Subsidiary to execute and deliver such assignments, pledges and security
agreements as specified by, and in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to Agent, in each case, securing the payment of all
Obligations of such Canadian Subsidiaries under the Financing Documents and granting Liens on all properties of such
Canadian Subsidiary provided, however, that no security interest in fee‑owned real property shall be required unless requested
by Agent;
(iv)
take and cause each Canadian Subsidiary to take or cause to be taken, whatever action (including,
without limitation, the filing of Personal Property Security Act (Ontario) financing statements, the giving of notices and the
endorsement of notices on title documents) may be necessary or advisable in the reasonable opinion of Agent to vest in Agent
(or
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in any representative of Agent designated by it) valid, perfected Liens on the properties purported to be subject to the pledges,
assignments and security agreements delivered pursuant to this Section 5(a), enforceable against all third parties in accordance
with their terms, subject to Permitted Liens;
(v)
cause Williams Industrial Services Group, L.L.C. to execute and deliver to Agent, a supplement to the
relevant Security Document (or another pledge agreement in substantially identical form, if needed) pledging 100% of the
Equity Interests held by Williams Industrial Services Group, L.L.C. in WISG Canada Ltd. and with all documents delivered
pursuant to this Section 5(a)(v) to be in form, scope and substance reasonably satisfactory to Agent; and
(vi)
do, execute, acknowledge, deliver, record, file and register any and all such further acts, deeds,
conveyances, pledge agreements, deeds of trust, trust deeds, assignments, financing statements, notices of assignment, transfers,
certificates, collateral access agreements, assurances and other instruments as Agent may reasonably require in order to carry out
more effectively the purposes of this Section 5(a), and cause each of the Canadian Subsidiaries to do so.
(b)
Equity Rights Offering. On or before March 13, 2020, Williams Industrial Services Group Inc. (“ WISG”)
shall have completed that certain offering of subscription rights to shareholders of WISG to purchase shares of WISG’s common stock
in an amount not less than $7,000,000 as more fully described in WISG’s registration statement filed with the SEC on or about
November 14, 2019.
6 .
Fees. In consideration of Agent’s agreement to enter into this Agreement, Borrowers agree to pay Agent, for the
benefit of all Revolving Lenders in accordance with their Pro Rata Share of the Revolving Loan Commitments, an amendment fee in
the amount of $150,000 (the “Amendment Fee”). Such Amendment Fee shall be fully earned, due and payable on the Third
Amendment Closing Date, and, once paid, is non-refundable. Borrowers hereby authorize Agent to deduct the Amendment Fee from
the proceeds of one or more Revolving Loans made under the Credit Agreement.
7.
Release. In consideration of the agreements of Agent and Lenders contained herein and for other good and valuable
consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, other than with respect to the agreements of the Lenders
specifically set forth herein, each Borrower, voluntarily, knowingly, unconditionally and irrevocably, with specific and express intent,
does hereby fully and completely release, acquit and forever discharge each of Agent, Lenders, and each their respective parents,
subsidiaries, affiliates, members, managers, shareholders, directors, officers and employees, and each of their respective predecessors,
successors, heirs, and assigns (individually and collectively, the “Released Parties”), of and from any and all actions, causes of action,
suits, debts, disputes, damages, claims, obligations, liabilities, costs, expenses and demands of any kind whatsoever, at law or in equity,
whether matured or unmatured, liquidated or unliquidated, vested or contingent, choate or inchoate, known or unknown, arising out of,
arising under or related to the Financing Documents that such Borrower has against the Released Parties or any of them (whether
directly or indirectly)and that arise from events occurring before the date hereof. Borrower acknowledges that the foregoing release is
a material inducement to Agent’s and each Lender’s decision to enter into this Agreement and agree to the modifications contemplated
hereunder, and has been relied upon by Agent and Lenders in connection therewith.
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8.
No Waiver or Novation. The execution, delivery and effectiveness of this Agreement shall not, except as expressly
provided in this Agreement, operate as a waiver of any right, power or remedy of Agent, nor constitute a waiver of any provision of the
Original Credit Agreement, the other Financing Documents or any other documents, instruments and agreements executed or delivered
in connection with any of the foregoing. Nothing herein is intended or shall be construed as a waiver of any existing Defaults or
Events of Default under the Credit Agreement or the other Financing Documents or any of Agent’s rights and remedies in respect of
such Defaults or Events of Default. This Agreement (together with any other document executed in connection herewith) is not
intended to be, nor shall it be construed as, a novation of the Credit Agreement.
9.
Affirmation. Except as specifically amended pursuant to the terms hereof, each Borrower hereby acknowledges and
agrees that the Original Credit Agreement and all other Financing Documents (and all covenants, terms, conditions and agreements
therein) shall remain in full force and effect, and are hereby ratified and confirmed in all respects by such Borrower. Each Borrower
covenants and agrees to comply with all of the terms, covenants and conditions of the Original Credit Agreement and the other
Financing Documents, notwithstanding any prior course of conduct, waivers, releases or other actions or inactions on Agent’s or any
Lender’s part which might otherwise constitute or be construed as a waiver of or amendment to such terms, covenants and conditions.
10.

Miscellaneous.

(a)
Reference to the Effect on the Credit Agreement . Upon the effectiveness of this Agreement, each reference in
the Original Credit Agreement to “this Agreement,” “hereunder,” “hereof,” “herein,” or words of similar import shall mean and be a
reference to the Original Credit Agreement, as amended by this Agreement. Except as specifically amended above, the Original Credit
Agreement, and all other Financing Documents (and all covenants, terms, conditions and agreements therein), shall remain in full force
and effect, and are hereby ratified and confirmed in all respects by each Borrower.
( b )
Governing Law. THIS AGREEMENT AND ALL DISPUTES AND OTHER MATTERS RELATING
HERETO OR ARISING THEREFROM (WHETHER SOUNDING IN CONTRACT LAW, TORT LAW OR OTHERWISE), SHALL
BE GOVERNED BY, AND SHALL BE CONSTRUED AND ENFORCED IN ACCORDANCE WITH, THE LAWS OF THE
STATE OF NEW YORK, WITHOUT REGARD TO CONFLICTS OF LAWS PRINCIPLES (OTHER THAN SECTIONS 5-1401
AND 5-1402 OF THE NEW YORK GENERAL OBLIGATIONS LAW).
(c)
Incorporation of Credit Agreement Provisions . The provisions contained in Section 11.6 (Indemnification),
Section 12.8(b) (Submission to Jurisdiction) and Section 12.9 (Waiver of Jury Trial) of the Credit Agreement are incorporated herein
by reference to the same extent as if reproduced herein in their entirety.
(d)
Headings. Section headings in this Agreement are included for convenience of reference only and shall not
constitute a part of this Agreement for any other purpose.
(e)
Counterparts. This Agreement may be signed in any number of counterparts, each of which shall be deemed
an original and all of which when taken together shall constitute one and the same instrument. Delivery of an executed counterpart of
this Agreement by facsimile or by electronic mail delivery of an electronic version (e.g., .pdf or .tif file) of an executed signature
page shall be effective as delivery of an original executed counterpart hereof and shall bind the parties hereto.
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(f)
Entire Agreement.
This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement and understanding among the parties
hereto and supersedes any and all prior agreements and understandings, oral or written, relating to the subject matter hereof.
( g )
Severability. In case any provision of or obligation under this Agreement shall be invalid, illegal or
unenforceable in any applicable jurisdiction, the validity, legality and enforceability of the remaining provisions or obligations, or of
such provision or obligation in any other jurisdiction, shall not in any way be affected or impaired thereby.
( h )
Successors/Assigns. This Agreement shall bind, and the rights hereunder shall inure to, the respective
successors and assigns of the parties hereto, subject to the provisions of the Credit Agreement and the other Financing Documents.
[SIGNATURES APPEAR ON FOLLOWING PAGES]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, intending to be legally bound, and intending that this document constitute an agreement executed
under seal, the undersigned have executed this Agreement under seal as of the day and year first hereinabove set forth.
AGENT:

MIDCAP FUNDING IV TRUST,
as Agent
By:
Apollo Capital Management, L.P.,
its investment manager
By:
Apollo Capital Management GP, LLC,
its general partner
By:
/s/ Maurice Amsellem
Name: Maurice Amsellem
Title: Authorized Signatory

LENDER:

MIDCAP FUNDING IV TRUST,
as a Lender
By:
Apollo Capital Management, L.P.,
its investment manager
By:
Apollo Capital Management GP, LLC,
its general partner
By:
/s/ Maurice Amsellem
Name: Maurice Amsellem
Title: Authorized Signatory
[Signatures Continue on Following Page]
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BORROWERS:
WILLIAMS INDUSTRIAL SERVICES GROUP INC.
GLOBAL POWER PROFESSIONAL SERVICES INC.
WILLIAMS INDUSTRIAL SERVICES GROUP, L.L.C.
WILLIAMS INDUSTRIAL SERVICES, LLC
WILLIAMS SPECIALTY SERVICES, LLC
WILLIAMS PLANT SERVICES, LLC
WILLIAMS GLOBAL SERVICES, INC.
CONSTRUCTION & MAINTENANCE PROFESSIONALS,
LLC
BRADEN HOLDINGS, LLC
STEAM ENTERPRISES, LLC
GPEG, LLC
By:
/s/ Randall R. Lay
Name: Randall R. Lay
Title: Chief Financial Officer
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Exhibit 10.36
Backstop Agreement – Acknowledgement and Waiver as to Refinancing Condition
On November 14, 2019, Williams Industrial Services Group Inc. (the “ Company”) and Wynnefield Capital, Inc.
(“Wynnefield”) entered into a Backstop Agreement (the “ Backstop Agreement”), pursuant to which Wynnefield agreed to backstop the
Company’s proposed rights offering (the “Rights Offering”) by exercising all the rights it will receive from the Company pursuant to
the Rights Offering and, upon expiration of the Rights Offering, purchasing all of the additional shares of the Company’s common
stock not otherwise sold in the Rights Offering, up to $7.0 million in the aggregate, subject to the terms and conditions set forth in the
Backstop Agreement.
Section 2(g) of the Backstop Agreement provides that Wynnefield’s obligations under the Backstop Agreement are contingent
upon: (i) the Company executing and delivering documentation governing the refinancing of its then-current credit facilities in the
aggregate amount of not less than $45.0 million (the “Refinancing”); (ii) all conditions to effectiveness of the documentation governing
the Refinancing being satisfied or waived (or will be satisfied and waived substantially concurrently with the closing date of the
Backstop Agreement); and (iii) the Company consummating the Refinancing (collectively, the “ Refinancing Condition”). In addition,
Section 6(a)(x) of the Backstop Agreement provides that the obligations of the Company and Wynnefield to consummate the Backstop
Agreement are subject to satisfaction of the Refinancing Condition, which condition may be waived by either party in its or their sole
discretion.
On January 13, 2020, the Company entered into amendments to its credit facilities, as described in the Company’s Current
Report on Form 8-K (the “Form 8-K”), filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission on January 15, 2020 (the “ January
2020 Amendments”). Among other things, the amendment to the MidCap Facility (as defined in the Form 8-K) increased the maximum
principal amount of revolving loans by $10.0 million to $25.0 million. The amount of principal indebtedness outstanding under the
Credit Lane Agreement (as defined in the Form 8-K) remained unchanged.
In light of the January 2020 Amendments, the Company and Wynnefield hereby acknowledge and agree that:
1. The January 2020 Amendments are deemed to fulfill the requirements of Section 2(g) of the Backstop Agreement; and
2. The closing of the January 2020 Amendments on January 13, 2020 satisfies the Refinancing Condition contained in Section
6(a)(x) of the Backstop Agreement or such condition is otherwise waived.
[Signature Page Follows]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Acknowledgment and Waiver as to Refinancing Condition to
be executed as of January 24, 2020 by their respective officers thereunto duly authorized.
WILLIAMS INDUSTRIAL SERVICES GROUP INC.
By:
/s/ Tracy D. Pagliara
Name: Tracy D. Pagliara
Title: President and Chief Executive Officer
WYNNEFIELD CAPITAL, INC.
By:
/s/ Nelson Obus
Name: Nelson Obus
Title: President
[Signature Page to Backstop Agreement – Acknowledgement and Waiver as to Refinancing Condition]

Exhibit 10.38
Williams Industrial Services Group Inc.
Restricted Shares Award Agreement
Notice of Restricted Shares Award
Williams Industrial Services Group Inc. (the “Company”) grants to the Grantee named below, in accordance with the terms
and conditions of the Williams Industrial Services Group Inc. 2015 Equity Incentive Plan (the “Plan”) and this Restricted
Shares Award Agreement (the “Agreement”), the following number of restricted shares (the “Restricted Shares”), as of the
Date of Grant set forth below (the “Date of Grant”). Capitalized terms used in this Agreement without definition shall have
the meanings assigned to them in the Plan.
Name of Grantee:

[·]

Date of Grant:

March [·], 2020

Number of Restricted Shares:

[·]

Vesting Date:

March 31, 2021

Terms of Agreement:
1.
Grant of Restricted Shares. Subject to and upon the terms, conditions and restrictions set forth in this
Agreement and in the Plan, and in consideration of past services which have a value in excess of the par value of the
Restricted Shares, the Company hereby grants to the Grantee as of the Date of Grant the total number of Restricted Shares set
forth above. Any certificates evidencing the Restricted Shares will be held in custody by the Company together with a stock
power endorsed in blank by the Grantee with respect thereto, until the Restricted Shares have become vested in accordance
with Section 2.
2.
Vesting. The Restricted Shares granted under this Agreement shall vest on the Vesting Date set forth above,
subject to the Grantee continuing to serve as a member of the Board through the Vesting Date. Notwithstanding anything
herein to the contrary, upon the death or Disability of the Grantee prior to the Vesting Date, the Grantee shall be vested in that
number of Restricted Shares equal to the product of (i) the number of Restricted Shares, multiplied by (ii) a fraction equal to
the number of days that the Grantee served on the Board since the Date of Grant over 365. For purposes of this Agreement,
“Disability” shall have the meaning set forth in the Company’s long term disability plan. Upon a Change in Control, the
provisions of Section 21 of the Plan shall apply.
3.
Forfeiture of Restricted Shares. The Restricted Shares that have not yet vested pursuant to Section 2 (and
any right to unpaid dividends under Section 5 with respect to the Restricted Shares) shall be forfeited automatically without
further action or notice if the Grantee ceases to serve as a member of the Board prior to the Vesting Date, except as otherwise
provided in Section 2.
4.
Nontransferability. Prior to the Vesting Date, the Restricted Shares granted pursuant to this Agreement may
not be transferred, assigned, pledged or hypothecated in any manner, or be subject to execution, attachment or similar process,
by operation of law or otherwise, unless otherwise provided under the Plan. Any purported transfer or encumbrance in
violation of

the provisions of this Section 4 shall be void, and the other party to any such purported transaction shall not obtain any rights
to or interest in the Restricted Shares.
5.
Dividend, Voting and Other Rights. Except as otherwise provided herein, from and after the Date of Grant,
the Grantee shall have all of the rights of a stockholder with respect to the Restricted Shares, including the right to vote the
Restricted Shares. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the payment of dividends or distributions on the Restricted Shares shall be
subject to the following rules:
(a)
Cash Dividends. Any cash dividends or distributions paid with respect to Restricted Shares that have not yet
vested will be subject to the same restrictions on transferability and the possibility of forfeiture to the Company as the
Restricted Shares to which the cash dividends or distributions relate. To facilitate the enforcement of this provision, any such
cash dividends or distributions paid with respect to unvested Restricted Shares will be held by the Company or its agent
designated for that purpose until such time as the Restricted Shares to which the cash dividends or distributions relate become
vested or are forfeited. To the extent that the Restricted Shares become vested in accordance with Section 2 hereof, the cash
dividends or distributions with respect thereto will be paid or transferred to the Grantee (without interest) within 30 calendar
days after the date that the Restricted Shares become vested. To the extent the Restricted Shares are forfeited in accordance
with Section 3 hereof, all of the Grantee’s right, title and interest in and to such cash dividends or distributions with respect
thereto will automatically be forfeited by the Grantee and transferred to the Company. The Grantee agrees to take any and all
other actions (including without limitation executing, delivering, performing and filing such other agreements, instruments
and documents) as the Company may deem necessary or appropriate to carry out and give effect to this Section 5(a). The
obligations of the Company under this Section 5(a) will be merely that of an unfunded and unsecured promise of the Company
to deliver cash in the future, subject to the terms and conditions herein, and the rights of the Grantee to such cash payment will
be no greater than that of an unsecured general creditor. Any cash paid to the Grantee pursuant to this Section 5(a) shall be
reported on the Grantee’s Form 1099-MISC as compensation income for services as a director.
( b )
In-Kind Distributions. Any additional Shares or other securities that the Grantee may become entitled to
receive pursuant to a stock dividend, stock split, combination of shares, recapitalization, merger, consolidation, separation or
reorganization or any other change in the capital structure of the Company shall be considered Restricted Shares and shall be
subject to the same restrictions as the Restricted Shares covered by this Agreement.
6.

Compliance with Laws.

(a)
Taxes. The Grantee shall be liable and responsible for all taxes owed in connection with the Restricted Shares,
including the awarding and vesting thereof. The Company does not commit and is under no obligation to structure the
Restricted Shares to reduce or eliminate the Grantee’s tax liability.
(b)
Securities Law Compliance. The Company shall make reasonable efforts to comply with all applicable federal
and state securities laws and listing requirements with respect to the Restricted Shares.
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( c )
General. No Restricted Shares shall be delivered unless and until the Company is satisfied, in its sole
discretion, that there has been compliance with all legal requirements applicable to the issuance of such Restricted Shares.
7.

Miscellaneous.

(a)
Discretion of the Board. Unless otherwise explicitly provided herein, the Board, or an authorized committee
thereof, shall make all determinations required to be made hereunder, including determinations required to be made by the
Company, and shall interpret all provisions of this Agreement and the underlying Restricted Shares, as it deems necessary or
desirable, in its sole and unfettered discretion. Such determinations and interpretations shall be binding and conclusive with
respect to the Company, the Grantee and any person claiming an interest in the Restricted Shares under or through the
Grantee.
(b)
No Right to Reelection. Nothing contained in this Agreement shall confer upon the Grantee any right to be
nominated for reelection by the Company’s stockholders, or any right to remain a member of the Board for any period of time,
or at any particular rate of compensation.
(c)

Amendment. This Agreement may only be modified or amended by a writing signed by both parties.

(d)
Notices. Any notices required to be given under this Agreement shall be sufficient if in writing and if sent by
certified mail, return receipt requested, and addressed as follows:
if to the Company:
Williams Industrial Services Group Inc.
Attention: General Counsel
100 Crescent Centre Parkway, Suite 1240
Tucker, GA 30084
if to the Grantee: the address of the Grantee most recently provided to the Company, or to such other address as
either party may designate under the provisions hereof.
(e)
Relation to Plan; Entire Agreement. This Agreement is subject to the terms and conditions of the Plan. This
Agreement and the Plan contain the entire agreement and understanding of the parties with respect to the subject matter
contained in this Agreement, and supersede all prior written or oral communications, representations and negotiations in
respect thereto. In the event of any inconsistency between the provisions of this Agreement and the Plan, the Plan shall
govern.
(f)
Successors and Assigns. The rights and obligations of the Company under this Agreement shall inure to the
benefit of and be binding upon the successors and assigns of the Company.
(g)
Applicable Law; Severability. All rights and obligations under this Agreement shall be governed by the laws of
the State of Delaware, without giving effect to the principles of conflict of laws thereof. In the event that any court of
competent jurisdiction shall determine that any provision, or any portion thereof, contained in this Agreement shall be
unenforceable in any respect, then such provision shall be deemed limited to the extent that such court deems it enforceable,
and as so limited shall remain in full force and effect. In the event that such court
3

shall deem any such provision, or portion thereof, wholly unenforceable, the remaining provisions of this Agreement shall
nevertheless remain in full force and effect.
( h )
Paragraph Headings; Rules of Construction. The paragraph headings used in this Agreement are for
convenience of reference, and are not to be construed as part of this Agreement. The parties hereto acknowledge and agree
that the rule of construction to the effect that any ambiguities are resolved against the drafting party shall not be employed in
the interpretation of this Agreement.
(i)
Use of Grantee’s Information. Information about the Grantee and the Grantee’s participation in the Plan may
be collected, recorded and held, used and disclosed for any purpose related to the administration of the Plan. The Grantee
understands that such processing of this information may need to be carried out by the Company and its Subsidiaries and by
third party administrators whether such persons are located within the Grantee’s country or elsewhere, including the United
States of America. The Grantee consents to the processing of information relating to the Grantee and the Grantee’s
participation in the Plan in any one or more of the ways referred to above.
(j)
Electronic Delivery. The Grantee hereby consents and agrees to electronic delivery of any documents that the
Company may elect to deliver (including, but not limited to, prospectuses, prospectus supplements, grant or award
notifications and agreements, account statements, annual and quarterly reports, and all other forms of communications) in
connection with this and any other award made or offered under the Plan. The Grantee understands that, unless earlier
revoked by the Grantee by giving written notice to Laura Payne, Director Financial Reporting, this consent shall be effective
for the duration of the Agreement. The Grantee also understands that he or she shall have the right at any time to request that
the Company deliver written copies of any and all materials referred to above at no charge. The Grantee hereby consents to
any and all procedures the Company has established or may establish for an electronic signature system for delivery and
acceptance of any such documents that the Company may elect to deliver, and agrees that his or her electronic signature is the
same as, and shall have the same force and effect as, his or her manual signature. The Grantee consents and agrees that any
such procedures and delivery may be effected by a third party engaged by the Company to provide administrative services
related to the Plan.
(k)
Fractional Shares. Fractional Shares will be subject to rounding conventions adopted by the Company from
time to time; provided that in no event will the total shares issued exceed the total Restricted Shares granted under this award.
(l)
No Waiver of Rights, Powers and Remedies. No failure or delay by a party hereto in exercising any right,
power or remedy under this Agreement, and no course of dealing between the parties hereto, shall operate as a waiver of any
such right, power or remedy of the party, unless explicitly provided for herein. No single or partial exercise of any right,
power or remedy under this Agreement by a party hereto, nor any abandonment or discontinuance of steps to enforce any such
right, power or remedy, shall preclude such party from any other or further exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right,
power or remedy hereunder.
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(m)
Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in multiple counterparts, including by electronic or facsimile
signature, each of which shall be deemed in original but all of which together shall constitute one and the same instrument.
[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement as of the Date of Grant.
WILLIAMS INDUSTRIAL SERVICES GROUP INC.
By: /s/ Tracy Pagliara
Tracy Pagliara
President and Chief Executive Officer

By executing this Agreement, you acknowledge that a copy of the Plan, Plan Summary and Prospectus, and the
Company’s most recent Annual Report and Proxy Statement (the “Prospectus Information”) have been received by you, and
you consent to receiving this Prospectus Information electronically, or, in the alternative, agree to contact [•], at [•], to request a
paper copy of the Prospectus Information at no charge.
GRANTEE
[·]
Date:
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EXHIBIT 21.1
Exhibit A
Williams Industrial Services Group Inc.
Annual Report on Form 10-K
Subsidiaries of Williams Industrial Services Group Inc.

Consolidated Subsidiaries

Where Organized

Braden Holdings, LLC

Delaware

Global Power Professional Services Inc.

Delaware

GPEG, LLC

Delaware

Steam Enterprises, L.L.C.

Delaware

Williams Industrial Services Group, L.L.C.

Delaware

Construction & Maintenance Professionals, LLC

Georgia

Williams Global Services, Inc.

Georgia

Williams Industrial Services, LLC

Georgia

Williams Plant Services, LLC

Georgia

Williams Specialty Services, LLC

Georgia

Braden Manufacturing SA de CV

Mexico

WISG Canada Ltd.

Canada

WISG Nuclear Ltd.

Canada

WISG Electrical Ltd.

Canada

Exhibit 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements (Nos. 333-237147) on Form S-8 of Williams
Industrial Services Group Inc. of our report dated March 27, 2020, relating to the consolidated financial statements of Williams
Industrial Services Group Inc. and subsidiaries, appearing in this Form 10-K of Williams Industrial Services Group Inc. for the year
ended December 31, 2019, which report expresses an unqualified opinion and includes an explanatory paragraph relating to the
adoption of new accounting standard.
/s/ Moss Adams LLP
Dallas, Texas
March 27, 2020

EXHIBIT 31.1

I, Tracy D. Pagliara, certify that:

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

1.

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Williams Industrial Services Group Inc.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading
with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods
presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

5.

(a)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed
under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated
subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is
being prepared;

(b)

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be
designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and
the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles;

(c)

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by
this report based on such evaluation; and

(d)

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over
financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons
performing the equivalent functions):
(a)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and
report financial information; and

(b)

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 27, 2020

By:

/s/ Tracy D. Pagliara
Tracy D. Pagliara
President and Chief Executive Officer

EXHIBIT 31.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Randall R. Lay, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Williams Industrial Services Group Inc.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading
with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods
presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

5.

(a)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed
under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated
subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is
being prepared;

(b)

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be
designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and
the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles;

(c)

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by
this report based on such evaluation; and

(d)

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over
financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons
performing the equivalent functions):
(a)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and
report financial information; and

(b)

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 27, 2020

By:

/s/ Randall R. Lay
Randall R. Lay
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

EXHIBIT 32.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, I, Tracy D. Pagliara, the
President and Chief Executive Officer of Williams Industrial Services Group Inc. (the “Company”), hereby certify, that, to my
knowledge:
1.

The Annual Report on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2019 (the “Report”) of the Company fully
complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2.

The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results
of operations of the Company.

Date: March 27, 2020

By:

/s/ Tracy D. Pagliara
Tracy D. Pagliara
President and Chief Executive Officer
A signed original of this written statement has been provided to the Company and will be retained by the Company and furnished to
the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.

EXHIBIT 32.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, I, Randall R. Lay, the
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Williams Industrial Services Group Inc. (the “Company”), hereby certify, that, to
my knowledge:
1.

The Annual Report on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2019 (the “Report”) of the Company fully
complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2.

The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results
of operations of the Company.

Date: March 27, 2020

By:

/s/ Randall R. Lay
Randall R. Lay
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

